
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To: Chair & Members of the Executive   
 
 
 
Friday 27th October 2023 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

The Arc 
High Street 

Clowne 
S43 4JY 

 
Contact: Alison Bluff 

Telephone: 01246 242528 
Email: alison.bluff@bolsover.gov.uk 

 
 

Dear Councillor 
 
EXECUTIVE 
 
You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of the Executive of the Bolsover 
District Council to be held in the Council Chamber, The Arc, Clowne on Monday 6th 
November 2023 at 10:00 hours.  
 
Register of Members' Interests - Members are reminded that a Member must within 
28 days of becoming aware of any changes to their Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
provide written notification to the Authority's Monitoring Officer. 
 
You will find the contents of the agenda itemised on page 3. 
  
Yours faithfully 
 

 
 
Solicitor to the Council & Monitoring Officer  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

1



 

 
 

Equalities Statement 
 

Bolsover District Council is committed to equalities as an employer and when 
delivering the services it provides to all sections of the community. 

The Council believes that no person should be treated unfairly and is committed to 
eliminating all forms of discrimination, advancing equality, and fostering good 
relations between all groups in society. 
 
 
 

 
Access for All statement 

 
You can request this document or information in another format such as large print 
or language or contact us by: 

 Phone: 01246 242424 

 Email: enquiries@bolsover.gov.uk 

 BSL Video Call: A three-way video call with us and a BSL interpreter. It is 
free to call Bolsover District Council with Sign Solutions, you just need WiFi 
or mobile data to make the video call, or call into one of our Contact Centres.  

 Call with Relay UK - a free phone service provided by BT for anyone who 
has difficulty hearing or speaking. It's a way to have a real-time conversation 
with us by text.  

 Visiting one of our offices at Clowne, Bolsover, Shirebrook and South 
Normanton 

 

2

file:///C:/Users/scotc/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/JPNCTJCX/01246%20242424
mailto:enquiries@bolsover.gov.uk
https://www.relayuk.bt.com/
https://www.bolsover.gov.uk/contact-us


 

 

EXECUTIVE 
AGENDA 

 
Monday 6th November 2023 at 10:00 hours taking place in the Council Chamber, 

 The Arc, Clowne 
 

Item No. 
 

 Page 
No.(s) 

1.   Apologies For Absence 
 

 

2.   Urgent Items of Business 
 

 

 To note any urgent items of business which the Chairman has 
consented to being considered under the provisions of Section 100(B) 
4(b) of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

 

3.   Declarations of Interest 
 

 

 Members should declare the existence and nature of any Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest and Non Statutory Interest as defined by the 
Members’ Code of Conduct in respect of: 
 
a)  any business on the agenda 
b)  any urgent additional items to be considered  
c)  any matters arising out of those items  
and if appropriate, withdraw from the meeting at the relevant time. 
 

 

4.   Minutes 
 

4 - 8 

 To consider the minutes of the last meeting held on 9th October 2023 
 

 

 NON-KEY DECISIONS 
 

 

5.   Budget Monitoring 
 

9 - 32 

 KEY DECISIONS 
 

 

6.   Revised BDC Housing Allocations Policy 
 

33 - 105 

7.   Award three-year mobile phone and data contract, procured via 
NHS London Procurement Partnership framework agreement 
 

106 - 109 

8.   Management of Corporate Debt - Write Off of Outstanding 
Amounts 
 

110 - 114 

3



 

 
 

 
 
 

Bolsover District Council 
 

Meeting of the Executive on 6th November 2023 
 

Appointment of Contractor to Deliver Hyper-Local Net Zero Innovation Programme 
 

Report of the Portfolio Holder for Growth / Economic Development  
 
 

Classification 
 

This report is Public 

Contact Officer  Lisa Fox 
Senior Economic Development Officer 
 

 
PURPOSE/SUMMARY OF REPORT 
 

● To inform Executive of a procurement exercise undertaken to appoint a contractor 
to deliver the Hyper-Local Net Zero Innovation [Business Support] Programme 
(NZIP) outlined in the UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) Investment Plan for 
Bolsover. 

 
● To seek approval to appoint Nottingham Trent University, which is the first-choice 

supplier following evaluation of the tender submissions.  
 
REPORT DETAILS 
 

1. Background 

 
1.1 Bolsover District Council’s UKSPF Investment Plan includes a commitment for 

provision of a Hyper-Local Net Zero Innovation [Business Support] Programme, 
to help develop businesses skills and understanding around Net Zero.  
 

1.2 An Invitation to Tender (ITT) was issued on 4th September 2023 to commission 
a university partner with previous experience in delivering Net Zero innovation 
interventions to work with BDC to deliver the outcomes and objectives of the 
NZIP. The deadline for submission of tenders was 12 noon on Monday 9th 
October 2023 

 

1.3 Two submissions were received in response to the ITT. Both Nottingham Trent 
University and Derby University submitted responses. These were evaluated 
and scored on 13th October to identify the preferred supplier.  

 

1.4 Following completion of the evaluation and scoring exercise, Nottingham Trent 
University scored the highest and, as such, is the first-choice supplier. 

 
 
 

 

4

Agenda Item 2a



 

 
 

2. Details of Proposal or Information 
 

2.1 The council is seeking to appoint an academic partner capable of providing a 
Hyper-Local Net Zero Innovation Programme, the requirements of which 
include:  

 
● A programme of monthly networking events, Net Zero boot camps, 

workshops, and seminars. 
● One-to-one support for businesses to develop and implement 

decarbonisation plans and projects. 
● Knowledge exchange activities between academic institutions and 

businesses to improve innovation and adoption of new technology.  
● Supporting engagement between businesses, industry bodies, other Net 

Zero initiatives and grant funding programmes to support innovation 
projects. 

● Supporting businesses to develop green skills and talent.  
● Providing access to academic research, expertise, labs, and equipment for 

testing new technologies, products and/or services 

2.2  The Invitation to Tender (ITT) was advertised on the procurement portal 
between 4th September and 9th October 2023. Tenders were evaluated on 13th 
October 2023 using the evaluation matrix on a cost, quality and value added 
basis: Cost 30% / Quality 60% / Value Added 10%.  The quality elements 
included: Understanding (10%); Experience (15%); Delivery (15%); Contract 
Management (10%); and Evaluation (10%) 

 
2.3 The evaluation of tenders and results of the scoring matrix identified the preferred 

supplier as Nottingham Trent University. 
 

2.4 The total cost of the proposal received from Nottingham Trent University is 
£224,928. Budget for the NZIP has been allocated from the UK Shared 
Prosperity Fund. The contract will commence 7th November 2023 until 31st 
March 2025.:  

 

  3.   Reasons for Recommendation  
 

3.1 To allow delivery of the UKSPF Hyper-Local Net Zero Innovation Programme to 
commence and prevent any unspent UKSPF monies being returned to 
Government after March 2025. 

 
3.2 Dragonfly Management (Bolsover) Limited will manage the  appointment and 

ongoing contract management of the first-choice supplier, based on the 
evaluation of tender submissions and results of the scoring matrix. This will 
enable the contract to be awarded and the supplier to start delivering against the 
contract. 

 
3.3 The contract will commence 7th November 2023 until 31st March 2025. 

 
4 Alternative Options and Reasons for Rejection 

 
4.1 To deliver the Net Zero Innovation Programme in house, however this would 

result in the need to employ additional staff members. This would also mean a 

5



 

 
 

period of delay in the service provision as it would take time to recruit and 
appoint qualified staff. It is unlikely that the post would be attractive to suitably 
qualified recruits, as it would be a temporary post for less than two years.   

 
4.2 To do nothing and return unspent UKSPF monies to Government.  

 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
That Executive approve the appointment of the preferred supplier and to enter into a 
contract agreement, to be drafted and issued by Legal Services and managed by 
Dragonfly Management (Bolsover) Limited.   
  

Approved by Councillor John Ritchie, Portfolio Holder for Growth  
 

IMPLICATIONS; 
 

Finance and Risk:   Yes☐  No ☒ 

Details: The expenditure will be fully funded from within the Council’s allocation of 
the UK Shared Prosperity Fund. 

On behalf of the Section 151 Officer 
 

Legal (including Data Protection):          Yes☒   No ☐  

Details: The contract is to be awarded in compliance with the Council’s Contract 
Procurement Rules. The Rules require contracts with a value over Key Decision 
levels  to be considered by the Executive. 

On behalf of the Solicitor to the Council 
Environment: 
Please identify (if applicable) how this proposal/report will help the Authority meet its 
carbon neutral target or enhance the environment. 
Details: The procurement contributes to the Economic priorities of reducing our 
carbon footprint whilst supporting and encouraging businesses to do the same. 

 

Staffing:  Yes☐  No ☒   

Details:  There are no staffing implications in relation to this report. 
 

On behalf of the Head of Paid Service 

 
DECISION INFORMATION 
 

Is the decision a Key Decision? 
A Key Decision is an executive decision which has a significant 
impact on two or more District wards, or which results in income or 
expenditure to the Council above the following thresholds:  
 

Revenue - £75,000   ☒  Capital - £150,000  ☐ 

☒ Please indicate which threshold applies 

 

Yes 

 
 

6



 

 
 

 

Is the decision subject to Call-In? 
(Only Key Decisions are subject to Call-In) 
 
The decision is urgent and one that is not subject to call-in.  
The Chair of the Council has been informed of the decision to 
be taken and has agreed that it is not subject to call-in. 
 

No 

 

District Wards Significantly Affected 
 

District wide 
 

Consultation: 

Leader / Deputy Leader ☐   Executive ☐ 

SLT ☐ Relevant Service Manager ☐ 

Members ☐   Public ☐ Other ☐ 

 

No 
 
Details: 
 
 

 

Links to Council Ambition: Customers, Economy, and Environment. 
 

This procurement contributes to the Economic priorities of: Working with partners to 
support enterprise, innovation, jobs, and skills, and; Reducing our carbon footprint 
whilst supporting and encouraging residents and businesses to do the same. 
 

 

DOCUMENT INFORMATION 
 

Appendix 
No 
 

Title 

  

 

Background Papers 

(These are unpublished works which have been relied on to a material extent when 
preparing the report.  They must be listed in the section below.  If the report is going 
to Executive, you must provide copies of the background papers). 

 
 
 
 

 

7



EXECUTIVE  
 

 

Minutes of a meeting of the Executive of the Bolsover District Council held in the Council 
Chamber, The Arc, Clowne, on Monday, 9th October 2023 at 1000 hours.  
 
PRESENT:- 
 
Members:- 

Councillor Steve Fritchley in the Chair 
 
Councillors Mary Dooley, Duncan McGregor, Clive Moesby, Sandra Peake, and John 
Ritchie. 
 
Officers:- Karen Hanson (Chief Executive), Jim Fieldsend (Monitoring Officer),  
Theresa Fletcher (Section 151 Officer), Pam Brown (Service Director Executive, 
Corporate Services and Partnerships), Steve Brunt (Strategic Director of Services), 
Kath Drury (Information, Engagement and Performance Manager) and Alison Bluff 
(Governance). 
 
Also in attendance at the meeting, observing, were Councillors Rowan Clarke, 
Jeanne Raspin and Phil Smith. 

 
 
EX36-23/24.  APOLOGIES 
 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 
 
EX37-23/24.  URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS 
 
There were no urgent items of business to consider. 
 
 
EX38-23/24.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
Minute   Member    Level of Interest 
Number  
 
EX41-23/24  Councillor Steve Fritchley  Other registerable interest due 

to being a Councillor on 
Shirebrook Town Council and a 
Director of Dragonfly 
Development Ltd 
 
 

EX39-23/24.  MINUTES –  11TH SEPTEMBER 2023 
 
Councillor Anne Clarke confirmed that she had been present at the meeting held on 11th 
September 2023, but her name had been omitted from Members present in the Minutes. 
 
Moved by Councillor Duncan McGregor and seconded by Councillor Anne Clarke  
RESOLVED that subject to the inclusion of Councillor Anne Clarke in Members present 

at the meeting, the Minutes of an Executive meeting held on 11th September 
2023 be approved as a correct record. 

8

Agenda Item 4



EXECUTIVE  
 

 

NON-KEY DECISIONS 
 
 
EX40-23/24. AMBITION PLAN TARGETS PERFORMANCE UPATE – APRIL 

TO JUNE 2023 
 
Executive considered a detailed report in relation to the Quarter 1 outturns (April to June 
2023) for the Council’s Ambition targets 2020-2024. 
 
Out of the 31 targets:- 
 

• 20 (65%) were on track 

• 2 (6%) had achieved their outturn for 2022/23 

• 1 (3%) was under review 

• 8 (26%) had achieved their outturns previously. 
 
Broken down by Council Ambition; 
 
Our Customers - Providing excellent and accessible services - 10 targets in total 
 

• 9 targets were on track 

• 1 target was under review CUS07 (relet average time in days for standard voids) 
 

Our Environment - protecting the quality of life for residents and businesses, 
meeting environmental challenges, and enhancing biodiversity - 11 targets in 
total 
 

• 7 targets were on track 

• 4 targets had been achieved previously (ENV 07, ENV 08, ENV 09, ENV 10) 
 
Our Economy - by driving growth, promoting the District and being business and 
visitor friendly - 10 targets in total  
 

• 4 targets were on track 

• 2 had achieved their outturn for 2022/23 (ECO 05 and ECO 06) 

• 4 targets achieved previously (ECO 08, ECO 09, ECO 04, ECO 01) 
 

The Portfolio Holder for Resources noted that CUS 07, Reduce average relet times for 
standard voids (Council properties) to 20 calendar days by March 2021 and maintain 
thereafter, was under review and would be split into different categories for the new 
Ambition Plan 2024-2028.   
 

The Portfolio Holder for Housing referred to CUS.06, Prevent homelessness for more 
than 50% of people who are facing homelessness each year, and noted that 62 out of 
108 approaches made to the Council had been prevented from becoming homeless, 
which equated to a 57% prevention rate, and this was a credit to the Housing service. 
 
The Chief Executive advised the meeting that there was a huge pressure on the 
housing service especially regarding homelessness in relation to Section 21 Notices 
being served by private landlords, and a reduction in council properties.  For Bolsover 
District currently, there were approximately 1800 people on the Housing Register.  With 

9



EXECUTIVE  
 

 

regard to targets for void properties, the Chief Executive noted that these would be split 
into the different categories of empty properties so Members could consider each 
aspect.  Members would be updated as soon as possible as to what these categories 
would be. 
 
With regard to ECO.03 - Working with partners to bring forward employment and 
development opportunities at Coalite and Clowne Garden Village (CGV) strategic sites 
by 2023, the Portfolio Holder for Growth noted the CGV site would be considered later 
in the autumn. 
 
With regard to ECO.07 - Deliver 150 new homes through the Bolsover Homes 
Programme by March 2024, the Portfolio Holder for Growth noted that demolition work 
was due to start at the Woburn Close scheme very soon. 
 
The Portfolio Holder for Housing noted that ENV.11 - Resolve successfully 60% of 
cases following the issuing of a Community Protection Warning by 2024, came under 
the Portfolio for Resources and not Housing. 
 

Moved by Councillor Duncan McGregor and seconded by Councillor John Ritchie 
RESOVLED that quarterly outturns against the Council Ambition 2020-2024 targets be 

noted. 
 
Reason for Recommendations 
 
Out of the 31 Council plan targets, 20 are on track (65%), 2 have achieved their     
annual outturn (6%), 1 is under review (3%) and 8 achieved previously (26%). 
 
This is an information report to keep Members informed of progress against the Council 
Ambition targets noting achievements and any areas of concern. 
 
Alternative Options and Reasons for Rejection 
 
Not applicable to this report as providing an overview of performance against agreed 
targets. 
 
 
Having previously declared his interest in the following item of business, Councillor 
Steve Fritchley left the meeting. 
 
 

Councillor Duncan McGregor in the Chair 
 
 
EX41-23/24.  LEASE OF ROSELAND PARK AND CREMATORIUM 
 
Executive considered a detailed report which provided an update on the partial 
exemption and VAT position of the Council, and the next steps in relation to the 
lease of Roseland Park and Crematorium in line with expert advice provided on the 
VAT partial exemption calculation.   
 
The report sought Member’s approval for the transfer of the Roseland Park land to 
the Council, to enter into an agreement with the Shirebrook Crematorium LLP 

10

http://biisapp.bolsover.gov.uk/tenweb/tenweb.dll?model%3D%7B64335E5B-7935-445F-B7D9-7D9914C3E650%7D%26object%3DO11%3A390%26type%3DOBJPAGE
http://biisapp.bolsover.gov.uk/tenweb/tenweb.dll?model%3D%7B64335E5B-7935-445F-B7D9-7D9914C3E650%7D%26object%3DO11%3A390%26type%3DOBJPAGE


EXECUTIVE  
 

 

(“LLP”) setting how the crematorium will be operated by the LLP  and the 
subsequent lease of the land and crematorium to the LLP. Members were also 
asked to approve the Section 151 Officer’s decision to opt to tax the crematorium. 
 
The Council would be investing £9.2million into the construction of a new build 
crematorium and wake facility, over the next 18-months, with work starting on site in 
September 2023.  The facility would be operated by the Shirebrook Crematorium LLP, 
which would be a partnership between Bolsover District Council and Shirebrook Town 
Council.  
 
The Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer) had previously advised Executive that 
income and expenditure relating to cremations could adversely affect the Council’s 
partial exemption calculation and cost the Council money.  Therefore, this would need 
fully investigating as part of the next stage of the project to ensure any VAT 
consequences relating to the Council’s Section 33 body status were factored into the 
feasibility cost plan before any final decision on borrowing was undertaken. 
 
The Director of Finance had now sought this VAT advice from the Council’s tax 
advisors, PSTAX, which was set out in the report along with the measures needed to 
structure the delivery of the scheme in order to comply with the advice given.   
 
The land where the crematorium was to be built was currently owned by Shirebrook 
Town Council.  In order to complete the lease referred to above, Shirebrook Town 
Council would need to transfer the land to the District Council for nil consideration.  The 
transfer by the Town Council would represent its contribution to the scheme.  The 
transfer would be made subject to the Council entering into an agreement to lease the 
completed crematorium to the LLP. 
 
Moved by Councillor Clive Moesby and seconded by Councillor John Ritchie 
RESOVLED that 1) the Council takes a transfer of the Roseland Park land as shown 

edged red on the plan attached to the report from Shirebrook Town Council for nil 
consideration, 

 
2) the Council grant a lease of Roseland Park and crematorium for a peppercorn 
rent on terms to be agreed by the Council’s Chief Executive, 
 
3) the Council enter into an agreement with the LLP setting out how the LLP will 
operate the crematorium rent on terms to be agreed by the Council’s Chief 
Executive, in consultation with the Director of Finance & Section 151 Officer. 

 
4) the Director of Finance & Section 151 Officer’s decision to opt to tax the 
crematorium, in order to protect the Council’s partial exemption position , be 
approved. 

 
Reason for Recommendations 
 
To ensure the Council’s de minimis partial exemption position is protected, to mitigate 
any potential repayments of VAT to HMRC.  

 
Whilst independent advice is being sought for the LLP’s VAT position, it should be noted 
that the LLP is separate from the Council and subject to separate VAT registration. The 

11



EXECUTIVE  
 

 

LLP would not be a local authority and would not receive the same VAT recovery 
position regarding exempt or non-business activities. 
 
Alternative Options and Reasons for Rejection 
 
The advice provided by PSTAX presents the only option available to the District Council 
to ensure it protects its partial exemption limit.   

 
The recommendations from PSTAX align to the Council’s intended route of establishing 
a joint venture LLP to operate the crematorium, and confirm the steps needed to ensure 
the Council does not breach its de minimis partial exemption limit and trigger a 
repayment to HMRC of potentially £1.7m. 
 
 
 
The meeting concluded at 1015 hours. 

12



 

 
 

Bolsover District Council 
 

Meeting of the Executive on 6th November 2023 
 

Budget Monitoring Report 
 

Report of the Director of Finance and Section 151 Officer 
 

Classification 
 

This report is public. 
 

Contact Officer  Theresa Fletcher 
Director of Finance and Section 151 Officer 
 

 
PURPOSE/SUMMARY OF REPORT 
 
To update Executive on the financial position of the Council following the second 
quarter’s budget monitoring exercise for the General Fund, the Housing Revenue 
Account (HRA), Capital Programme and Treasury Management activity. 
___________________________________________________________________ 

 
REPORT DETAILS 
 
1.1 This report provides the current financial position following the 2023/24 quarter 2 

monitoring exercise. 
 
Transition Information 
 

1.2 As Members are aware and as mentioned in the budget monitoring report for 
quarter 1, a number of Council services transferred into Dragonfly from 1st of 
April 2023. The services are identifiable on appendices 2 and 4. 
 

1.3 The Council will make payments to Dragonfly for the provision of these services 
in line with service level agreements, which are in the final stages of preparation. 
Dragonfly will make payment to the Council for the support services they receive, 
such as legal, payroll, HR, and finance. A service level agreement is also being 
prepared for this.  

 
1.4 Until these agreements are finalised, and the charging mechanisms are put in 

place we are operating with some budgets still on the Council’s financial 
management system as well as being on the financial management system of 
Dragonfly. Budget managers are fully aware of this arrangement, and it has been 
made clear to them that they need to ensure the budgets are only spent once 
during this few months of transition. 
 

1.5 For this reason, the BDC Dragonfly cost centres are showing favourable 
variances of £0.496m general fund and £1.027m HRA. This will all be reconciled 
and finalised as part of the revised budget process. 
 

13

Agenda Item 5



 

General Fund Revenue Account 

 
1.6 The General Fund Revenue Account summary is shown in Appendix 1.  The 

original budget for 2023/24 showed a funding deficit of £0.018m, which is the 
planned use of the General Fund balance.  The current budget shows this has 
reduced to £0.282m surplus after the Council tax increase, quarter 1 vacancy 
savings and other small movements are included.  As savings are identified and 
secured, they are moved into the relevant cost centres within the main General 
Fund Directorates.  Appendix 2 details the net cost of each cost centre within the 
Directorates. The information on the GF services transferred into Dragonfly is 
also provided. 

 
1.7 After quarter 1 the salary budgets were adjusted to remove the £0.123m 

identified in the report. This saving was due to a combination of vacant posts 
taking longer to fill, maternity leave and restructuring changes.  Salary budgets 
are already being reviewed for savings as part of the revised budget process and 
savings will be removed from budgets where possible. 

 
1.8 In order to improve the monitoring and control of Section 106 monies received by 

the Council, the sums due to be utilised in a financial year are now recorded 
within the General Fund directorate budgets with the expenditure recorded 
against these sums.  The amount budgeted to be spent in 2023/24 is £1.377m.  
Of this £0.037m has to be spent by the 22nd of March 2024. Officers are working 
to ensure that this spend is undertaken in line with the S106 legal requirements. 

 
1.9 The overall position at the end of quarter 2 shows that there is an initial 

favourable variance of £1.579m. As mentioned at 1.5, £0.496m is due to the 
Dragonfly transition, with most of the remaining identified variances as a 
consequence of timing, which is usual for this time in the year.  
 

1.10 Work is already under way to establish a revised budget position for 2023/24. 
Finance began working with budget managers during quarter 3. This will amend 
the current budgets to capture additional budget savings and losses and reduce 
spending where it is anticipated there will be minimal impact upon service 
delivery. We will include an increase in the revised budgets for the most up-to-
date position on the Local Government pay award, nearer the cut-off time in 
November. 
 

1.11 We also know it will be necessary to increase budgets for external audit fees by 
£0.069m each year and the cost of the Council’s insurance renewal has 
increased by £0.217m for 2023/24 which will be split across the general fund, 
HRA and Dragonfly. 

 
1.12 Table 1 below shows the latest position of all years in the current MTFP. As a 

Council we made it our strategy to save extra income earnt in years when we 
received more than we estimated, to be able to use it in future years’ when 
income was reduced. This is being held in the National Non-Domestic Rates 
(NNDR) Growth Protection Reserve and the balance at the 31st of March was 
£11.566m. Transfers are made from this reserve to the general fund to replace 
the losses caused by changes in Government funding.   
 

14



 

1.13 Within the current MTFP, estimates of movement to/(from) this reserve are as 
follows: there is a contribution from the reserve to general fund of £0.275m in 
2023/24, £2.829m in 2025/26 and £2.971m in 2026/27. In 2024/25 there is a 
transfer into the reserve from general fund of £0.354m. This reserve is not a 
sustainable source of income for the general fund. 
 

Table 1 2023/24 
Budget 

£000 

2024/25 
Budget 

£000 

2025/26 
Budget 

£000 

2026/27 
Budget 

£000 

Net Cost of Services 15,815 12,281 12,400 12,745 

Net debt charges + 
investment interest 

(282) (21) 85 61 

Net t/f to/(from) reserves + 
balances 

(1,962) 1,321 270 344 

Net t/f to/(from) NNDR 
Growth Protection 
Reserve 

(1,184) 354 (2,829) (2,971) 

Parish precept 3,968 3,968 3,968 3,968 

Funding from council tax, 
business rates and 
government grants 

(16,337) (17,903) (13,894) (14,147) 

Use of GF balance 18 0 0 0 

 
1.14 Once work on revised budgets has been completed, the revised position will be 

presented to Members in November and December.  The work on the MTFP 
update and the new year which also began in quarter 3 will be presented to 
Members in January and February. 

 

Government funding update 

 
1.15 As discussed in detail in the Medium-Term Financial Strategy approved at 

Council on the 1st of August 2023, there remains a great deal of uncertainty 
regarding the future funding of Local Government. Delays to Government 
Reviews and a series of roll-over Spending Reviews for the last few years, mean 
predicting the likely outcome of the Spending Review for 2024/25 is exceedingly 
difficult.   
 

1.16 The only prediction being made by external advisors with any certainty around 
the 2024/25 Spending Review, is that it will be another 1-year settlement. A 
possible general election in Spring 2024, means there are unlikely to be any 
changes made this year.  Any changes made as a result of an election, could not 
be implemented by Government until 2026/27 at the earliest. 
 

1.17 The medium-term financial plan will be updated as far as possible to include all 
known implications from the new Spending Review when it is received. No 

15



 

mention has been made of the delayed Fair Funding Review, so our assumption 
remains that these have all been pushed back to 2026/27. 
 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 

 
1.18 The Housing Revenue Account summary for the second quarter of 2023/24 is set 

out in Appendix 3 to this report.  The original budget for 2023/24 showed a 
balanced budget with neither a surplus nor a deficit. The current budget shows 
this to still be the case. 
 

1.19 Appendix 4 details the net cost of each cost centre within the HRA and gives 
some details for the larger variances. The information on the HRA services 
transferred into Dragonfly Developments is also provided and again Members 
need to be mindful of the variances caused by the Dragonfly transition period. 

 
1.20 The overall position at the end of quarter 2 shows that there is an initial 

favourable variance of £1.054m. A significant part of this (£1.027m) is due to the 
Dragonfly transition mentioned above. The only significant issue to report 
regarding the overall position for the HRA at the end of the second quarter is as 
discussed at quarter 1, the reduction in income caused by voids being at a level 
higher than budgeted for. The budget included an estimate of 3% for the 
reduction in income but the position at the end of quarter 2 is that voids have 
reduced slightly from 3.64% at quarter 1 to 3.56% at the end of quarter 2. This 
means the cost of the reduction in income is currently £0.174m higher than the 
estimate. 
 

1.21 It is not yet known whether there will be any continuation of the 2023/24 rent rise 
cap for the rent setting process for 2024/25. As soon as any information is 
received, it will be reported to Members. 

 

Capital Programme 

 

Capital Expenditure 
1.22 The capital programme summary for the second quarter of 2023/24 is provided in 

Appendix 5 to this report.  
 

1.23 In headline terms, the capital programme profiled budget for quarter 2 is 
£18.178m and the actual spend and known commitments total £8.912m, which is 
£9.266m behind the planned spend position.  The main areas to highlight are 
listed below: 

  
1. The Shirebrook Crematorium is under spent for the quarter by 

£3.6m. This is preliminary work being undertaken that can’t be 
profiled evenly. 

2. Dragonfly loan and acquisition of share capital are showing as 
£0.759m under spent.  This scheme is now being reconsidered. 

3. The GF Vehicle Replacements are showing as over spent for the 
quarter £0.796m but this is within the year’s budget and the 
scheme can’t be quarterly profiled. 

4. The new build HRA properties are together £4.1m under spent for 
the quarter due to the phasing of the individual schemes.  

16



 

5. The HRA Vehicle Replacements appear over spent by £0.473m but 
again the scheme can’t be quarterly profiled, and this is within the 
year’s budget. 

6. The public sector housing scheme – Safe & warm is currently 
showing £1.1m under spent. 
 

1.24 There are no significant financial issues to report regarding capital expenditure at 
the end of the second quarter.   
 
Capital Resources 

1.25 HRA – The Council has sufficient capital resources in place to finance the HRA 
actual expenditure and commitments at the end of the second quarter. 

 
General Fund – The financing of the General Fund part of the capital programme 
is in line with the approved financing arrangements. 

 

Treasury Management 

 
1.26 The treasury management function covers the borrowing and investment of 

Council money.  This includes both the management of the Council’s day to day 
cash balances and the management of its long-term debt.  All transactions are 
conducted in accordance with the Council’s approved strategy and the CIPFA 
Code of Practice.  Good treasury management plays an important role in the 
sound financial management of the Council’s resources. 

 
1.27 The Council approved the 2023/24 Treasury Management Strategy at its meeting 

in February 2023.  Appendix 6 identifies the Treasury Management activity 
undertaken during the second quarter of 2023/24 and demonstrates that this is in 
line with the plans agreed as part of the strategy. The income received from 
investments is currently considerably higher than budgeted.  This is due to the 
increases in the Bank base rate we have seen since the budget was set in 
December.  This budget will be reviewed as part of the revised budget process 
as the 6-month actuals almost match the budget for the whole year. 
 

1.28 We have used a number of Money Market Funds (MMF’s) during the first 6 
months to place the cash that we don’t have an immediate need to use.  MMF’s 
are currently offering better interest rates than banks although we are still 
achieving below bank base rate on our investments.  Careful monitoring of our 
cash balances is being undertaken on a daily basis and we are looking where we 
could put investments out for a longer period in order to obtain better rates.  A full 
assessment of this is being done to update the revised budgets. 
 

2 Reasons for Recommendation  
 
2.1 The report summarises the financial position of the Council following the second 

quarter’s budget monitoring exercise for the General Fund, the Housing Revenue 
Account, Capital Programme and Treasury Management activity. 

 
2.2 The Medium-Term Financial Strategy approved in July 2023 stated that it is the 

Council’s intention to monitor the budgets of the services transferred into 
Dragonfly Developments as part of the budget monitoring process. 

 

17



 

3 Alternative Options and Reasons for Rejection 
 
3.1 The Budget Monitoring report for 2023/24 is primarily a factual report which 

details progress against previously approved budgets.  Accordingly, there are no 
alternative options to consider. 

 
RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 

1 That Executive notes the monitoring position of the General Fund at the end of 
the second quarter as detailed on Appendix 1 (A net favourable variance of 
£1.579m against the profiled budget) and the key issues highlighted within this 
report.  
 

2 That Executive notes the position on the Housing Revenue Account (HRA), the 
Capital Programme and Treasury Management at the end of the second 
quarter (Appendices 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6). 
 

Approved by Councillor Clive Moesby, Portfolio Holder for Resources  
 

IMPLICATIONS. 
 

Finance and Risk:   Yes☐          No ☒  

Details:  
Financial implications are covered throughout this report. 
 
The issue of Financial Risk is covered throughout the report.  In addition, however, it 
should be noted that the risk of not achieving a balanced budget is outlined as a key 
risk within the Council’s Strategic Risk Register.  While officers are of the view that 
these risks are being appropriately managed it needs to be recognised that there 
may be pressures on all of the Council’s main budgets as these have been or are 
being reduced to minimum levels.  These will need to be managed carefully during 
the course of this financial year if we are to protect the existing financial balances. 

 
On behalf of the Section 151 Officer 

 

Legal (including Data Protection):          Yes☐   No ☒  

Details:  

There are no legal or data protection issues arising directly from this report. 

 

On behalf of the Solicitor to the Council 

Environment: 
Please identify (if applicable) how this proposal/report will help the Authority meet its 
carbon neutral target or enhance the environment. 
Details:  
Not applicable to this report. 

 

Staffing:  Yes☐  No ☒   

Details: 
There are no human resource issues arising directly out of this report. 

On behalf of the Head of Paid Service 

18



 

DECISION INFORMATION 
 

Is the decision a Key Decision? 
A Key Decision is an executive decision which has a 
significant impact on two or more District wards, or which 
results in income or expenditure to the Council above the 
following thresholds:  
 

Revenue - £75,000   ☐  Capital - £150,000  ☐ 

☒ Please indicate which threshold applies. 

 

No 

Is the decision subject to Call-In? 
(Only Key Decisions are subject to Call-In)  

No 
 

 

District Wards Significantly Affected 
 

All 
 
 

Consultation: 

Leader / Deputy Leader ☐   Executive ☐ 

SLT ☐ Relevant Service Manager ☐ 

Members ☐   Public ☐ Other ☐ 

 

Details: 
 
Portfolio Holder for 
Resources 

 

Links to Council Ambition: Customers, Economy, and Environment. 
 

  

 

DOCUMENT INFORMATION 
 

Appendix 
No 
 

Title 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 

General Fund Summary 
General Fund Detail 
HRA Summary 
HRA Detail 
Capital Programme 
Treasury Management Update 

 

Background Papers 

(These are unpublished works which have been relied on to a material extent when 
preparing the report.  They must be listed in the section below.  If the report is going 
to Executive, you must provide copies of the background papers). 

None 
 

19



GENERAL FUND SUMMARY - 2023/24

Per Council 

1/2/23
Per FMS

Original Current 6 months 6 months 6 months

Budget Budget Budget Actuals Variance

£ £ £ £ £

Community Services Directorate 8,475,089 9,296,841 4,648,421 4,474,743 (173,678)

Corporate Resources Directorate 2,033,925 2,783,150 1,391,575 1,167,735 (223,840)

Dragonfly Services 2,029,569 2,358,424 1,179,212 683,504 (495,708)

S106 due in year

Community Services Directorate 5,976 1,376,553 688,277 2,791 (685,486)

Net Cost of Services 12,544,559 15,814,968 7,907,484 6,328,773 (1,578,711)

Debt Charges 635,134 635,134 317,567 317,567 0

Investment Interest (917,432) (917,432) (458,716) (458,716) 0

Contributions to Reserves 1,661,746 1,661,746 830,873 830,873 0

Contributions from Earmarked 

Reserves
(255,033) (702,319) (351,160) (351,160) 0

Contribution (from)/to NNDR Growth 

Protection Reserve
(274,591) (1,183,708) (591,854) (591,854) 0

Contribution (from)/to S106 Holding 

A/cs and Miscellaneous Holding A/cs
(196,598) (1,802,777) (901,389) (901,389) 0

Contribution from Grant A/cs 0 (1,418,799) (709,400) (709,400) 0

Parish Precepts 3,645,990 3,968,503 1,984,252 1,984,252 0

Total Spending Requirement 16,843,775 16,055,316 8,027,658 6,448,947 (1,578,711)

Revenue Support Grant (1,473,016) (1,473,016) (736,508) (736,508) 0

Business Rate Retention (6,549,986) (5,610,561) (2,805,281) (2,805,281) 0

New Homes Bonus Grant (677,892) (677,892) (338,946) (338,946) 0

2022/23 Services Grant (113,676) (113,676) (56,838) (56,838) 0

Funding Guarantee Grant (40,837) (40,837) (20,419) (20,419) 0

BDC Council Tax Requirement (4,380,450) (4,511,361) (2,255,681) (2,255,681) 0

Council Tax spread of 20/21 Covid 

loss
56,416 26,108 13,054 13,054 0

Parish Council, Council Tax 

Requirement
(3,645,990) (3,968,503) (1,984,252) (1,984,252) 0

COVID-19 related support funded by 

grant
0 32,235 16,118 16,118 0

Funding Requirement (16,825,431) (16,337,503) (8,168,752) (8,168,752) 0

Funding gap/(surplus) 18,344 (282,187) (141,094) (1,719,804) (1,578,711)

27/10/23

20

Appendix 1



General Fund Detail - 2023/24

General Fund Detail - 2023/24

Full Years 6 months 6 months 6 months

List of net budgets per cost centre per directorate Budget Budget Actuals Variance

£ £ £ £ Comments

Comm S G007 Community Safety - Crime Reduction 72,148 36,074 32,504 (3,570)

Comm S G008 Community Safety Grant 0 0 3,381 3,381

Comm S G010 Neighbourhood Management 74,026 37,013 35,395 (1,618)

Comm S G013 Community Action Network 363,649 181,825 149,041 (32,784)

Income received in Q1 for the year showing £14k over 

achieved. Salaries £12k under spent due to sickness being 

paid at 1/2 pay. Reserves £4k under spent - not spent in 

quarters. Plus other small under/over spends.

Comm S G017 Private Sector Housing Renewal 89,485 44,743 40,517 (4,226)

Comm S G018 Environmental Health Covid Team 24,896 12,448 150 (12,298) Recharge from NE 

Comm S G020 Public Health (70,000) (35,000) 56,000 91,000
£56k income accrual still outstanding from CBC. 23/24 income 

to be received later in the year.

Comm S G021 Pollution Reduction 245,679 122,840 125,099 2,259

Comm S G022 Env Health - Health + Safety 0 0 (230) (230)

Comm S G023 Pest Control 36,278 18,139 15,161 (2,978)

Comm S G024 Street Cleansing 406,533 203,267 172,717 (30,550)

Staffing costs showing £30k under spent for the period. 

Equipment £5k over spent. Recharge from NE £6k under 

spent for sweepers - will not be recharged until the end of year

Comm S G025 Food, Health & Safety 132,740 66,370 62,910 (3,460)

Comm S G026 Animal Welfare 103,051 51,526 55,888 4,362

Comm S G027 Emergency Planning 17,392 8,696 16,392 7,696

Comm S G028 Domestic Waste Collection 1,221,190 610,595 620,388 9,793

Comm S G030 Street Trading 0 0

Comm S G031 S106 - Biodiversity 8,030 4,015 0 (4,015)

Comm S G032 Grounds Maintenance 993,334 496,667 467,378 (29,289)

Staffing costs showing £38k under spent for the 1/4. 

Equipment £17k over for the period. - running high due to 

large purchases for the year. Agency income from DCC 

showing £25k over achieved for the period. Grass cutting 

showing £16k under achieved.

Comm S G033 Vehicle Fleet 1,098,477 549,239 653,753 104,515

Staff costs £17k under spent for period. Petrol & diesel 

showing £50k over for the period due to price increases and 

bulk purchase. Road fund licences £4k over but can't profile 

evenly. Hired + contract £36k over spent. Equipment, tools + 

materials £13k over spent. Recharge from NE £17k over spent 

for period. MOT income under achieved by £10k.

27/10/23

21

A
ppendix 2



General Fund Detail - 2023/24

Full Years 6 months 6 months 6 months

List of net budgets per cost centre per directorate Budget Budget Actuals Variance

£ £ £ £ Comments

Comm S G036 Environmental Health Mgmt & Admin 290,627 145,314 116,928 (28,385) Recharge from NE 

Comm S G037 BDC Air Quality No2 375,000 187,500 (11,710) (199,210) External funding not yet paid over to NE.

Comm S G??? Director of Community Services 0 22,224 22,224 Budget to be included at revised

Comm S G046 Homelessness 232,479 116,240 (53,012) (169,251)

Staffing costs underspent £40k due to vacancies. Housing 

Options Manager now recruited to but not starting until 

30/10/23. Grant funding received in advance £142k. 

Homelessness prevention £10k over spent and H+C £5k over 

spent for current period.

Comm S G047 Household Support Fund 0 0 29,672 29,672
Grant funded - can't be 1/4ly profiled as expenditure not being 

spent in quarters.

Comm S G048 Town Centre Housing (10,600) (5,300) 0 5,300

Comm S G049 Temporary Accommodation Officer 27,501 13,751 (16,983) (30,734)
Grant funded - can't be 1/4ly profiled as expenditure not being 

spent in quarters.

Comm S G053 Licensing 48,597 24,299 29,441 5,142

Comm S G056 Land Charges 20,653 10,327 15,571 5,244

Comm S G059 Neighbourhood Planning Referendum 4,750 2,375 6,838 4,463

Comm S G061 Bolsover Wellness Programme 64,884 32,442 33,975 1,533

Comm S G062 Extreme Wheels 4,223 2,112 42,472 40,361

Staffing costs £25k over spent for the period - budget for a 

new post to be added in at revised budget time per business 

case (Jan 23) . Fees and charges £16k under achieved - 

income is seasonal and cannot be profiled.

Comm S G064 Bolsover Sport 152,762 76,381 75,107 (1,274)

Comm S G065 Parks, Playgrounds & Open Spaces 45,192 22,596 30,573 7,977

Comm S G067 Shirebrook TC Regeneration 40,000 20,000 15,059 (4,941)

Comm S G068 Biodiversity NG + LNR Work 65,131 32,566 0 (32,566)
Combination of reserve + grant budgets which are not spent in 

equal quarters.

Comm S G069 Arts Projects 56,532 28,266 23,860 (4,406)

Comm S G070 Outdoor Sports & Recreation Facilities 44,756 22,378 12,779 (9,599)

Comm S G071 New Creswell Leisure Centre - capital work 0 0 158,836 158,836 To be fully recharged to the EWCPC

Comm S G072 Leisure Services Mgmt & Admin 290,609 145,305 118,836 (26,468)

PV rent + rates charged for the year showing over spent by 

£4k for the period. Marketing costs £7k under spent and 

contributions to other authorities under spent by £20k as these 

are paid out in full later in the year.

Comm S G073 Planning Policy 261,989 130,995 91,683 (39,311)

Staffing costs under spent by £17k due to vacancies. 

Professional & consultancy fees £6k under spent for the 

period. £20k Neighbourhood Planning Grant received, not yet 

allocated.

27/10/23

22



General Fund Detail - 2023/24

Full Years 6 months 6 months 6 months

List of net budgets per cost centre per directorate Budget Budget Actuals Variance

£ £ £ £ Comments

Comm S G074 Planning Development Control 99,858 49,929 28,545 (21,384)

Advertising showing £16k over spent due to call-off order 

being raised for the year. Planning fee income over achieved 

by £30k. Plus other small over/under spends.

Comm S G076 Planning Enforcement 99,557 49,779 42,854 (6,925)

Comm S G079 Senior Urban Design Officer 62,013 31,007 19,359 (11,648)
Staffing costs under spent by £12k due to postholder starting 

in June + pay award not yet agreed

Comm S G097 Groundwork & Drainage Operations 101,160 50,580 32,887 (17,693) Staffing costs under spent by £17k due to vacancies.

Comm S G106 Housing Anti Social Behaviour 153,945 76,973 69,690 (7,282)

Comm S G112 Creswell Health + Wellbeing Centre 0 0 85,280 85,280
Variances due to Creswell Health + Wellbeing centre opening 

in Q1 fully recharged to EWCPC

Comm S G113 Parenting Practitioner 43,689 21,845 20,057 (1,787)

Comm S G123 Riverside Depot 294,958 147,479 139,846 (7,633)

Comm S G124 Street Servs Mgmt & Admin 77,431 38,716 29,098 (9,617)

Comm S G125 S106 Percent for Art 35,104 17,552 0 (17,552)
Expenditure not spent in 1/4 plus extra income received from 

developers.

Comm S G126 S106 Formal and Informal Recreation 272,963 136,482 34,657 (101,825)
Expenditure not spent in 1/4 plus extra income received from 

developers.

Comm S G131 Bolsover Community Woodlands Project 5,852 2,926 40,015 37,089
External funded - expenditure will be reclaimed from the 

Woodland Trust.

Comm S G132 Planning Conservation 53,061 26,531 24,066 (2,465)

Comm S G135 Domestic Violence Worker 50,149 25,075 24,138 (937)

Comm S G139 Proptech Engagement Fund 308,204 154,102 303,125 149,023
External funding received in advance (in a previous year) and 

expenditure not being spent in quarters.

Comm S G142 Community Safety - CCTV 2,000 1,000 1,476 476

Comm S G143 Housing Strategy 45,631 22,816 1,338 (21,478)
Now 100% Bolsover. Recruitment process complete. Post 

filled from 02/10/23

Comm S G144 Enabling (Housing) 42,266 21,133 102 (21,031)
Now 100% Bolsover. Recruitment process complete. Post 

filled from 07/08/23

Comm S G146 Pleasley Vale Outdoor Activity Centre 57,407 28,704 40,060 11,357

Staffing costs £2k over spent. Electricity £3k under spent due 

to recharge from PV not yet received. Income currently 

showing £10k under achieved.

Comm S G148 Commercial Waste (162,600) (81,300) (387,415) (306,115)
Income over achieved by £39k. Waste disposal cost awaiting 

invoices for Q1 + Q2 23/24 £84k.

Comm S G149 Recycling 358,979 179,490 311,350 131,861

Staffing costs under spent by £63k. Equipment under spent by 

£13k. No invoices received for hired and contract £27k.  

Income credits not raised £216k.

27/10/23

23



General Fund Detail - 2023/24

Full Years 6 months 6 months 6 months

List of net budgets per cost centre per directorate Budget Budget Actuals Variance

£ £ £ £ Comments

Comm S G153 Housing Advice 15,734 7,867 6,822 (1,045)

Comm S G170 S106 Outdoor Sports 322,099 161,050 (120,958) (282,008)
Income received from developer and expenditure not yet 

incurred, can't be 1/4ly profiled.

Comm S G172 S106 - Affordable Housing 1,116 558 1,116 558

Comm S G176 Affordable Warmth 23,339 11,670 8,386 (3,283)

Comm S G179 School Sports Programme 2,020 1,010 (4,302) (5,312)

Comm S G181 STEP 0 0 550 550

Comm S G182 Community Outreach Programmes 0 0 (6,328) (6,328)

Comm S G183 Holiday Activity + Food (HAF) programme 0 0 (5,879) (5,879)

Comm S G198 Assistant Director of Housing (GF) 38,235 19,118 18,100 (1,017)

Comm S G199 Assistant Director of Street Scene 95,853 47,927 26,562 (21,365) Vacancy to be adjusted at revised.

Comm S G207 Cycling 0 0 (234) (234)

Comm S G226 S106 - Highways 569,000 284,500 0 (284,500) Expenditure not yet incurred, can't be 1/4ly profiled.

Comm S G227 S106 - Public Health 168,241 84,121 0 (84,121) Expenditure not yet incurred. Can't be 1/4ly profiled.

Comm S G228 Go Active Clowne Leisure  Centre 494,104 247,052 114,565 (132,487)

Staffing costs £4k under spent. Business rates and utilities 

showing £27k under spent due to timing of payments. Catering 

provisions £17k. Equipment provisions showing £7k over 

spent due to bulk purchases. H+C services showing £14k over 

spent due to some billing periods covering the full year such 

as trade waste charge. Total income £158k over achieved for 

the 1/4 - £14k of this if to be transferred to G061 for the 

Wellness Hub memberships. 

Comm S G229 Housing Standards 0 0 (496) (496)

Comm S G238 HR Health + Safety 105,033 52,517 56,652 4,135

Comm S G239 Housing + Comm Safety Fixed Penalty Acc 5,000 2,500 4,315 1,815

Comm S G245 Creswell Health + Wellbeing Centre- Capital 0 0 269,542 269,542 To be fully recharged to EWCPC.

Total for Community Services Directorate 10,673,394 5,336,697 4,477,534 (859,163)

Corp R G001 Audit Services 134,378 67,189 134,378 67,189 Budget committed for the full year (call-off order).

Corp R G002 I.C.T. 1,120,654 560,327 608,832 48,505

Software main/rental paid for full year showing £37k over 

spent. Business software contracts paid for full year showing 

£78k over spent. Hired + contract £12k under spent. 

Recharges from NE showing £36k under spent. Reserve 

budgets showing £9k under spent as not spent in quarters. 

Various other invoices not yet paid.

27/10/23

24



General Fund Detail - 2023/24

Full Years 6 months 6 months 6 months

List of net budgets per cost centre per directorate Budget Budget Actuals Variance

£ £ £ £ Comments

Corp R G003 Communications, Marketing + Design 318,742 159,371 136,374 (22,997)

Staffing costs under spent £14k due to vacancy. Reserve 

expenditure £4k under spent as not spent in quarters. 

Equipment £4k under spent. Plus other small under/over 

spends.

Corp R G006 Partnership, Strategy & Policy 503,103 251,552 226,093 (25,458)

Staffing costs £10k under spent due to a vacancy. Grants to 

vol. orgs. Showing £23k under spent as they are not issued in 

quarters. Project management income not received until year 

end showing £6k under achieved. Subscriptions paid for the 

year £2k over spent 

Corp R G011 Director of Leader's Executive Team 94,853 47,427 51,525 4,099

Corp R G012 Community Champions 9,755 4,878 10,243 5,365

Corp R G014 Customer Contact Service 882,920 441,460 401,552 (39,908)
Staffing related costs are £39k under spent due to vacancies 

and other small under/over spends.

Corp R G015 Customer Service + Improvement 148,693 74,347 78,660 4,314

Corp R G016 Skills Audit 26,733 13,367 100 (13,267) Reserve funding, not being spent in quarters.

Corp R G019 Kickstart 0 0 0 0

Corp R G038 Concessionary Fares & TV Licenses (11,603) (5,802) (381) 5,421

Corp R G039 Children and YP Emotional Well-being 50,000 25,000 50,000 25,000
External funding received in advance and expenditure not 

being spent in quarters.

Corp R G040 Corporate Management 227,667 113,834 67,661 (46,173) Q1 + Q2 Audit fee from Mazars not yet invoiced.

Corp R G041 Non Distributed Costs 278,371 139,186 180,048 40,863
September superann. payment £80k not payable until 

October. Added years committed for full year showing £89k.

Corp R G043 Chief Executive Officer 173,519 86,760 87,348 589

Corp R G044 Financial Services 390,968 195,484 196,010 526

Corp R G052 Human Resources 217,973 108,987 128,922 19,936

Salaries £5k over spent due to restructure and training £18k 

over spent due to higher than anticipated Q1+Q2 spend. Plus 

other small over/under spends.

Corp R G054 Electoral Registration 184,909 92,455 59,253 (33,202)

Staffing costs £22k u/spent due to vacancies - now filled. 

Revenue grant received in advance showing £30k over 

achieved and software maint. paid for the year showing £9k 

o/spent. Plus other small over/under spends.

Corp R G055 Democratic Representation & Management 536,556 268,278 259,270 (9,008)

Corp R G057 District Council Elections 53,000 26,500 78,344 51,844 Various overspends due to election taking place in Q1.

Corp R G058 Democratic Services 231,545 115,773 94,682 (21,091)
Salaries under spent £26k due to vacancies and invoices paid 

in advance £11k plus other small over/under spends

27/10/23

25



General Fund Detail - 2023/24

Full Years 6 months 6 months 6 months

List of net budgets per cost centre per directorate Budget Budget Actuals Variance

£ £ £ £ Comments

Corp R G060 Legal Services 412,834 206,417 165,276 (41,142)

Staffing £17k under spent due to vacancies now filled and 

subscriptions £6k over spent due to annual subscription paid 

in Q1. Reserves £10k underspent. Income over achieved £24k 

due to unanticipated income from solicitors.

Corp R G086 Alliance 5,250 2,625 3,584 959

Corp R G100 Benefits 425,723 212,862 72,319 (140,542)

Staffing costs £16k u/spent. £158k income received in 

advance for the year.  Software maintenance invoices paid for 

full year £39k.

Corp R G103 Council Tax / NNDR 449,408 224,704 315,821 91,117

Fees + charges income not transferred until year end showing 

£74k under up to Q2. Invoices paid in advance for the year 

£17k.

Corp R G105 Council Tax Energy Rebate 114,159 57,080 57,080 1

Corp R G107 EBSS Alternative Funding 313,840 156,920 19,510 (137,410) External grant funding that has not yet been spent.

Corp R G111 Shared Procurement 54,452 27,226 44,355 17,129
Recharge to Gedling & Amber Valley for Q1 & Q2 to be 

carried out in October - £20k 

Corp R G116 Parish Council Elections 0 0 91,283 91,283
Expenditure incurred in relation to elections held in May. 

Parish Council's to be recharged.

Corp R G117 Payroll 132,799 66,400 48,025 (18,374)
Staffing £18k underspent due to restructure and other small 

under and over spends.

Corp R G118 Union Convenor 30,154 15,077 10,937 (4,140)

Corp R G129 Bolsover Apprenticeship Programme 0 0 0 0

Corp R G155 Customer Services 35,048 17,524 11,134 (6,390)

Corp R G157 Controlling Migration Fund 14,621 7,311 820 (6,490)

Corp R G161 Rent Rebates (38,490) (19,245) (19,245) 0

Corp R G162 Rent Allowances 16,019 8,010 8,010 1

Corp R G164 Support Recharges (5,202,089) (2,601,045) (2,601,045) (0)

Corp R G168 Multifunctional Printers 37,600 18,800 25,641 6,841

Corp R G191 Bolsover Community Lottery 0 0 (3,516) (3,516)

Corp R G192 Scrutiny 26,334 13,167 8,513 (4,654)

Corp R G195 Director of Governance + Monitoring Officer 102,474 51,237 55,347 4,110

Corp R G197 Director of Finance + Section 151 Officer 102,022 51,011 55,154 4,143

Corp R G211 UK Shared Prosperity Fund 51,096 25,548 38,782 13,234
External funding received in advance and expenditure not 

being spent in quarters.

27/10/23

26



General Fund Detail - 2023/24

Full Years 6 months 6 months 6 months

List of net budgets per cost centre per directorate Budget Budget Actuals Variance

£ £ £ £ Comments

Corp R G216 Raising Aspirations 7,500 3,750 (54,000) (57,750)
External funding received in advance and expenditure not 

being spent in quarters.

Corp R G218 I - Venture/Namibia Bound 7,915 3,958 12,813 8,855

Corp R G220 Locality Funding (1,269) (635) (68,632) (67,998)
External funding received in advance and expenditure not 

being spent in quarters.

Corp R G241 Community Rail 88,096 44,048 (5,303) (49,351)
External funding received in advance and expenditure not 

being spent in quarters.

Corp R G247 Culture Arts Corridor 3,000 1,500 2,522 1,022

Corp R G248 This Girls Code 0 0 2,274 2,274

Corp R G249 Cycle + Explore 6,918 3,459 0 (3,459)

Corp R G251 Youth Based Intervention Programme 15,000 7,500 1,360 (6,140)

Corp R G252 Bolsover Community Grants 0 0 20,000 20,000
Grant funded - can't be 1/4ly profiled as expenditure not being 

spent in quarters.

Total for Corporate Resources Directorate 2,783,150 1,391,575 1,167,736 (223,839)

D/Fly G077 LGA Housing Advisers Programme (HAP) 25,000 12,500 3,123 (9,377)

D/Fly G078 LGA Net Zero Innovation Programme (NZIP) 30,172 15,086 10,675 (4,411)

D/Fly G080 Engineering Services (ESRM) 97,936 48,968 79,155 30,187

D/Fly G082 Tourism Promotion + Development 55,230 27,615 11,352 (16,263)

D/Fly G083 Building Control Consortium 55,000 27,500 0 (27,500) Spend now on Dragonfly

D/Fly G085 Economic Development 49,854 24,927 18,614 (6,313)

D/Fly G088 Derbyshire Economic Partnership 15,000 7,500 0 (7,500)

D/Fly G089 Premises Development (5,048) (2,524) (29,861) (27,337) Spend now on Dragonfly

D/Fly G090 Pleasley Vale Mills (110,549) (55,275) (172,939) (117,664) Spend now on Dragonfly

D/Fly G092 Pleasley Vale Electricity Trading (40,000) (20,000) 1,355 21,355 Timing issue - invoices to tenants for Sep not yet raised

D/Fly G095 Estates + Property 612,458 306,229 187,611 (118,618) Spend now on Dragonfly

D/Fly G096 Building Cleaning (General) 115,376 57,688 42,675 (15,013) Spend now on Dragonfly

D/Fly G099 Catering 500 250 199 (51)

D/Fly G109 Chief Executive Officer - Dragonfly 87,090 43,545 59,554 16,009
This budget is only for 6 months as now part of Dragonfly so 

profile budget is incorrect and actuals are within total budget.

27/10/23

27



General Fund Detail - 2023/24

Full Years 6 months 6 months 6 months

List of net budgets per cost centre per directorate Budget Budget Actuals Variance

£ £ £ £ Comments

D/Fly G110 Director of Development - Dragonfly 53,019 26,510 35,405 8,896
This budget is only for 6 months as now part of Dragonfly so 

profile budget is incorrect and actuals are within total budget.

D/Fly G114 Strategic Investment Fund 105,256 52,628 5,256 (47,372)
Grant funded - can't be 1/4ly profiled as expenditure not being 

spent in quarters.

D/Fly G133 The Tangent Business Hub 16,096 8,048 (31,007) (39,055) Spend now on Dragonfly

D/Fly G138 Bolsover TC Regeneration Scheme 16,029 8,015 1,466 (6,548)

D/Fly G151 Street Lighting 108,880 54,440 35,679 (18,761) Spend now on Dragonfly

D/Fly G156 The Arc 393,863 196,932 143,281 (53,650) Spend now on Dragonfly

D/Fly G167 Facilities Management 16,923 8,462 900 (7,562)

D/Fly G169 Closed Churchyards 10,000 5,000 528 (4,472)

D/Fly G188 Cotton Street Contact Centre 42,020 21,010 17,096 (3,914)

D/Fly G193 Economic Development Management + Admin 490,053 245,027 145,004 (100,023) Spend now on Dragonfly

D/Fly G200 Director of Construction - Dragonfly 10,491 5,246 3,868 (1,378)

D/Fly G209 Tourism + Culture 3,225 1,613 10,612 8,999

D/Fly G212 Net Zero Hyper Innovation Programme 57,509 28,755 24,687 (4,068)

D/Fly G213 Small Business Support Scheme 0 0 45,000 45,000
Grant funded - can't be 1/4ly profiled as expenditure not being 

spent in quarters.

D/Fly G222 Visitor Economy Business Support 17,005 8,503 34,215 25,713
Grant funded - can't be 1/4ly profiled as expenditure not being 

spent in quarters.

D/Fly G246 Business Grants Growth Scheme 30,036 15,018 0 (15,018)
Grant funded - can't be 1/4ly profiled as expenditure not being 

spent in quarters.

Total for Dragonfly Services 2,358,424 1,179,212 683,504 (495,708)

Total Net Cost of BDC Services 15,814,968 7,907,484 6,328,774 (1,578,711)

27/10/23

28



HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT SUMMARY - 2023/24

Per Council 

1/2/23
Per FMS

Original Current 6 months 6 months 6 months

Budget Budget Budget Actuals Variance

£ £ £ £ £

Expenditure

Repairs and Maintenance 6,139,525 6,089,971     3,044,986    2,158,909     (886,076)     

Director of Property + Construction 48,744 48,744          24,372         33,789          9,417           

Rents, Rates, Taxes + Other Charges 225,802 225,802        112,901       33,491          (79,410)       

Supervision and Management 6,529,792 6,677,115     3,338,558    3,361,258     22,700         

Special Services 999,483 1,003,483     501,742       248,514        (253,228)     

Housing Related Support - Wardens 775,953 775,953        387,977       344,023        (43,954)       

Housing Related Support - Central Control 388,063 388,063        194,032       231,996        37,965         

Tenants Participation 85,261 85,261          42,631         43,700          1,070           

New Build Schemes Evaluations 400,000 400,000        200,000       67,987          (132,013)     

Debt Management Expenses 9,158 9,158            4,579           9,167            4,588           

Total Expenditure 15,601,781   15,703,550   7,851,775    6,532,835     (1,318,940)  

Income

Dwelling Rents (22,982,750) (22,982,750) (11,491,375) (11,316,975) 174,400       

Non-dwelling Rents (106,512) (106,512) (53,256)        (67,441)        (14,185)       

Leasehold Flats and Shops Income (7,000) (7,000) (3,500)          (9,382)          (5,882)         

Repairs and Maintenance (19,129) (18,315) (9,158)          51,764          60,922         

Supervision and Management 0 -                -               (17,446)        (17,446)       

Special Services (21,732) (25,732) (12,866)        (10,118)        2,748           

Housing Related Support - Wardens (415,616) (415,616) (207,808)      (132,154)      75,654         

Housing Related Support - Central Control (286,650) (286,650) (143,325)      (150,780)      (7,455)         

Tenants Participation 0 0 -               (4,198)          (4,198)         

Total Income (23,839,389) (23,842,575)  (11,921,288) (11,656,729) 264,558       

Net Cost of Services (8,237,608)   (8,139,025)    (4,069,513)   (5,123,894)   (1,054,382)  

Appropriations

Movement in Impairment Provision 130,000 130,000        65,000         65,000          -              

Capital Interest Costs 3,739,030 3,739,030     1,869,515    1,869,515     -              

Investment Interest Income (326,471) (326,471)       (163,236)      (163,236)      -              

Depreciation 5,348,200 5,348,200     2,674,100    2,674,100     -              

Contribution to HRA Reserves 35,000 35,000          17,500         17,500          -              

Use of HRA Earmarked Reserves (438,000) (569,778)       (284,889)      (284,889)      -              

Contribution from Grant A/cs 0 (15,545)         (7,773)          (7,773)          -              

Contribution to / (from)  HRA Balance (250,151) (201,411)       (100,706)      (100,706)      -              

Net Operating (Surplus) / Deficit -               -                -               (1,054,382)   (1,054,382)  

27/10/2329

Appendix 3



Housing Revenue Account Detail - 2023/24

Full Years 6 months 6 months 6 months

List of net budgets per cost centre per directorate Budget Budget Actuals Variance

£ £ £ £ Comments

Comm S H002 Treasury Management Advisor 9,158            4,579            9,167            4,588           

Comm S H004 Supervision + Management 6,677,115     3,338,558    3,343,811     5,254           

Comm S H005 Dwelling Rents Income (22,982,750)  (11,491,375) (11,316,975) 174,400       Rents budget includes 3% voids, actual is 3.58%

Comm S H006 Non-Dwelling Rents Income (106,512)       (53,256)        (67,441)         (14,185)       Garage site rents collect on 1.4.23 for full year

Comm S H010 Tenants Participation 85,261          42,631          39,502          (3,128)         

Comm S H011 Special Services 977,751        488,876        238,396        (250,479)     
Gas and Electric spend is significantly higher in winter 

months

Comm S H017 Leasehold Flats (7,000)           (3,500)          (100)              3,400           

Comm S H018 Leasehold Shops -                -               (9,282)           (9,282)         

Comm S H021 Housing Related Support - Wardens 360,337        180,169        211,869        31,701         

£70K invoice to DCC for Q2  independent living service has 

not been raised. Salaries underspent by £44k (however 

approx £20k of this is due to the pay award not yet being 

settled)

Comm S H022 Housing Related Support - Central Control 101,413        50,707          81,216          30,510         Lifelines annual subscriptions paid for full year

Total for Community Services Directorate (14,885,227)  (7,442,614)   (7,469,835)   (27,221)       

D/Fly H001 Repairs + Maintenance 6,071,656     3,035,828    2,210,673     (825,155)     
Spend now on Dragonfly plus income accrual of £62,927 + 

Travis Perkins Profit share still outstanding

D/Fly H003 Rents, Rates, Taxes + Other Charges 225,802        112,901        33,491          (79,410)       Council Tax on Void properties is not charged until Q3

D/Fly H019 New Build Schemes Evaluations 400,000        200,000        67,987          (132,013)     
Spend is on evaluation works and demolitions so is not an 

even spend per quarter.

D/Fly H024 Director of Property + Construction 48,744          24,372          33,789          9,417           

Total for Dragonfly Services 6,746,202     3,373,101    2,345,941     (1,027,160)  

Total Net Cost of BDC Housing Revenue Account Services (8,139,025)    (4,069,513)   (5,123,894)   (1,054,382)  

27/10/23

30

A
ppendix 4



Full Years 6 months 6 months 6 months

Budget Budget Actuals Variance

£ £ £ £

General Fund

Asset Management Plan

Investment Properties 82,391 41,196 66,792 25,597

Leisure Buildings 590 295 0 (295)

Pleasley Vale Business Park 20,681 10,341 4,465 (5,876)

Riverside Depot 14,545 7,273 9,301 2,029

The Arc 16,976 8,488 9,173 685

The Tangent 15,012 7,506 1,742 (5,765)

Contact Centres 11,086 5,543 0 (5,543)

Asset Management Plan not yet 

allocated to an individual  scheme
194,689 97,345 0 (97,345)

355,970 177,985 91,473 (86,512)

Engineering Asset Management Plan

Car Parks 25,000 12,500 0 (12,500)

Shelters 10,000 5,000 0 (5,000)

Lighting 15,000 7,500 0 (7,500)

50,000 25,000 0 (25,000)

Assets

Pleasley Vale Mill - Dam Wall 100,410 50,205 0 (50,205)

Land at Portland Street 47,076 23,538 19,908 (3,630)

Shirebrook Crematorium 8,142,573 4,071,287 466,680 (3,604,607)

Cultural Business and Skills Hub 50,211 25,106 0 (25,106)

8,340,270 4,170,135 486,588 (3,683,547)

ICT Schemes

ICT infrastructure 610,963 305,482 19,479 (286,003)

610,963 305,482 19,479 (286,003)

Leisure Schemes

Playing Pitch Improvements (Clowne) 100,953 50,477 22,804 (27,672)

Kitchen & Associated Equipment 8,779 4,390 3,578 (812)

Go-Active Equipment 15,000 7,500 13,178 5,678

Pleasley Vale Cycle Path 106,244 53,122 50,468 (2,654)

230,976 115,488 90,028 (25,460)

Private Sector Schemes

Disabled Facility Grants 650,000 325,000 218,478 (106,522)

Joint Venture

Dragonfly Joint Venture Loan 1,518,018 759,009 0 (759,009)

1,518,018 759,009 0 (759,009)

Vehicles and Plant

Vehicle Replacements 2,412,942 1,206,471 2,001,845 795,374

UKSPF - CCTV Bolsover 23,835 11,918 0 (11,918)

District CCTV Scheme 38,751 19,376 38,750 19,375

CAN Rangers Equipment 14,231 7,116 0 (7,116)

2,489,759 1,244,880 2,040,595 795,716

Total General Fund 14,245,956 7,122,978 2,946,641 (4,176,337)

CAPITAL PROGRAMME SUMMARY - 2023/24

31

Appendix 5



Full Years 6 months 6 months 6 months

Budget Budget Actuals Variance

£ £ £ £

CAPITAL PROGRAMME SUMMARY - 2023/24

Housing Revenue Account

New Build Properties

Alfreton Rd Pinxton 568,560 284,280 0 (284,280)

Ashbourne Extension 15,000 7,500 5,567 (1,933)

Bolsover Homes-yet to be allocated 4,820,684 2,410,342 0 (2,410,342)

Harlesthorpe Ave adaptation 152,527 76,264 7,049 (69,215)

Jubilee Court (Bungalows x2) 300,000 150,000 1,200 (148,800)

Keepmoat Properties at Bolsover 25,000 12,500 25,000 12,500

Market Close Shirebrook 4,151,787 2,075,894 2,061,022 (14,872)

Meadow View Homes - Glapwell 696,000 348,000 69,600 (278,400)

Moorfield Lane Whaley Thorns 1,466,486 733,243 388,648 (344,595)

Sandy Lane/Thorpe Ave Whitwell 5,000 2,500 651 (1,849)

The Woodlands Langwith 449,884 224,942 14,246 (210,696)

Valley View (Bungalows & extension) 739,559 369,780 0 (369,780)

West Street Langwith 747,076 373,538 381,439 7,901

Dragonfly Capital Salaries 272,506 136,253 154,974 18,721

14,410,069 7,205,035 3,109,397 (4,095,638)

Vehicle Replacements 1,193,930 596,965 1,070,333 473,368

1,193,930 596,965 1,070,333 473,368

Public Sector Housing

Bramley Vale 100,000 50,000 0 (50,000)

Electrical Upgrades 250,000 125,000 150,819 25,819

External Door Replacements 196,976 98,488 107,116 8,628

External wall insulation 13,796 6,898 1,654 (5,244)

Flat Roofing 70,000 35,000 10,601 (24,399)

Heating Upgrades 80,000 40,000 2,428 (37,572)

Kitchen Replacements 244,842 122,421 83,124 (39,297)

Re Roofing 750,000 375,000 201,304 (173,696)

Property Services Mgmt. & Admin 125,496 62,748 62,748 0

Safe & Warm 3,771,665 1,885,833 779,317 (1,106,515)

Soffit and Facia 60,000 30,000 47,858 17,858

Unforeseen Reactive Capital Works 102,900 51,450 1,450 (50,000)

Welfare Adaptations 523,991 261,996 207,930 (54,066)

Wet Rooms 150,000 75,000 125,154 50,154

6,439,666 3,219,833 1,781,504 (1,438,329)

HRA ICT Schemes

Open Housing 50,605 25,303 2,624 (22,679)

50,605 25,303 2,624 (22,679)

New Bolsover Scheme

New Bolsover-Regeneration Scheme 15,374 7,687 1,264 (6,424)

15,374 7,687 1,264 (6,424)

Total HRA 22,109,644 11,054,822 5,965,120 (5,089,702)

TOTAL CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 36,355,600 18,177,800 8,911,761 (9,266,039)

32



Full Years 6 months 6 months 6 months

Budget Budget Actuals Variance

£ £ £ £

CAPITAL PROGRAMME SUMMARY - 2023/24

Capital Financing

General Fund

Better Care Fund 650,000 325,000 218,478 (106,522)

Prudential Borrowing 8,142,573 4,071,287 466,680 (3,604,607)

Reserves 4,894,891 2,447,446 2,079,982 (367,463)

Capital Receipts 191,335 95,668 108,229 12,561

External Funding 367,157 183,579 73,272 (110,307)

14,245,956 7,122,978 2,946,641 (4,176,337)

HRA

Major Repairs Allowance 6,289,015 3,144,508 1,782,767 (1,361,740)

Prudential Borrowing 8,796,613 4,398,307 1,554,698 (2,843,608)

Reserves 5,966,951 2,983,476 2,627,655 (355,821)

Capital Receipts 322,076 161,038 0 (161,038)

External Funding 734,989 367,495 0 (367,495)

22,109,644 11,054,822 5,965,120 (5,089,702)

TOTAL CAPITAL FINANCING 36,355,600 18,177,800 8,911,761 (9,266,039)

33



Treasury Management Update - Quarter 2 2023/24

PWLB Borrowing

Maturity Profile

30-Sep-23

£

7,200,000

5,400,000

10,800,000

21,000,000

25,000,000

20,000,000

89,400,000

 

Temporary Borrowing

Total PWLB Debt

PWLB Borrowing

£128,736,976

Cash flow monitoring and management identifies the need for short term borrowing to cover

delays in the receipt of income during the year. No interest charges were incurred during the first

six months on overdrawn bank balances. At 30 September 2023 the only temporary borrowing

undertaken by the Council was £3,177,095 which is the investment balances held on behalf of

Parish Councils. 

£128,736,976

£134,500,000

Approved Limits 2023/24

Operational Boundary

Authorised Limit (Total Council 

external borrowing limit)

5-10 years

10-15 years

The Council's main current account is held with Lloyds Bank and the current contract is due to

expire on 9th February 2025.

2-5 years

At 30 September 2023 nothing has been repaid to the PWLB as no repayments were due.

The profile of the outstanding debt is analysed as follows:

12 Months

As at 1 April 2023 the Authority’s total outstanding PWLB debt amounted to £89,400,000.  

Term

The Council has not taken any new loans from the PWLB during the first six months.  

£139,500,000

1-2 years

over 15 years

Actual to Date 2023/24

The total interest cost to the Council of the PWLB debt for 2023/24 is estimated at £3,093,156.

This cost is split between the HRA and General Fund based on the level of debt outstanding.

Interest paid to the PWLB in the six months was £1,560,800.

During the financial year the Council continues to operate within the treasury limits set out in the

Council’s Borrowing and Investment Strategy.  

PWLB Interest

Compliance with Treasury Limits

34

Appendix 6



Treasury Management Update - Quarter 2 2023/24

Interest Received

6 months

Variance

Interest generated (£) (504,758)

Average rate of 

interest
-

Bank of England base 

rate
-

Investments on call

Counterparty
Balance at 

1/4/23
Deposits Withdrawals

Interest 

received

Balance at 

30/09/23

£ £ £ £ £

Aberdeen (MMF) 5,000,000 0 (118,492) 118,492 5,000,000

Federated (MMF) 5,000,000 0 (118,175) 118,175 5,000,000

Invesco (MMF) 5,000,000 0 (106,728) 106,728 5,000,000

CCLA (MMF) 5,000,000 0 (118,078) 118,078 5,000,000

Aviva (MMF) 5,000,000 3,000,000 (3,119,075) 119,075 5,000,000

SSGA (MMF) 5,000,000 6,500,000 (6,598,647) 98,647 5,000,000

BNP Paribas (MMF) 0 8,500,000 (3,613,575) 113,575 5,000,000

Blackrock (MMF) 0 11,500,000 (8,039,004) 39,004 3,500,000

30,000,000 29,500,000 (21,831,774) 831,774 38,500,000

(832,479) (327,722)

6 months Actual 6 months Budget

The performance of the Council's investments is as follows:

The following tables show the investments and interest earned to 30 September 2023:

The Bank of England base rate is currently 5.25%. In the table above, the actual figure is the 6

month average rate and the budget figure is the base rate used when setting the budget.

4.00%

3.50%

The investments have been made in accordance with the Council's Treasury Management

Strategy.

4.75%

Interest rates offered by most institutions still remain low and haven't yet caught up fully with the

bank base rate increases.

4.93%

Temporary Investments

35



Treasury Management Update - Quarter 2 2023/24

Fixed-term investments

Counterparty
Term of 

Loan

Balance at 

1/4/23
Deposits Withdrawals

Interest 

received 

at six 

months

No of Days 

Interest at 

six months

Balance at 

30/09/23

Maturity 

Date

£ £ £ £ £

Local Authorities

Elmton with Creswell Parish Council 37 days 200,000 0 (200,705) 705 32 (0) 03/05/23

200,000 0 (200,705) 705 (0)

0

36

A
ppendix 7



 

 
 

Bolsover District Council 
 

Meeting of the Executive on 6th November 2023 
 

Bolsover District Council Allocations Policy Review 
 

Report of the Portfolio Holder for Housing 
 

Classification This report is Public. 
 

Contact Officer  Victoria Dawson 
Assistant Director Housing Management and Enforcement 

 
PURPOSE/SUMMARY OF REPORT 
 
To seek approval to commence consultation on the draft revised allocations policy and 
to grant the Assistant Director of Housing Management and Enforcement delegated 
powers in consultation with the Leader, Deputy Leader, and Portfolio Holder for Housing 
to adopt the Allocations Policy in the absence of any substantive changes following 
consultation.  
___________________________________________________________________ 

 
REPORT DETAILS 
 
1. Background 

 
1.1 It is a statutory requirement under the Housing Act 1996 for local authorities to 

have an Allocations Policy in place which outlines how social housing located 
within their authority will be allocated. 
 

1.2 Statutory guidance on social housing allocations for local authorities in England 
sets out how allocation schemes are to be framed. In summary the guidance 
covers: 

• who is eligible for allocation, this relates to immigration status.  

• how local housing authorities can determine who can qualify for an allocation, 
this can relate to local connection, financial resources, and unacceptable 
behaviour; and  

• the categories of persons that an allocation scheme must give “reasonable 
preference” to, this includes households who are homeless (not just those 
considered to be statutory homeless), overcrowded households, persons with 
medical and welfare needs, and those suffering from hardship. 

 
1.3 The current Bolsover District Council allocations policy was approved in April 

2020. 
 

1.4 This report outlines a number of proposed changes to the existing allocations 
policy and rational for the changes. It seeks approval to carry out a public 
consultation exercise on these changes and provides a proposed timeframe for 
completion. 

37

Agenda Item 6



 

1.5 Council housing within the district is an extremely limited resource and demand 
significantly outstrips supply. The Council has approximately 380 properties 
becoming available each financial year to meet the housing needs of applicants. 
It is imperative that the policy can adequately balance availability of the resource 
with needs that people have for rehousing into council housing.  
 

1.6 At 1st October 2023, there were 1,410 applicants on the housing register with a 
further 885 suspended. Approximately 600 of these are suspended pending 
providing necessary proofs to process the applications and join the register, the 
remaining are suspended either for rent arrears, anti-social behaviour, or risk-
management reasons. The 1,410 is broken down into the following bands. 
 

Band A – Urgent i.e., Street homeless, in temporary 
accommodation 

0 

Band B – High need i.e., Homeless, and high medical need 165 

Band C – some need – overcrowding, medical etc 819 

Band D – low need, including out of area 426 

 
2. Details of Proposal or Information 
 
2.1  The last full review of the allocations policy was undertaken in 2019, with this 

being formally adopted in April 2020. This moved away from a points-based 
system to a band system.  

 
2.2  Demand for social housing continues to rise, and it is important that the housing 

allocations policy provides a genuine route to access housing for households in 
need. The criteria to determine access to the housing register and priority 
banding are important. The policy has been reviewed in the context of local 
housing need. The changes proposed may mean that some households who do 
not have a housing need are no longer eligible to access social housing via the 
Bolsover District Council Housing Register. A full Equality Impact Assessment 
will be carried out as part of the consultation phase. 

 
2.3 The areas of the policy requiring change are outlined below along with the 

rationale for the changes. Full details are contained within the appendix summary 
of changes document. These changes will then be subject to full public 
consultation and following analysis of the responses and careful consideration a 
final updated policy will be presented to the Leader, Deputy Leader, and Portfolio 
Holder for Housing for final approval and adoption. 

 

• Local Connection has increased from 1 to 2 years continuous residency, we 
have tightened up the requirement for those in permanent employment in the 
area and removed the key worker status connection to the area. This 
ensures we prioritise established local families who have a strong connection 
for residence of 2 years or more.  

• Removal of Band D which is primarily applicants who live out of area or who 
have a very low need. Approx 30% of those on the housing register have no 
housing need or live out of area, removing Band D removes these people 
who are unlikely to ever be allocated a property. 

• Amendment to Band C - This change will remove those who wish to move 
within the district but have no statutory housing need, therefore ensuring 
bands are awarded based on a housing need.  

38



 

• We have expanded the criteria for when an applicant will qualify for the 
statutory housing need bands A, B and C, to make it clearer when a band will 
be awarded and ensure assessments are always consistently applied. 

• A rent arrears suspension rule has been amended to allow people on the 
register if they have maintained repayment agreements and reduced arrears 
within an acceptable threshold.  

• Introduced a 12-month suspension for refusal of 2 suitable offers. Where 
applicants were bidding for properties, and later changed their mind after the 
bidding cycle had ended as void times were being adversely affected.  

• Overcrowding and assessment of bedroom size has been amended to reflect 
statutory rules.  

• The 3 years rule preventing a move to another council property will now be 
applied consistently to all social housing tenants. The time scale remains the 
same but ensures everyone is treated the same regardless of tenure.  

• The review of decision process has been simplified to make the process 
quicker and easier for applicants and officers alike.  

• A non-qualification rule for home ownership has been introduced, to reflect 
that bands are awarded for housing need. The demand on the register is 
unprecedented and many owner occupiers have the means to secure 
suitable accommodation without the need for assistance from the local 
authority. There are some circumstances which will give rise to being 
accepted on the register, but these are limited.  

• Those over 60 and with no statutory housing need (excluding Homeowners) 
will be awarded a Band C. This reflects that approximately 45% of the 
Council’s housing stock is older persons accommodation and ensures we do 
not have significant empty properties of this type.  

• General terminology - we have identified some areas where the policy was 
inconsistent and have remedied this as well as updating the terminology and 
job roles.  
 

2.4 The Council is legally required to consult with other housing providers operating 
within the district, but it is also important to seek views and feedback from other 
partners and stakeholders. In addition to those already on the housing register, 
all existing Council tenants, all Local Registered Housing Providers, The 
Derbyshire Law Centre, and Citizens Advice Bureau will be consulted. These 
consultees will be provided with a summary of change document, a link to the full 
draft policy as well as an online or paper survey to complete to provide 
comments on the draft policy. All Councillors will also be consulted and provided 
the same documentation and an opportunity to provide feedback.  

 
2.5  Whilst there is no statutory timeline for consultation, the Council must provide 

reasonable opportunity for feedback and response to the consultation draft. This 
report seeks approval from Executive to begin a consultation phase which will 
commence on 16th November 2023 and will close on 13th  January 2024. This is 
a period of 8 weeks. Officers will review consultation feedback throughout the 
consultation period and will compile a record of all feedback, along with details of 
any changes that are made to the draft policy in response to the feedback. 

 
2.6 The survey results and responses received will enable any amendments to be 

consider for inclusion within the policy ahead of a final version being considered 
by the Assistant Director of Housing Management and Enforcement in 
consultation with the Leader, Deputy Leader, and Portfolio Holder for Housing on 

39



 

29th January 2024. It is proposed the final version of the policy will be effective 
from 29th April 2024.  

 
2.7  It is possible that some current housing register applicants will be directly 

affected by the proposed policy changes, for example, through a change to 
priority banding or eligibility to remain on the housing register. For every applicant 
affected, an assessment of the individual circumstances and housing options 
available would be carried out on a case-by-case basis to ensure any affected 
applicants are given housing options advice and support that is appropriate to 
their circumstances. Initial analysis based on the proposed changes suggests 
that approximately 400 current applicants may become ineligible for the housing 
register. This group of people will be invited to provide additional evidence should 
they disagree with the decision.  

 
2.8 In addition, due to the proposed changes we anticipate that every application will 

need to be looked at. It is therefore proposed that this work takes place after 
approval of the policy but prior to the policy being formally effective on 29th April 
2024. 

 
2.9 The Council’s housing management system which manages the choice-based 

lettings system and online application form will need to be amended to reflect the 
changes that are approved within the final approved policy. A period of 
implementation and testing will also be required prior to formal adoption and go 
live of the new policy.  

 
2.10 There will also need to be a brief period of downtime of accepting allocations 

under the current allocations policy and the reviewed policy, as well as letting 
properties in the build up to the reviewed policy going live on 29th April 2024. It is 
therefore proposed that in the 3 weeks prior there will be no new applications  or 
lettings unless they are emergency or to sheltered schemes to ensure everyone’s 
applications are given sufficient consideration, the correct priority banding 
awarded and that the computer systems that support these changes is 
implemented, tested, and working correctly.  

 
3. Reasons for Recommendation  
 

3.1 It is a statutory requirement that Councils have an allocations policy in place 

under Part VI of the Housing Act 1996. The policy needs to reflect changes in 
legislation and Government guidance as well as local requirements. 

 
3.2 It is important that the policy is regularly reviewed to ensure that it remains fit for 

purpose and continues to ensure that the limited resource of social housing is 
allocated fairly, in line with legislation and with local and national priorities.  

 
3.3 The unprecedented demand on the housing register means we need to ensure 

the policy balances the availability of resources with housing needs.  
 
4 Alternative Options and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 The policy is considered necessary so that members of the public are aware of 

the Council’s position on allocations, to ensure that the bands reflect the statutory 
housing need and that the policy is applied consistently.  

40



 

RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 

1. To approve the Council’s Revised Allocations Policy, and to authorise a public 
consultation process.  
 

2. That the Assistant Director of Housing Management and Enforcement be given 
delegated powers in consultation with the Leader, Deputy Leader, and Portfolio 
Holder for Housing to adopt the Revised Allocations Policy in the absence of any 
substantive changes following consultation.  

 
Approved by Councillor Sandra Peake, Portfolio Holder for Housing 

 

IMPLICATIONS. 
 

Finance and Risk:   Yes☐  No ☒  

Details: 
There are no financial implications arising from this report. However, the policy 
changes will need to be reflected as part of the Council’s Housing Management 
Choice Based lettings system and online application form configuration. The costs 
associated with system configuration are separate to this report and will be 
contained within existing budgets.  

On behalf of the Section 151 Officer 
 

Legal (including Data Protection):   Yes☐  No ☒  

Details 

The allocation of housing accommodation by local housing authorities (LHAs) is 
regulated by Part 6 of the Housing Act 1996 (HA 1996). The Council is required to 
have a scheme for determining priorities and the procedure to be followed in 
allocating housing accommodation, including all aspects of the allocation process 
and the persons or description of persons by whom decisions are taken. Generally, 
an LHA must not allocate housing accommodation except in accordance with its 
allocation scheme. LHAs must also have regard to guidance issued by the Secretary 
of State. 
 
To meet legal requirements consultation must be undertaken when proposals are 
still at a formative stage; it must include sufficient reasons for the proposals to allow 
interested parties the opportunity to consider the proposal and formulate a response; 
it must allow adequate time for interested parties to consider proposals and 
formulate their response and the outcome of consultation must be conscientiously 
taken into account when the ultimate decision is taken. The proposed consultation 
period is 8 weeks which will provide adequate time for the proposals to be 
considered.  
  
The proposed changes will ensure that the Council has a legally compliant and 
robust housing allocations policy. 

On behalf of the Solicitor to the Council 

Environment:         Yes☐  No ☒ 

Please identify (if applicable) how this proposal/report will help the Authority meet its 
carbon neutral target or enhance the environment.  (Please speak to the Climate 
Change Lead Officer for advice)  Not Applicable to this report. 
 

41



 

Staffing:  Yes☐  No ☒   

Details:  
There are no staffing implications arising from the report or policy. 

 

On behalf of the Head of Paid Service 

 
DECISION INFORMATION 
 

Is the decision a Key Decision? 
A Key Decision is an executive decision which has a significant impact 
on two or more District wards, or which results in income or expenditure 
to the Council above the following thresholds:  
 

Revenue - £75,000   ☐  Capital - £150,000  ☐ 

☒ Please indicate which threshold applies. 

 

Yes 

Is the decision subject to Call-In? 
(Only Key Decisions are subject to Call-In)  
 

Yes 
 

 

District Wards Significantly Affected 
 

Yes  
 

Consultation: 

Leader / Deputy Leader ☐   Executive ☒ 

SLT ☐ Relevant Service Manager ☐ 

Members ☐   Public ☐ Other ☐ 

 

During consultation process – all 
Councillors,  all tenants, 
Customer Services Scrutiny and 
Tenant Participation and 
Member Development Group 

 

Links to Council Ambition: Customers, Economy, and Environment. 
 

Customers – Providing excellent services. 
 
Supports Targets CUS.08 - Maintain high levels of tenant satisfaction with council 
housing and associated services. 
 

 

DOCUMENT INFORMATION 
 

Appendix 
No 
 

Title 

1 Draft Allocations Policy  

2 Summary of changes  

 

Background Papers 

(These are unpublished works which have been relied on to a material extent when 
preparing the report. They must be listed in the section below. If the report is going to 
Executive, you must provide copies of the background papers) 

None  

 

42



 

 1 

 

Bolsover Council Housing Allocation 
Policy 

 
Draft V4 Sept 2023 

 
 

 
1: Introduction 
 
This document is the revised Housing Allocation Scheme for Bolsover District Council. 
It describes the criteria and procedure that the Council use to prioritise housing 
applicants for the social housing that we allocate to, i.e., homes owned by the Council, 
and a proportion of homes owned by Private Registered Providers (commonly known 
as housing associations) in the District.   
 
The Policy applies to both new applicants and existing council/social housing tenants 
who wish to transfer to another property and covers key areas such as: 
 

• Who is eligible to apply for housing 

• Circumstances when people will not be eligible to join the Housing Register or 
will not qualify to do so.  

• The process of applying for housing, including ‘bidding’ 

• How housing needs are assessed 

• How properties are allocated to different household sizes and circumstances 

• How the Council will consider exercising discretion  

• How offers of accommodation are made 
 

2 . Legal Context  
 
Bolsover Council’s Allocation Scheme sits within a legal framework that is 
summarised in this section.  
 
The 1996 Housing Act (as amended by the 2002 Homelessness Act) requires local 
authorities to make all allocations and nominations in accordance with an Allocation 
Scheme. A summary of the Allocation Scheme must be published and made 
available free of charge to any person who asks for a copy. This document is 
available on the council’s web site: https://www.bolsover.gov.uk/c/council-
housing/170-applying-for-council-housing 
 
The Housing Act 1996, (as amended) requires councils to give Reasonable 
Preference in their Allocation Schemes to people with high levels of assessed 
housing need who are defined as:  
 

43

Appendix 1

https://www.bolsover.gov.uk/c/council-housing/170-applying-for-council-housing
https://www.bolsover.gov.uk/c/council-housing/170-applying-for-council-housing


 

 2 

• all homeless people as defined in Part VII of the Housing Act 1996 (whether 
or not the applicant is owed a statutory homeless duty 

• people who are owed a duty under Sections 189B, 190 (2), 193 (2), or 195 of 
the Housing Act 1996 (or under Sections 65 (2) or 68(2) of the Housing Act 
1985) or who are occupying accommodation secured by any Housing 
Authority under Section 192 (3)  

• people occupying insanitary, overcrowded or otherwise unsatisfactory housing  

• people who need to move on medical or welfare grounds (including grounds 
relating to a disability) 

• people who need to move to a particular locality within the district to avoid 
hardship to themselves or others 

 
The Housing Act 1996 also requires councils to state within their Allocation Scheme 
their position on offering applicants a choice of housing accommodation or offering 
them the opportunity to express a preference about the housing accommodation to 
be allocated to them. Our policy on choice is described in section 4 of this Scheme.  
 
In developing the Scheme, the Council has had regard to the law and regulatory 
requirements, including: 
 

• The Housing Act 1996, Part 6 as amended by Localism Act 2011 (England); 

• The Housing Act 1996, Part 7 as amended by the Homelessness Reduction 
Act 2017; 

• Allocation of Accommodation: Guidance for Local housing Authorities in 
England (2012, DCLG) “the Code”; 

• Providing social housing for local people: Statutory guidance on social 
housing allocations for local authorities in England (DCLG, December 2013) 
“Supplementary Code”; 

• Allocation of Housing (Procedure) Regulations 1997, SI 1997/483 Allocation 
of Housing (England) Regulations 2002, SI 2002/3264; 

• Allocation of Housing and Homelessness (Eligibility) (England) Regulations 
2006, SI 2006/1294 and all subsequent amendments; 

• Allocation of Housing (Qualification Criteria for Armed Forces) (England) 
Regulations 2012, SI 2012/1869; 

• Housing Act 1996 (Additional Preference for Armed Forces) (England) 
Regulations 2012, SI 2012/2989; 

• The Allocation of Housing (Qualification Criteria for Right to Move) (England) 
Regulations 2015; 

• ‘The Allocation of Housing and Homelessness (Eligibility) (England) 
(Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019 (SI 2019/861)’; 

• Equality Act 2010; 

• Data Protection Act 2018  

• UK-GDPR (General Data Protection Regulation) 2021; 

• Care Act 2014; 

• Human Rights Act 1998; 

• Domestic Abuse Act 2021; and 

• Children and Social Work Act 2017 
 

 

44



 

 3 

In framing the Allocation Scheme, regard has also been had to the Council’s current: 
 

• Housing Strategy  

• Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy  

• Tenancy Strategy  

• Relevant caselaw.  
 
All references to statutory materials are by way of summary and are not used as 
substitutes for the details within the original.  
 
The council will provide an electronic copy of this Scheme to anyone who asks for 
one. Copies in alternative formats will be considered on an individual basis. The 
whole of this Scheme is available for inspection by any person at the principal office 
of the council if someone is unable to access the Scheme online.  
 
Any provision in this Scheme may be waived in exceptional circumstances at the 
discretion of the lead officer responsible for the housing services. The reasons why a 
provision has been waived will be documented. An applicant can ask for discretion to 
be applied for exceptional circumstances and the process for this is detailed in 
section 2 of this policy.  
 
This is the revised Housing Allocation Scheme for Bolsover Council and will take 
effect on or after insert date here when the Scheme has been approved and an 
implementation date has been agreed. The assessment of need and qualifying 
criteria set out in the Scheme will be applied to all new and existing applicants from 
this date. 
 

3: Making changes to the Policy 
 
The policy will be reviewed and revised as required in response to: 
 
➢ Any national policy or legislative changes, or  
➢ Policy changes instigated by the Council, or  
➢ To reflect the requirements of any leading and relevant new case law. 
 
Any significant changes to this Scheme will be approved by a meeting of Bolsover’s 
Executive   
 
For minor changes to the Scheme, or changes to the procedures that administer the 
Scheme, decisions will be delegated to the Portfolio Holder responsible for Housing.  
 
Formally, any major change to the Scheme can only be made after a copy of the 
proposed amendments have been consulted on by sending this Scheme to every 
Private Registered Provider operating in the district and giving them a reasonable 
period of time to comment on any proposed changes. This is a requirement under 
Section s166A (13) Housing Act 1996.  
 
The council will take any steps as it considers reasonable (for example, by making 
contact via email, telephone, or letter, or by placing a notification on a council’s 

45



 

 4 

website, or via another suitable form of communication), within a reasonable period 
of time, to bring to the attention of applicants likely to be affected by: 
 

a) any alterations made to this policy 
b) any subsequent alteration to this Scheme that would affect the relative priority 

of a large number of applicants; or 
c) any significant alteration to any associated procedures for administering this 

policy. 
 
Where a full review of the Scheme is undertaken, the council will adopt local 
government good practice guidelines and undertake a broad consultation that 
includes relevant statutory and voluntary sector organisations, tenant 
representatives, and applicants to the scheme. 
 

4: key objectives of the scheme  
 

• To meet the legal requirements placed on the council to give appropriate 
priority to applicants who fall under the Housing Act “reasonable preference 
groups”. This is to ensure that social rented housing is let to those in greatest 
need. 

• To make the best use of the housing owned by the Council. 

• To have a system that is transparent and easy to understand. 

• To have a system that treats all sectors of the community fairly. 

• To offer choice to applicants wherever practicable. 
 
 
  

46



 

 5 

 
Section 2: The criteria for deciding who is eligible to be included on the 
Council Housing Register and the rules for when an applicant will not 
qualify.  
 

 

1: The eligibility rules 
 
Some groups of people cannot by law join the Council’s Housing Register regardless 
of their housing need or circumstances. These are people who: 
 

• come under a government rule which means they cannot lawfully access 
social housing as they are not eligible, or 

• do not live habitually in the ‘Common Travel Area’ (UK, Channel Islands, the 
Isle of Man or the Republic of Ireland), or 

• do not have the right to live in the UK, or 

• Fall under other categories of people who the Government may in the future 
decide are not eligible for housing assistance. 

 
The key relevant regulations that apply to eligibility are: 
 

• Regulations 3 and 4 Allocation of Housing and Homelessness (Eligibility) 
(England) Regulations 2006, SI 2006/1294, and 

• All subsequent amendments including ‘The Allocation of Housing and 
Homelessness (Eligibility) (England) (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 
2019 (SI 2019/861), plus 

• The Allocation of Housing and Homelessness (Eligibility) (England) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2020 (SI 2020/667) implemented from the 24 
August 2020. 

 
The above is not a complete list of all the eligibility regulations. For example, there is 
significant legislation that relates to the UK’s exit from the European Union and the 
implications for accessing housing assistance. These rules are complicated. Anyone 
who is impacted, or believes they may be impacted, can approach the council for 
advice, or can seek independent legal advice. 
 

2: The non-qualification rules adopted by the council 
   
Under Section 160ZA(7) of the Housing Act 1996 Part 6 a council is allowed to set 
criteria for classes of persons who are, or are not, qualifying persons. The non-
qualification rules adopted by the Council mean that the following classes of person 
will not normally qualify to join the Housing Register unless the Council accepts there 
are exceptional circumstances. 
 
Non qualification rule 1: The need to demonstrate a local connection to the 
Bolsover district.  
 
To qualify for the Housing Register an applicant (or, alternatively the applicant’s 
partner) must meet one of the following rules. They must have:  

47



 

 6 

a) Lived in the Council’s area continuously for the last 2 years and that residence 
was of their choice. If registered they must continue to live in the area to remain 
on the Housing Register. Or  
 

b) The applicant or their partner are employed in permanent employment in the 
Bolsover Council’s area and to travel to work by public transport would take them 
in excess of 90 minutes each way and they do not have their own transport. 
Employment is defined as paid employment for at least 16 hours or more per 
week for a continual period of at least 6 months and is not work that is considered 
to be temporary, casual or seasonal.  Where there is a zero hours contract the 
assessment will consider if, on average over a 3-month period, the person is 
working for 16 hours a week or more and that zero hours contract is not a 
temporary contract. The applicant or household member must be working at the 
point any offer of a tenancy is made. Where an applicant is self-employed they 
must demonstrate that the self-employed work they perform is: 

 
a) In the Councils area and  
b) Cannot be performed from home, and  
c) They have been self-employed for a continual period of at least 6 months 

and 
d) There self-employment is not work that is considered to be temporary or 

seasonal.   
 
In addition the applicant or partner must be working self -employed at the point 
an offer of a tenancy is made.  
 
Note: For applicants who are employed the employment must be their actual 
place of work in area and not employment based on a head office or regional 
office situated in the area but from which the applicant does not work. For people 
employed by a national company their actual place of work must be within the 
Bolsover district.  
 

c) Or, have close family (normally considered to be a mother, father, brother, sister, 
or adult son or daughter) that have lived in the district for a minimum of the last 5 
years and the applicant, or their partner, need to be in the Council’s area to give 
or receive essential support from close family. Note: it is for the Council to decide 
on whether an applicant meets this local connection qualification rule for close 
family needing to give or receive essential support.  
 
Note 1: The Council will consider whether there are exceptional circumstances 
whereby other family members may be considered to provide a local connection. 
For example, the circumstances where a person has been brought up by an 
extended family member, in the absence of their own parents and the applicant 
continues to need to receive essential support from this person.  

 
Note 2: The level of support required to qualify under c) must be essential and 
significant and cannot be short term or low level such as to carry out shopping 
once a week, and there is no existing support package in place.  

 

48



 

 7 

Once registered an applicant must continue to meet one of the local connection 
qualification rules a-c above. If the applicant no longer meets this rule they will be 
removed from the register as they will no longer qualify for inclusion on the housing 
register.   
 
If an applicant has lived in the Bolsover district for 2 continuous years in the 
circumstances where they have been placed into temporary accommodation in the 
Bolsover district by another local authority, they will not qualify to join the Housing 
Register. This rule is justified because a Council from outside of Bolsover that has 
placed a household into temporary accommodation in the Bolsover district will legally 
retain the responsibility for helping the applicant to obtain long term settled housing. 
 
For the purposes of determining a local connection for residence, the Council will 
accept the following circumstances as demonstrating residence:  
 
a) Residency in a non-traditional dwelling, such as a mobile home that is placed on 

a residential site, or an official pitch. 
 

b) People who are forced to sleep rough in the Bolsover Council area as long as 
they still meet the 2-year qualification period for residency. 

 
There are a number of exceptions to the 2-year residency rule. These are:   

 
1. Applicant’s owed a main section 193(2) homeless duty by Bolsover Council only.  

 
2. Where Bolsover Council has placed an applicant into temporary accommodation 

outside of the Council’s area that period of time in temporary accommodation will 
count as residence in Bolsover.  

 
3. Where the Council agrees that there are exceptional circumstances requiring a 

move into an area. This will be decided on a case-by-case basis.  Examples 
where circumstances may be considered to be exceptional include:  
 
➢ Reasons of safety, for example when an applicant is fleeing domestic abuse 

or hate crime from another area, or 
➢ An applicant is on a witness protection programme and the Council has 

agreed that a move to the Bolsover area is essential. 
 
4. The Council will consider any application from a gypsy or traveler household 

where the applicant may not meet the 2-year continuous period of residence rule, 
if the period has been broken by travelling. The facts of each case will be 
considered when deciding whether the rule should be waived.  

 
5. Care Leavers below the age of 21 years (or 25 if they are pursuing a programme 

of education agreed in their pathway plan) who are owed a duty under section 
23C of the Children Act 1989 by Derbyshire County Council or another County or 
Unitary Council and have been looked after in accommodation outside of 
Bolsover and wish to live in Bolsover.   

 

49



 

 8 

6. Applicants who satisfy the right to move criteria. The Right to Move qualification 
regulations 2015 states that local connection qualification rules must not be 
applied to existing social tenants who seek to move from another Council district 
in England, and who have a need to move for work related reasons to avoid 
hardship. However, the Council’s policy is to limit these moves to no more than 
1%. of all lettings per year. (See annex 3 for details of how the ‘right to move’ 
criteria will be applied.)  
 

7. Where at the date of application the applicant is not currently resident in the 
Bolsover area whilst:  
 
a) receiving medical or respite care  
b) serving a custodial sentence  

 
The applicant will be considered to have a local connection for residence as long 
as they had been living in the Council’s area for 2 continuous years prior to their 
current accommodation circumstances 

 
8. Applicants that satisfy the Allocation of Housing (Qualification Criteria for Armed 

Forces) (England) Regulations 2012 will be exempt from the local connection 
qualification rule. These are:  
 
a) Applicants who are serving members of the regular armed forces  
b) Applicants who served in the regular armed forces within the 5 years 

immediately prior to the date of their application 
c) Applicants who are serving or former serving members of the regular armed 

forces or reserve forces who suffer from a serious injury, illness or disability 
sustained as a result of their service 

d) Applicants who are a bereaved spouse/civil partner of a former serving 
member of the regular armed forces and have recently ceased (or will soon 
cease) to be entitled to reside in services accommodation following the death 
of their spouse/civil partner. 

e) The divorced or separated ex-spouse of a member of HM Armed Forces, who 
is currently serving or going through resettlement, will be exempt from the 
local connection criteria for a period of six months following the divorce or 
separation 

 
Non-qualification rule 2: The requirement to have an assessed housing need as 
defined by the criteria set out in Bands A-C  
 
Applicants who do not meet the housing need criteria for an award of a band A-C will 
not be admitted to the Housing Register. This is because the level of housing demand 
in the district means that any applicant who is not assessed as being in a statutory 
housing need will almost certainly not be able to receive an offer of accommodation.  
 
There is an exception to this rule for applicants who are not home owners over the 
age of 60 without an assessed housing need and would qualify for an age restricted 
property. The exception is because the evidence is that a number of older applicants 
are able to receive an offer of older person housing or age restricted housing as there 
is a greater availability for this type of housing. Note applicants who qualify under this 

50



 

 9 

exemption will only be considered for age restricted properties and not general needs 
properties. For homeowners there are some exceptions where an applicant who 60 or 
over and a homeowner may be allowed to qualify for the housing register (see non 
qualification rule 5 below).  
 
Applicants with no assessed housing need are still able to apply directly to any of the 
Housing Associations with social housing stock in the Bolsover area or elsewhere is 
Derbyshire. Some Housing Associations may operate their own housing registers as 
not all properties that become vacant are let under a nomination agreement through 
the Council under this policy.  
 
The justification for the Council adopting this non qualification rule option is that there 
is clear data evidence that applicants without a statutory housing need as defined by 
the criteria needed to qualify for bands A-C have little or no prospect of being offered 
social housing but may not pursue alternative housing options based on the ‘false 
hope’ that by being registered they may eventually obtain an offer. 
 
Non-qualification rule 3: Applicants who will be excluded from the Housing 
Register due to their unacceptable behaviour  
 
The disqualification rule for unacceptable behaviour will apply where an applicant, or 
any member of their current or prospective household, has demonstrated serious 
unacceptable behaviour that, in the view of the council, makes them at the time of 
their application, or since their application, unsuitable to be a tenant. The 
assessment framework below refers to an applicant but this is to be taken to mean 
any member of an applicant’s household.  
 
The rule of non-qualification will apply where the council is satisfied that an applicant 
(or a member of their current or prospective household) has demonstrated a serious 
failure to adhere to the terms of a current or previous social housing or private rented 
tenancy agreement. This is defined as:  
 

a) failing to maintain any previous social rented or private sector rented property 
within the terms of their tenancy agreement, or committing acts causing or 
likely to cause nuisance or annoyance to neighbours or others in the area 
where they live or have previously lived. Non-qualification will apply until the 
applicant (or a member of their prospective household) has demonstrated, to 
the satisfaction of the council, their previous unacceptable conduct is unlikely 
to reoccur. This may include demonstrating cooperation with support agencies 
leading to a substantial improvement in behaviour;  

b) conduct likely to cause nuisance or annoyance if they were to be offered a 
tenancy. This is conduct or behaviour that does not only relate to a previous 
social housing or private rented sector tenancy. It may include the 
circumstances where an applicant, or a member of their current or prospective 
household, is the subject of actions being taken by any council (or some other 
recognised body) on grounds of alleged antisocial behaviour (ASB). 

c) rent arrears for their last private rented tenancy in the circumstances where 
the council has obtained information that confirms on the balance of 
probabilities that a debt is owed. If there is a debt owed it will be for the 
assessing officer to decide on the facts gathered, regarding the level of debt 

51



 

 10 

and the reasons for it, whether the applicant should be classified as a non-
qualifying. Where it is established that a debt is owed the same rules will 
apply as per a social housing debt (see below). 

d) circumstances where the applicant, or any member of their household, has 
assaulted a member of the council’s staff, whether or not an injunction is 
being sought, or has been obtained. 

 
Other examples of serious unacceptable behaviour include:  
 

a) being subject to a court order (including an interim order) for breach of 
tenancy conditions;  

b) conviction for illegal or immoral use of their current or former home; 
c) causing nuisance and annoyance to neighbours or visitors;  
d) committing criminal offences in or near the home and still posing a threat to 

neighbours or the community such as drug dealing;  
e) being violent towards a partner or members of the family; 
f) allowing the condition of the property to deteriorate;  
g) paying money illegally to obtain a tenancy;  
h) unlawfully subletting their tenancy; 
i) applicants who have been convicted of housing or welfare benefit related 

fraud, where that conviction is unspent under the Rehabilitation Offenders Act 
1974;  

j) having unspent convictions where an assessment by the Council concludes 
that the applicant is unsuitable to be a tenant due to a significant risk to 
potential neighbours and/or communities; 

k) an applicant or any member of their household has been responsible for any 
racial harassment or other hate crime. ‘Racial harassment’ and ‘hate crimes’ 
are defined as racist, religiously aggravated, faith, gender, age, disability, and 
trans phobic or homophobic or gender re-assignment harassment or hate 
crime. A hate crime or racist incident is defined as any incident which is 
perceived to be racist or hate crime related by the complainant or any other 
person.  

 
The assessing officer will be guided by the following framework when assessing 
whether an applicant should not qualify based on their unacceptable behaviour:  
 

a) The behaviour need not have led to possession, prosecution, or other 
enforcement action by a statutory agency, provided that, on the balance of 
probability, the household is responsible; 

b) in normal circumstances the behaviour concerned should have occurred 
within the last two years. In cases of a more serious nature, for example, 
those involving criminal prosecution, a longer timescale may be appropriate; 

c) there must be reasonable grounds for believing that the behaviour could 
continue or be repeated. For example, the applicant may have issued threats, 
or there might be a history of repeat offending; 

 
When assessing whether behaviour may result in the applicant not qualifying the 
assessing Officer will consider:  
 

1) the seriousness of the applicant’s behaviour;  

52



 

 11 

2) the duration of the behaviour and/or the number and frequency of incidents;  
3) the length of time that has elapsed since the behaviour took place;  
4) any relevant vulnerability or support needs that may explain the behaviour; 
5) whether there is meaningful engagement with support agencies;  
6) critically, whether there has been a significant and sustained change in the 

applicant’s behaviour; 
7) whether they believe on the evidence that the behaviour is likely to still 

reoccur now or at the point a tenancy was offered or commenced; 
8) whether the circumstances that caused the behaviour have changed. For 

example, whether nuisance was caused by drug or alcohol problems that the 
applicant has since successfully resolved; 

9) whether the member of the household responsible for the behaviour is still a 
member of the household; 

10) whether the council can accept any assurances from the applicant as to future 
behaviour; 

11) if the unacceptable behaviour is believed to be due to physical, mental or 
learning difficulties, whether, with appropriate support, the applicant could 
maintain a tenancy; and 

12) the applicant’s current circumstances. For example, health needs, 
dependents, and any other relevant factors. 

 
Applicants to whom the rule is applied will be written to and informed that: 
 

1) the unacceptable behaviour rule has been applied to their case and either 
they do not qualify, or that they qualify but cannot be considered for an 
allocation until the behaviour has been resolved. 

2) what they must do to resolve the problem. 
3) for a decision that they do not qualify it is the applicant’s responsibility to notify 

the council when they have, in their view, resolved the issue and that they will 
need to present evidence to back up their view. 

4) where an applicant is disqualified for unacceptable behaviour they will be 
informed that they have a right to ask for a review of the decision made to 
disqualify them.   

 
Note: where an applicant is disqualified, any new application will only be 
reconsidered at the request of the applicant and only where there has been no 
reasonable cause for complaint or concern against the applicant (or members of 
their prospective household) for a continuous period of 12 months. 
 
Note: The unacceptable behaviour disqualification rule will also apply to applicants 
currently on the Housing Register. An applicant’s eligibility to remain on the Housing 
Register will be kept under review and an applicant may be rendered ineligible 
should the council be satisfied that the rule relating to unacceptable behaviour 
should be applied to their case. 
 
Non qualification rule 4: Circumstances where an applicant has a current or 
former social housing rent arrears, or another relevant recoverable housing 
related debt. 
 
 

53



 

 12 

This section sets out the rules for when an applicant:  
 
a) Will not be allowed to qualify for the Housing Register because of rent arrears or 
another recoverable housing related debt, or  
 
b) Will be allowed to qualify but will be not be allowed to bid for any properties 
advertised until their rent arrears or housing related debt have been resolved to the 
satisfaction of the Council.  
 
When carrying out an assessment, the Council will take into consideration all 
housing related debts, associated with either a current or former tenancy that relate 
to any social housing provider in the UK. Note the rules in this section only apply to 
social housing former or current rent arrears, occupation of temporary 
accommodation debts, and some other forms of housing related debt listed. This 
section does not cover rent arrears for a private sector tenancy, or licence. This is 
covered under the unacceptable behaviour rule set out in the unacceptable 
behaviour qualification rule above.  
 
For the purposes of this qualification rule housing related debts include:  
 
a) Current or former tenancy rent arrears of a social housing tenancy. Note current 

social housing tenants seeking a transfer will not normally be allowed to transfer 
until they have met the relevant criteria set out in this section for addressing the 
debt (i.e. the criteria for £0-500, £501-£1000, £1001 plus).    

b) Outstanding re-chargeable repairs 
c) Current and former housing related service charge arrears 
d) Temporary accommodation charge arrears for a licence or a tenancy where that 

temporary accommodation was provided by the Council   
e) Failing to adhere to the terms of an agreed payment plan in relation to rent 

arrears or housing debt for a social housing tenancy, or temporary 
accommodation 

f) Any court costs incurred by the Council or a Housing Association associated with 
any of the above debts 

 
Housing related debts apply to both the applicant and their partner  
 
The purpose of this qualification rule is:  
1) To ensure any relevant debt owed to a social landlord or the Council is recovered 
and  
2) To consider whether an applicant's current position creates a risk of future non-
payment of rent. 
 
The following framework will be used to guide officers when applying this 
qualification rule. The Council will consider:  
 

• The reasons why the applicant accrued the housing related debt and whether 
there are exceptional circumstances that should be considered when applying the 
rule. 

54



 

 13 

• Whether the debt has been caused by factors difficult for the applicant to control, 
for example a case where an applicant was unable to pay the full rent due to 
being impacted by the ‘spare room subsidy’ rule. 

• Whether the applicant still owes that debt, and if they do, the extent of the 
arrears/debt as well as whether it is a recoverable debt, or a statute barred debt. 

• Whether the applicant has taken debt advice, acted on it, and entered into an 
arrangement to clear the arrears/debt. 

• If an arrangement has been made, the amount of arrears/debt paid off, any 
amount outstanding, and the regularity of payments made. 

 
After considering the above the Council will decide whether the applicant will not 
qualify for the housing register, or that they will be allowed to qualify, but not allowed 
to bid for properties until the issue has been resolved to the satisfaction of the 
Council.   
 
There is no time limit regarding when a person can make a new application following 
disqualification under this rule. Where a new application is made, the Council will 
assess whether the applicant has taken appropriate action to address the rent 
arrears/debt.  
 
If disqualified an applicant will be informed of the actions they need to take to resolve 
the debt in order to qualify.  
 
How decisions for applicants with a housing related debt will be made  
 
a) Applicants with debts of £1,000 or more who have not made any 
arrangement to address the debt 
 
Applicants with debts of £1000 or more who have not made an arrangement 
acceptable to the Council to address the debt. They will be ineligible to join the 
housing register unless the circumstances surrounding the debt are exceptional and 
an assessment concludes that there is no real risk of future non-payment.  
 
b) Applicants with debts of £1,000 or more who have already made an 
arrangement to address the debt at the point of their application 
 
Applicants will be permitted to join the register and be able to bid for accommodation 
if they have maintained a payment arrangement for at least 13 weeks and have 
repaid at least 25% of their original debt.  
 
Applicants who satisfy the above will be permitted to bid for properties. All partner 
housing association landlords are encouraged to abide by these guidelines and to 
accept bids on this basis. However, a housing association to whom the debt is owed, 
may wish to see that a longer period of repayment has been kept to. Any 
requirement by the partner to whom the debt is owed for payments to be maintained 
for a longer period should not prevent an applicant from bidding for properties 
advertised by another housing association partner.  
 
In order to encourage good financial management and discourage applicants from 
using doorstep lenders, who often charge high interest loans, lump sums of 50% or 

55



 

 14 

more for the total debt owed will be accepted but the applicant must still demonstrate 
that repayments have been made for at least 13 weeks prior to the lump sum 
payment in order to be allowed to bid. 
 
Where a discretionary housing payment (DHP), or payment from homelessness 
grant funding has been agreed to clear or reduce debt to the level required an 
application may be activated. A decision will be made on a case-by-case basis which 
will focus on whether there is still a significant risk of the applicant defaulting on rent 
payments for a future tenancy.  
 
The Council will not always require debts of £1000 plus to be paid in full. To always 
require the debt to be paid in full may act as a disincentive to make an attempt to 
repay the debt and for some applicants is likely to result in having to demonstrate an 
extended repayment period of several years before they can be considered for 
accommodation. This would be unfair on applicant’s who have demonstrated through 
their repayment actions a commitment to pay off the debt, meaning that the risk of 
any further debt for a new tenancy is low. Requiring a debt of £1000 plus to be paid 
off in full, also makes it more likely that the social landlord will be unable to recover 
the debt.  
 
c) Applicants with debts of £500-£999 
 
Applicants with debts of £500-£999 will be eligible to join the register but ineligible to 
bid, unless the applicant can demonstrate to the Council that there is a low risk of 
non-payment for a new tenancy. They will still be allocated a band and will accrue 
their time in band whilst they take action to resolve the debt as per the rules in the 
policy.  
 
Evidence of a low risk of non-payment for a new tenancy could include: 
a) A history of not having housing debts, 
b) A history of regular rent payments, and 
c) A history of payment arrangements having been maintained. 
 
Where no such evidence exists, an applicant will be unable to bid until there is 
evidence such as:  
 
a) Maintaining a payment arrangement for 13 weeks, or 
b) Reducing the debt to below £500, or 
c) Demonstrating that the issues that caused the debt have been addressed. 
 
In order to encourage good financial management and discourage applicants from 
using doorstep lenders, who often charge high interest on loans, lump sums of 50% 
or more of the total owed will be accepted but the applicant must still demonstrate 
that repayments have been regularly made for at least 13 weeks prior to the lump 
payment in order to be allowed to bid. 
 
Where a discretionary housing payment (DHP), or payment from homelessness 
grant funding has been agreed to clear or reduce debt to the level required an 
application may be activated. A decision will be made on a case-by-case basis which 

56



 

 15 

will focus on whether there is still a significant risk of the applicant defaulting on rent 
payments for a future tenancy.  
 
d) Applicants with debts of £1-£499  
 
Applicants with debts of £1-£499 will be eligible to join the register and eligible to bid, 
unless there is clear evidence of a future risk of non-payment.  
Evidence of a future risk could include factors such as: 
a) A long history of housing debt, 
b) A long history of poor rent payments, and 
c) A long history of breached payment arrangements 
 
Where such evidence does exist, the applicant will be unable to bid until there is 
evidence of:  
a) Maintaining a payment arrangement for 13 weeks and 
b) Demonstrating that the causes of the previous problems have been addressed. 
 
Applicants who are disqualified for a housing related debt of £1,000+ should notify 
the Council immediately when they have either repaid at least 25% of their original 
debt so their circumstances can be reassessed. If it is agreed they can then join the 
housing register their effective registration date will be the date they have been 
assessed as qualifying for the register and will not the date of their earlier application 
which resulted in the decision that they did not meet the qualification rule.    
 
The only exception to the rent arrears or housing related debt rule is where an 
applicant can demonstrate that their circumstances are exceptional, and they would 
therefore face serious hardship or risk through not being allowed to qualify.  
 
An exception may be considered where for example, an applicant has a good 
payment history but has incurred a debt as a result of a ‘one off’ problem, or where a 
tenant had to flee domestic abuse and a subsequent debt has built up for the 
tenancy left.   
 
Note 1: It is the responsibility of the applicant to make the case as to why their 
circumstances are exceptional. Once a request has been made for exceptional 
circumstances to be applied to their case it will be considered under the statutory 
review procedure.  
 
Note 2: This qualification rule also applies to applicants currently on the register. An 
applicant’s eligibility to remain on the register will be kept under review. An applicant 
may be rendered ineligible (or allowed to remain on the register but not be allowed to 
bid) should the Council become satisfied that there is new evidence, or a change of 
circumstances, meaning that this rule should be applied.  
 
Note 3: For applicants who have had their rent arrears included in a ‘Debt Relief 
Order’, bankruptcy declaration or individual voluntary agreement (IVA) a period of at 
least 12 months has to pass from the declaration of insolvency to the point a debt is 
cleared. Should an applicant maintain their finances for this period, this will be 
considered as strong evidence that their previous problem has been resolved.  
 

57



 

 16 

Non qualification rule 4: Making false or misleading statements or withholding 
information 
 
Under s171 Housing Act Where a person approaches the Council seeking an allocation 
of housing the Act named makes it an offence, punishable with a fine, for a person to 
make a false statement or to withhold information which is relevant to their claim.  
 
Any applicant seeking to obtain accommodation by making a false or misleading 
statement, by withholding relevant information, or by failing to inform the council of 
any material change in circumstances may be prevented from qualifying for the 
Housing Register, or where they are already registered, may have their application 
cancelled. Prosecution will be considered where it appears to the council that a 
criminal offence has been committed. Proceedings for possession will be taken to 
recover any tenancy granted in consequence of a fraudulent application for housing.  
 
It will be for the housing assessing officer in the first instance to decide if any errors 
contained in an application were deliberately made or not. If the officer is satisfied 
that the errors were not deliberate, or that they had no impact on the application, 
then no action will be taken though the applicant may be warned about the need to 
provide accurate information and the consequences for not doing so.   
 
Once an applicant is disqualified from joining the register or removed from the 
register on these grounds they will normally not be able to reapply for a period of 12 
months. Decisions will be made based on the seriousness of the attempted fraud or 
false information given, including an assessment of why information was withheld. 
 
Non qualification rule 5: Homeownership 
 
An applicant cannot qualify for the housing register if they or their partner own a 
residential property in the UK or abroad. Applicants who have been the owner of a 
residential property within the last 5 years will be required to provide proof of the 
proceeds from the sale and of the disposal of any proceeds. Where the Council 
considers that the proceeds from any sale have been spent recklessly an applicant 
can still be determined as not qualifying for the housing register.   
 
Applicants who do not qualify under the homeownership rule may be considered as 
an exception if: 
 
a) If as a result of a divorce settlement a Court has ordered that an applicant may 

not reside in the former matrimonial or civil partnership home in which they still 
have a legal interest for a period which is likely to exceed 5 years and that 
restriction is not due to being a perpetrator of domestic abuse, or 

b) Where someone is a homeowner and homeless due to domestic abuse and 
whose property has not yet been sold. In these circumstances a decision will be 
made as to whether to treat this as an exemption based on the facts and 
circumstances of the case, or  

c) The applicant has a substantial disability, and their current home is not suitable 
for their specific needs and cannot be adapted in a reasonable period of time and 
they cannot find an alternative property suitable for their disability on the open 
market.  

58



 

 17 

Non qualification rule 6: Current Council and Housing Association tenants 
who apply within 3 years of the commencement of their current tenancy 
 
Any applicant who is a Council or Housing Association tenant will not normally be 
allowed to join the Housing Register for a period of 3 years (from the start date of 
their current tenancy), however in some circumstances exceptions may apply such 
as for example: 
 

• A change in the number of people in the household (including births and 
deaths but excluding lodgers) and as a result of this the home is either under 
occupied or overcrowded.  

• In exceptional circumstances, for example, the property is no longer suitable 
for tenants (or a member of their household) due to a disability or the 
property/location is impacting on their health and wellbeing.   

 
Each case will be assessed on its own merit. 
 
Non qualification rule 7: Previous Council and Housing Association tenants 
 
Any applicant who has voluntarily given up a Council or Housing Association 
tenancy, including assignment, will be unable to apply for housing for a period of 3 
years starting from the final day of their tenancy.  In exceptional circumstances an 
exemption may be applied.   
 
Non qualification rule 8 : Applicants must be over the age of 18 to apply 
 
An applicant must be over the age of 18 to apply. There may be an exception for 
applicants aged 16 or 17 who are being assessed in conjunction with Derbyshire 
County Council’s Children’s Social Care Team.  
 
If in exceptional circumstances a person who is 16 or 17 is granted a tenancy, this will 
normally be held in trust until they reach the age of 18. This means that another 
suitable person (such as a parent, legal guardian, social worker or relative) will 
normally be responsible for the tenancy. Priority will only be given for a home located 
in an area that will enable the necessary support to be provided.   
 

3: How exceptional circumstances will be considered in respect to 
any of the qualification rules, or any other rule adopted under this 
policy 
 
Bolsover Council will retain the ability, in exceptional circumstances, to exercise its 
discretion when applying any of the qualification rules listed or any other rule 
adopted under this policy.  
Where an applicant makes a case in their application to join the register for 
discretion to be applied for exceptional circumstances this will be considered as part 
of the application. Otherwise it is for the applicant to request a review and make the 
case for why discretion should be applied to their case for exceptional 
circumstances.  A request for a review by an applicant of a decision that an applicant 

59



 

 18 

does not meet a qualification rule, or for a rule to be waived, will be taken as a 
request for any exceptional circumstances to be considered.  
 
Where requested, the council will consider whether the applicant’s circumstances (or 
those of a member of the applicant’s household) are so exceptional that discretion 
should be applied.  
 
The applicant will receive a written decision on their claim for exceptional 
circumstances to be applied and, where that decision is that the case is not 
considered to be exceptional, reasons will be given.   
 
Note the council cannot waive the eligibility rules for any applicant who is not allowed 
to access social housing under the immigration and ‘persons from abroad’ rules set 
by Central Government. 
 
In deciding whether an applicant’s circumstances are exceptional the council will fully 
consider the Equality Act 2010 and Children Act 2004 where children are part of the 
applicant’s household. With regard to the Equality Act, the council will specifically 
consider:  
  

a) whether the person, or a member of their household, meets the definition for 
one or more of the nine protected characteristics listed in the Equality Act 
2010 

b) if we agree that the applicant or a member of their household comes under 
the definition for a protected characteristic, the council will fully comply with 
Section 149 of 2010 Equality Act and ensure it has obtained all relevant 
information relating to the applicant’s protected characteristic and will consider 
that if they were not able to qualify for the scheme, whether this would have 
an exceptionally detrimental impact on the person with that protected 
characteristic; and  

c) ensure any decision that the applicant’s circumstances are not exceptional will 
be a decision that is a proportionate means of achieving the legitimate 
objectives for the Scheme. 

 
 
  

60



 

 19 

 

 
Section 3: Applying to join the Housing Register 

 

 
1: How to apply to join the Housing Register  
 
Anyone over the age of 18 can apply to join the Council’s Housing Register. 
Applications will be rejected if: 
 

a) they are ineligible to be considered by law; or  
b) they come within one of the ‘non qualification’ categories adopted by the 

Council (see section 2 of the Policy). 
 
The Bolsover Homes website provides an online housing application form to join the 
Housing Register.  
 
People wishing to join the register should apply on-line through:   
https://bolsoverhomes.bolsover.gov.uk/oalive/ibsxmlpr.p?docid=home 
 
Any applicant who may need help in completing their on-line application can call or 
visit the Customer Advisers at our Contact Centres where they will be guided through 
the process of making their application on-line.  
 
There is free access to the ‘internet’ at libraries, and at some community facilities. A 
home visit or office appointment can be offered when an applicant has no access to 
the ‘internet’ or is unable to use the ‘internet’.  
 
If the Council agree that an applicant is unable to apply on-line it will arrange for a 
paper application form to be issued. The paper form can be made available in different 
formats to meet the needs of the applicant.  This includes: 
 

• Arranging to explain any letters or forms in a language suitable for the applicant  

• Provide large print versions of the form or letters received on request. 
 
Once submitted the application will be created and the applicant will be provided with 
an application reference number, at this stage they will also be asked to provide proofs 
of identification and where applicable documentation in support of their application 
based on their circumstances. The application will remain suspended until this 
information has been received and verified by the Council. 
 
The Bolsover Council housing application webpages contain a list of the supporting 
documents that an applicant must provide in order to progress an application.  
 
Once the application has been received there may be a need for additional 
information. If so, this will normally be requested via the applicant’s portal account, 
however, in some circumstances the applicant may receive a phone call, email or letter 
asking for the additional information needed and explaining how it can be provided.  
 

61

https://bolsoverhomes.bolsover.gov.uk/oalive/ibsxmlpr.p?docid=home


 

 20 

Any application forms that are not fully completed or, where verification evidence has 
not been provided, cannot be processed meaning that an applicant will not be able to 
access the housing register until the information is fully completed and assessed. 
 
The Council will make any enquiries it considers necessary in order to verify and 
assess an application for housing. This may involve contacting previous landlords, 
health or medical advisors, police etc. Applications will be processed within a 
reasonable period of time (relative to the particulars facts given in the application) after 
all documentation has been received.  
 
If accepted onto the Housing Register the applicant will be informed of:  
 
1) The band they have been placed in (this determines priority)  
2) The date of application (this is used to determine priority within the band allocated)  
3) The size and type of properties for which they can bid 
4) Their application reference number (applicants will need this to bid)  
5) How to seek a review against their banding if they think it is wrong.  
 
If an application to join the housing register is refused the applicant will be informed in 
writing and will have a right to review the decision made.  
 
2: Who can apply to join the Housing Register?  
 
The Housing Register is open to anyone over the age of 18 years who has a housing 
need, unless they come within one of the ‘ineligible’ or ‘non qualification’ categories 
set out in section 2 of the policy.  
 
A person can apply to join the Housing Register if their current address is their only 
home, or sole residence, and they are not already registered through someone else’s 
housing application. 
 
3: Persons entitled to be considered as part of the application 
 
Sole applications or joint applications may be accepted. Joint applicants will be 
treated as one application. The housing circumstances of the whole household will 
be considered in assessing housing need.  
 
Persons entitled to assistance must be members of the applicant’s immediate family 
who normally reside with the applicant. Any other person or persons will only be 
considered as part of the household if the council is satisfied that it is reasonable for 
that person to reside with the applicant. This will normally exclude lodgers or anyone 
sub-letting from the applicant. 
 
Applicants should only include persons on their application who will be a permanent 
member of their household and who will be occupying the accommodation offered as 
their only or principal home. 
 
People who usually live with the applicant but are temporarily absent due to 
circumstances beyond their control (for example, they are in prison on a short-term 
sentence, or in the care of the local authority, staying in hospital, or undertaking a 

62



 

 21 

college or university course), may be considered as a ‘usual’ household member at 
the discretion of the council, and depending on the facts presented.  
 
Specifically, a person’s housing application can include the following household 
members: 
 

a) spouses or civil partners where the applicant lives with and/or intends to live 
with their spouse or civil partner; 

b) partners where the applicant is currently cohabiting with a member of the 
same or opposite sex; 

c) children who reside with and are dependent upon the applicant. Children are 
defined as under 18 for these purposes; 

d) a carer, where the council decides that on the evidence there is a need for a 
live-in carer. Note: even if a carer is in receipt of Carer’s Allowance this does 
not necessarily mean that it is necessary for them to reside with the person 
who is being cared for. An application to include a carer will be assessed 
based on whether there is a need to provide live-in support. In these 
circumstances the applicant must provide supporting evidence from other 
agencies e.g., Social Care or a health professional. Note: the provision of 
overnight care would not automatically result in the inclusion of the carer in 
the application. An overnight carer may not require a bedroom as they would 
be expected to stay awake to provide that care. 

e) any other household member such as an adult child where it is accepted that 
they are currently living with the applicant, and this isn’t a short term or 
temporary arrangement. Decisions on whether any other adult relative can be 
included will be at the discretion of the council; 

f) family members who do not currently reside in the UK cannot be added to a 
Housing Needs Register application. 

 
The council will normally carry out a visit to the applicant’s current residence if their 
priority is sufficient for an allocation of housing under this Allocation Scheme. Visits 
conducted will include an inspection of the accommodation and facilities and are 
usually arranged by appointment.  
 
Joint tenancies are normally granted by the Council or a Private Registered Provider 
where applicants have a long-term commitment, for example, married, or unmarried 
couples, or civil partners. This decision is for the Council or the relevant Private 
Registered Provider offering accommodation, who will decide whether to allow a joint 
tenancy depending on the circumstances.  
 
4: Households with access to children/shared residency order or Child 
Arrangement Orders  
 
As part of the assessment process the Council will record whether the applicant claims 
to have children that live with them part of the week and whether or not this 
arrangement is set by the court or not.  
 
The Council will adopt the test set out in Section 189(1)(b) of Part 7 of the Housing Act 
1996 to decide whether any child both lives with and is dependent on the applicant. 

63



 

 22 

Unless this test is passed an applicant will only be able to be considered for the size 
of accommodation relevant to their circumstances.   
 
Following this assessment there will be cases where it is agreed that children live with 
the applicant on a ‘shared arrangement’ even though they do not exclusively live with 
the applicant.  
 
In these cases, even though the child/children can be included as part of the 
application there will be a number of factors that will be considered when deciding 
what size accommodation can be offered. These factors include:  
 
a) The ability of the applicant to afford the rent with or without help from benefits 
 
b) The availability and popularity of family housing in any area that an applicant 

expresses a preference to live in. For example, a partner housing association may 
be willing to be more flexible where a vacancy relates to a flat than a house as long 
as the rent is assessed as being affordable.  

 
For households with access to children through a Child Arrangement Order, the 
council will adopt the test set out in Section 189(1)(b) of Part 7 of the Housing Act 
1996 to decide whether any child both lives with and is dependent on the applicant. 
Unless this test is passed an applicant will only be able to be considered for the size 
of accommodation relevant to their circumstances.   
 
5: Applications from Care Leavers  
 
Young people under the age of 21 who have been or are still in the care of 
Derbyshire County Council’s Children’s Services, and people aged from 21 up to the 
age of 25 who are receiving support from the Children’s Social Care Personal 
Advisor can be accepted on to the housing register and receive priority housing. The 
local connection criteria will normally be waivered for this group (see exceptions to 
the local connection rules in section 2) to enable the right care and support to be put 
in place.   
 
“Care leavers” means persons who are former relevant children (within the meaning 
given by section 23C(1) of the Children Act 1989).  The statutory guidance Section 3 
of the Children & Social Work Act 2017 widened the criteria to introduce a new duty 
to provide Personal Advisers (PA) to support all care leavers up to the age of 25, if 
they want this support.  Click on the link below to see the statutory guidance.   
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach
ment_data/file/683701/Extending_Personal_Adviser_support_to_all_care_leavers_to
_age_25.pdf 
 
6: Applications from elected council members, staff members or relations 
 
To ensure the council is seen to be treating all applicants fairly, any application for 
housing or rehousing from members of the council or employees of the council must 
be disclosed.  
 

64

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/683701/Extending_Personal_Adviser_support_to_all_care_leavers_to_age_25.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/683701/Extending_Personal_Adviser_support_to_all_care_leavers_to_age_25.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/683701/Extending_Personal_Adviser_support_to_all_care_leavers_to_age_25.pdf


 

 23 

If an applicant has a connection with the Council they are treated no differently than 
any other applicant.  However, before any offer of accommodation is made this must 
be authorised by the Assistant Director for Housing Management or the Chief 
Executive. For this purpose an applicant with a connection includes the following 
circumstances plus the level of authorisation required: 
 

• Any applicant who is a current elected member of the Council, or a former 
elected member of the Council – (CEO) 

• Any applicant who is a current member of staff of the Council (AD) 

• Any applicant who is a current member of the Housing Service (CEO) 

• Any applicant who is a former member of staff of the Housing Service within 
the past 10 years - (AD) 

• A close relative of any current member of the Council’s Housing Service 
defined as mother, father, son, daughter, brother, sister, partner, nephew, 
niece, uncle, aunt, grandparent, or grandchild -  partners and people living 
together are treated in the same was as if they were married. (AD) 

 
Canvassing is not allowed in any circumstances by, or on behalf of, a councillor or 
member of staff. 
 
7: Applications from ex-offenders from a Prison or Institution of care  
 
The Homeless Reduction Act 2017 specifies that statutory agencies including 
prisons (and care institutes) should refer to the council those people who are either 
homeless or at risk of being homeless upon release.   
 
Ex-offenders can apply for help with their housing if they are homeless now, or due 
to leave prison or an institutional care facility and don't have anywhere to stay on 
release. 
 
On referral we will work with the prisons Resettlement Team to provide help and/or 
advice in accordance with the statutory guidance of the Homeless Reductions Act 
2017.   
 
As well as the Resettlement Team, we may work with other organisations as 
appropriate to determine what support may be require for the applicant to live 
independently and to help sustain a tenancy, for example, the Probation Service, 
Community Rehabilitation Team or Youth Offending Team. 
  
When a member of an applicant’s household is in prison and not applying for 
accommodation in their own right, this person may be included in the applicant’s 
household (for the purpose of the allocations criteria) 4 weeks before their confirmed 
release date from prison. 
 
Applicants or members of their household who are leaving prison or institutional care 
will also be assessed in accordance with the Risk Management procedure (see point 
9 below on risk management). 
 
 
 

65



 

 24 

8: Checks into any court cases or unspent criminal convictions 
 
All applicants and members of their prospective household will be requested to 
disclose any pending court cases or unspent criminal convictions.  
 
The council may use any information disclosed (or any other information obtained 
during the assessment or following registration) to ascertain whether the applicant 
should be disqualified from joining, or from remaining on the Housing  
Register, after applying the serious unacceptable behaviour rule.  
 
Spent convictions are not required to be disclosed and will not be taken into account 
in assessing a person’s eligibility to join the Housing Register. The assessment will 
consider whether there is evidence of any current serious unacceptable behaviour 
regardless of whether a person has been convicted in the past for that behaviour.  
 
If the council decides that, on the information obtained during the assessment 
process, there is a pressing need for a Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) check, 
or further information from the Probation Service, relevant inquires will be made.  
 
Information gained will not automatically exclude an applicant from the Housing 
Register. Information received may also be used to make informed decisions about 
the suitability of any property that may be offered.  
 
All assessments will be carried out in accordance with data protection and 
information sharing policies and other legal requirements. 
 
9: The requirement for references   
 
All applicants who are currently in rented accommodation  (excluding Bolsover 
District Council tenants) will normally need a reference from their current landlord to 
support their application. 
 
During the application process the applicant is asked to provide contact details for 
their current landlord and are asked if Bolsover District Council can make contact for 
a reference. The Housing Admin team will then make contact with the landlord 
directly guiding them to the ‘Self-Service’ Landlord Reference Form via a dedicated 
link. Once submitted and reviewed by the Housing Needs Assistant the application 
will be updated to reflect that the Landlord Reference has been received. All 
instances where an applicant has indicated that they do not want us to contact their 
landlord for a reference will be reviewed by the Housing Needs Officer on a case-by-
case basis and the reasons why the applicant does not want the Council to contact 
the landlord will be considered.  
 
At the time of allocation if the reference is over 6 months old an additional up to date 
reference will be requested.  If a landlord does not provide an up to date reference 
within 7 days the applicant will be contacted and asked a series of questions about 
their history of behaviour and their ability to conduct a tenancy (this is in addition to 
any financial assessment that is carried out).  This information will be recorded on a 
‘Declaration of Truth’ form.  The information from this form will be used to complete a 
risk assessment of the applicant before any firm offer of accommodation is made.  

66



 

 25 

The tenant will be made aware that if a tenancy is granted and the information is 
incorrect, the council may take action to evict the tenant. 
For clarity, under no circumstances can the Declaration of Truth replace the initial 
landlord reference as this is a requirement of registration. 
 
10: Assessing Applications 
  
In order to assess an applicant’s housing need and their place on the Housing 
Register the policy has adopted a ‘needs based’ banding system detailed in section 
5.  
 
Any band awarded reflects an applicant’s housing need with the higher the band 
awarded reflecting the greater level of housing need.   
 
Applicants will be required to sign a declaration, or to give informed consent, to 
confirm their understanding that: 
  
a. The information given is correct and that they will notify the Council of any 

change in their circumstances. 
b. Enquiries will be made concerning their eligibility for housing and level of priority.  
c. Information will be provided to other partner organisations that are part of the 

scheme. 
 
Once an applicant provides information, the Council will process that information 
under Article 6 GDPR. The processing is necessary under the ‘Public Task’ purpose 
and is necessary for the Council to perform a task in the public interest or for its 
official functions, in this case to meet its legal responsibility to assess housing 
applications, and we are satisfied that the task or function has a clear basis in law. 
 
It is the responsibility of the applicant to provide all the information requested to 
assess their circumstances, and to provide any supporting information or documents 
that are requested. Incomplete applications will not be made active until such time as 
the Council is satisfied that it has in its possession all of the information it requires to 
complete its assessment.  
 
All incomplete applications will be cancelled after a period of 28 days measured from 
the date further information has been requested. If cancelled this does not prevent 
the applicant making a subsequent application at a later date, although in such 
cases the applicant’s effective date of registration would not be backdated to the 
date of the earlier application.  
 
The Council may request information or a reference from an applicant’s current or 
previous social or private rented landlord.  
 
Where a social or private landlord does not reply any other information or records 
available will be checked to try to determine whether there have been any concerns 
over the way an applicant may have conducted their tenancy. An applicant should 
not be disadvantaged if, despite every effort, it is not possible to obtain a reference 
from their current or previous landlord.  
 

67



 

 26 

All applications are subject to verification checks and these may be applied:  
 
➢ At the point of initial application 
➢ Following any change of circumstance notified to the Council by the applicant 
➢ Following any routine validation audits 
➢ Following an annual review of the application 
➢ At the point of an offer of accommodation 
➢ At the point of letting 
 
11: The requirement to inform the council of any change of circumstances 
 
Applicants are required to inform the council in writing or by updating the portal of 
any material change in their circumstances that may affect their priority for housing. 
Proofs will need to be provided for the assessment to take place. Examples of a 
change in circumstances include but are not limited to:  
 

a) a change of address or contact details, for either themselves or members of 
their household 

b) a change in their medical condition or disability (either existing or newly 
acquired)  

c) additional family members or other people they wish to add to their application 
(It will be for the council to decide whether they will allow additional people to 
join the application) 

d) any family member or any other person on the application who has left their 
household; and/or  

e) any significant changes in income, savings, or assets, that may require a 
reassessment under the income and savings qualification rule.  

 
Applications may be temporarily suspended while the council assesses the 
information provided by the applicant and completes further enquiries that may be 
necessary.  
 
Where following a change in an applicant‘s circumstances this results in a change to 
the applicant’s application or banding, they will be informed in writing.  
 
Note: on allocation of accommodation, verification checks into the applicant’s current 
circumstances are likely to be carried out again by the council or Private Registered 
Provider Housing Association that owns the property advertised. This is to ensure 
the allocation is being made in accordance with the applicant’s current housing 
circumstances and needs at the time of a prospective offer. Therefore, a failure to 
notify the council of a change in circumstances may lead to an offer of housing being 
withdrawn and the application suspended whilst changes that were not notified to the 
council are assessed. 
 
12: Cancelling applications 
 
An application will be cancelled from the Housing Needs Register in the following 
circumstances: 
 

a) at the request of an applicant 

68



 

 27 

b) where an applicant does not respond to an application review, within the 
specified time set out in any correspondence sent to them 

c) where the Council or Private Registered Provider has housed the applicant  
d) when a tenant completes a mutual exchange 
e) where the applicant moves and does not provide a contact address 
f) where the applicant has died 
g) where, at the housing application or any reassessment, an applicant has not 

supplied information requested within 28 days 
h) where an applicant already registered becomes ineligible or is disqualified 

under the rules adopted for this policy  
i) where the applicant buys a property either through the Right to Buy or Right to 

Acquire or through the open market or inherits a property. 
 
Any applicant whose application has been cancelled has the right to ask for a review 
of that decision. 
 
13: Reviewing the application  
 
Every active applicant on the Register will have their application reviewed annually, or 
more frequently if required, to ensure the application information is kept up to date and 
in order to efficiently manage the administration of the register.  
 
At the anniversary of the application date, or when carrying out a review, each 
applicant will be contacted, usually by letter or email, to confirm their application is still 
required and will be asked to check their application details are still correct against 
their online portal and update them where necessary. In the instance of an applicant 
being unable to check and update their online application via the online portal, a paper 
review form will be issued and should be returned within the timescales provided.   
 
If an applicant has not responded after 28 days a second reminder will be sent by 
email (or by letter, if the applicant does not have an email account). If no response is 
received to the renewal reminder then the application will be cancelled.  
 
14: Deliberate worsening of circumstances 
 
Where there is evidence that an applicant has deliberately made their housing 
situation worse in order to gain a higher banding, the assessment of their needs will 
be based on the circumstances before the change in their situation brought about by 
their actions to deliberately worsen their circumstances.  
 
Examples of deliberately worsening circumstances include: 
 

• applicants who have allowed family members or others to move into their 
property, who previously had suitable accommodation or the financial means 
to secure their own accommodation, and this has resulted in the property 
being overcrowded. 

• homeowners who have transferred their property to another family member 
within the last five years from the date they make their application to the 
Housing Needs Register. 

69



 

 28 

• applicants who have given up affordable and suitable private rented 
accommodation that they are able to maintain to move in with other relatives 
or friends, creating a situation of overcrowding. 

• requesting or colluding with a landlord or family member to issue them with a 
notice to leave their accommodation.  

 
These are examples only. There may be other circumstances in which the council 
decides that an applicant has deliberately worsened their circumstances. 
 
 
 
 
  

70



 

 29 

 
Section 4: General Rules and Conditions 

 
 

1: The Council’s statement on choice 
 
It is a legal requirement for the Council to include within its Allocation Policy a 
statement on choice.  
 
The Council will let the majority of properties (but not all properties) through a system 
called ‘choice-based lettings’ (CBL). This means the majority of properties will be 
advertised and applicants will be able to ‘bid’ on properties that suit their needs.   
 
Applicants who are eligible to be considered for properties under the policy will be 
able to express a preference for an area in which they would like to live and the type 
of property they would prefer. See the table in Appendix 4 for eligibility of property 
types. However, the ability to satisfy their preferences is extremely limited by the lack 
of available social housing in the Bolsover district.  
 
The considerable housing pressures faced in Bolsover limit the degree of choice that 
can be offered, along with the responsibility the council has to offer housing to 
applicants in urgent housing need. These pressures include the need to reduce the 
financial impact on the council for households placed into temporary accommodation 
under a homelessness duty.   
 
Therefore, expressing a preference over where an applicant would prefer to live 
does not mean that preference can be met, or that an applicant won’t be offered 
suitable accommodation outside of their preferred area.  
 
An applicant may be asked at time of registration to state any area in which they 
believe they cannot live due to fear of violence, harassment, or domestic abuse. The 
assessment of their application will then consider the facts and decide whether the 
applicant is allowed to restrict areas.  
 
Priority for Council and Private Registered Provider properties being let as secure, 
flexible, or assured tenancies will be determined by housing band, with those 
applicants in Band A having a greater priority than those in Bands B and C, and 
those in Band B having a greater priority than those in Bands C. Within bands, 
priority will normally be determined by the date the applicant is registered in that 
band.    
 
In selecting properties to allocate the council will take into account the following 
factors:  

• the number of bedrooms required (as measured against the criteria adopted in 
this policy). 

• any essential requirement concerning the type or location of housing  

• the housing band into which the applicant’s case falls, and 

• the date registered within that band (except for when a property may be 
allocated outside of band and date order (see section below for details) 
 

71



 

 30 

The Council will not normally take into account:  
 

• non-essential preferences concerning the location or type of rehousing 
requested by the applicant, or 

• an applicant’s preference concerning an allocation of a Council property or a 
nomination to a Private Registered Provider Housing Association property. 

 
2: When the council may choose to make a direct offer outside of the ‘choice 
based lettings’ (CBL) system and sometimes outside of the band and date 
order system 
 
There may be circumstances in which there are urgent strategic, operational, or 
financial reasons to make a direct offer of housing outside of CBL, or outside of the 
normal band and date order criteria. Specific examples include but are not limited to:  
  

a) people that need to move due to a fire or flood, or severe storm damage to 
their home. 
 

b) where there is an evidenced threat to life in the area in which an applicant 
currently lives for example, people who are at imminent risk of violence and 
are to be housed through a Witness Protection Programme.  

 
c) people who it has been agreed must be housed urgently as part of a multi-

agency protocol such as a MAPPA, MARRAC case where it is agreed there is 
a need to manage where a person should be housed. 

 
d) where a vacant adapted property or a property designed to disability 

standards becomes available it may be offered to those households with a 
need for this property type regardless of their band or the date they were 
registered. 

 
e) in the case of a secure or flexible council tenant who is willing to transfer from 

a property they do not require, and which is particularly suitable for an 
applicant with special or support needs. 

 
f) applicants who have given up their secure council tenancy whilst they are in 

prison. 
 

g) where an applicant is homeless and in temporary accommodation and owed a 
Section 189B (2) Relief duty or 193(2) Main duty under the Housing Act 1996 
and the council wishes to make a direct offer to move applicants out of 
temporary accommodation to manage any budgetary or legal requirements 
placed on the council.  

 
h) persons whom the council has a duty to rehouse under Section 39 of the Land 

Compensation Act 1973. 
 

i) a vulnerable applicant where the outcome of an assessment is that a 
managed let in a particular suitable location is the best letting solution for that 
applicant; or 

72



 

 31 

j) Special allocation arrangements may also apply in respect of properties 
available for letting on new-build developments.  
 

k) Where the previous tenant of a vacant property has perpetrated anti-social 
behaviour and there may be a need to let that property sensitively in respect 
of understanding the impact on the community of the previous tenant.  

 
Decisions to allocate properties outside of band and date order system will be 
recorded, with the reasons why an allocation has been made.  
 
Note: social housing tenants that may be at risk due to, for example significant repair 
issues will be decanted and made a direct offer outside of this Allocation Scheme. 
Any offer will be a management initiated move and these transfers sit outside of the 
legal requirements set under allocations legislation. 
 
3: The Councils policy on choice: Penalty for refusing 2 suitable offers.   
 
Any applicant who refuses 2 suitable offers within a 12-month period will be suspended 
from the housing register for 12 months and therefore not allowed to bid. They will 
however, keep their band and effective date for that band whilst they are suspended. 
After 12 months they will be allowed to bid again and would only be further penalised 
if they refused 2 further offers ina 12 month period starting from the date the 
suspension was lifted.  
 
This adopted rule is intended to tackle the problem of some applicants making a 
successful bid and then refusing the property offered, which has the impact of 
increasing the time it takes to re-let that vacant homes.  
 
The Council will determine whether an offer was reasonable for an applicant to accept 
using the reasonable offer criteria set out at appendix 1. An offer is to be taken to 
mean where an applicant has been contacted after the bidding cycle (or contacted 
with a direct offer) and offered a viewing for a specific property. If an applicant who is 
contacted refuses to view the property where a viewing has been offered this will be 
taken as a refusal and will count as one of the applicant’s 2 offers unless the Council 
accepts the reasons given for refusing to view or failing to attend the viewing that has 
been arranged.  
 
4: Choice and offers made to any applicant owed a statutory homelessness duty 
under Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996 
 
For applicants owed any statutory homelessness duty under Part 7 of the Housing Act 
1996, the need to offer suitable housing is considered to be more important than 
allowing an applicant to wait for an offer of accommodation in a location where they 
would prefer to live. Therefore, there is therefore no minimum time set that an applicant 
owed a statutory homeless duty will be allowed to bid for social housing before a direct 
offer can be considered.  
 
An offer of accommodation for an applicant owed a statutory homeless duty could be 
either a private rented property, or a social rented property. Should the applicant 
refuse an offer which is considered both suitable for their needs and reasonable then, 

73



 

 32 

subject to the Council’s homelessness review procedure, the homelessness duty 
owed will be discharged and they will lose any priority status granted to them based 
on the homelessness duty owed.  
 
In these circumstances the Council will then assess whether they have another 
housing need that means they should be awarded bands A-C. If they don’t, they will 
be removed from the Housing Register.     
 
A statutory homeless duty is defined as:  
a) The prevention of homelessness duty under Section 195(2)  
b) The ‘relief of homelessness duty under Section 189B(2)   
c) Where the relief duty has come to an end and an applicant is then owed a section 

190 Intentionally homeless temporary accommodation duty to provide them with a 
reasonable opportunity to secure alternative accommodation for occupation 
(section 190(2) duty),  

d) The section 193(2) Main Homelessness duty or the section 193C(4) ‘reduced’ 
section 193 duty  

 
5: When an application may be suspended  
 
An application can be suspended for various reasons set out in this policy. Where an 
applicant is suspended the applicant remains on the Housing Register and continues 
to accumulate waiting time within their band.  They cannot however express an 
interest (bid) or receive any offer of accommodation.  An applicant can be 
suspended for various reasons which include 
 

• Waiting for verification information 

• Investigation of incomplete or inconsistent details on the application 

• Awaiting proof of change of circumstances 

• Applicants in supported accommodation who are not ready for move on 

• Some applicants with rent arrears (see section 2 non qualification rule for 
details of when an applicant will be allowed to qualify but suspended from 
bidding) 

• Applicants considered not to have mental capacity  
 
6: If the applicant is not capable of entering into a contract 
 
Where an applicant who has qualified to join the housing register is assessed as 
lacking the mental capacity to understand the contractual responsibilities of a 
tenancy they will be suspended from being considered for any offer of 
accommodation. The Council cannot enter into a contractual agreement with 
applicants who are unable to understand the contract.  Mental capacity can change 
and if the applicant, following their suspension, is subsequently assessed as 
possession sufficient mental capacity the suspension can be lifted.  
 
 
 
 
 

74



 

 33 

7: Assessing whether a band should be awarded for any impact of an 
applicant’s current housing on a medical condition or disability   
 
Priority banding may be given if applicants with a  local connection to the district 
suffering ill-health, which is aggravated by their housing conditions and which would 
be helped by a move elsewhere. 
 
When assessing whether to award Band A or B or no priority, the council will follow 
the five-stage assessment set out below:   
 
1) Is the medical/disability issue serious enough for a priority banding to be 

considered?  
 

2) If the medical condition is serious enough for a priority banding to be considered 
the assessing officer should then decide if there is a direct link between the 
identified medical problem and the applicant’s current housing 
accommodation/situation, i.e., on the facts obtained (from the applicant and any 
medical information or reports submitted including any advice from an 
independent medical advisor or occupational therapist) does the assessing officer 
accept that the applicant’s current housing accommodation/circumstances are 
making their medical condition or disability substantially worse, or will make it 
worse? 

  
3) In practical terms, the officer will consider the adverse effect this has on the 

applicant’s ability to manage day-to-day tasks in their current home. The 
applicant’s current housing accommodation/circumstances may be impacting on 
their medical condition or disability but not to the extent that an award of Band A 
or B priority should be granted under the criteria adopted for the Scheme. There 
are examples listed in appendix 2 for when an award of Band A or B may be 
awarded, and they are used to guide the officer when making their decision.   

 
4) Before making an award, the assessing officer needs to be satisfied there is a 

realistic expectation that the impact on the identified medical condition/disability 
would be removed or significantly improved through the provision of alternative 
accommodation.  

 
5) If the officer is satisfied that the impact on the identified medical 

condition/disability would be removed or significantly improved, they would then 
decide whether to award Band A or B depending on the severity of the impact. 
The Housing Needs Officer will make their final decision based on a medical 
adviser's recommendations and the medical adviser will be guided by this five-
stage assessment process.  

 
As an example circumstances may be: 
 
Physical Health:  

• Crisis or volatile situation, requiring re-housing in the very near future in order 
to avoid serious repercussions on health.  

• Serious physical dysfunction or deterioration. 
 

75



 

 34 

Mental illness/learning disability:  

• High risk or actual breakdown.  

• To live in ordinary housing is essential to avoid loss of life.  

• Serious mental ill health or deterioration (including severe PTSD caused by 
serving in the Armed Forces) 
 

Environment:  

• Life threatening situation developing if not re-housed away from existing 
home/neighbourhood.  

• Dangerous or unsafe physical environment 
 
8: When medical priority will not normally be awarded 
 
Medical priority will not normally be awarded in the following circumstances: 
 

a) where the applicant has a health issue, however severe, that is not impacted 
by the accommodation occupied 

b) health problems that are not affected by housing or cannot be improved by 
moving 

c) where a move would only make a marginal improvement to the applicant’s 
condition 

d) medical impacts caused by housing defects that are likely to be rectified in a 
reasonable time frame 

e) where another reasonable course of action is available to the applicant to 
resolve their difficulties  

f) time-related medical problems (e.g., pregnancy-related problems or a broken 
leg) 

g) Disrepair problems not impacting significantly on the applicant’s medical 
condition. (Note: under the Scheme an applicant may receive priority 
separately for living in unfit or unsatisfactory housing depending on the 
assessment made of their circumstances and impact) 

h) overcrowding not impacting significantly on the applicant’s medical condition. 
(Note: under the Scheme an applicant may receive priority separately for 
being overcrowded)   

i) if the situation can be resolved by equipment or minor adaptations which can 
be implemented in a reasonable period of time. 

 
Medical assessments are not just related to banding. The council will also consider 
recommendations for future housing, for example regarding the floor level a 
household may need and whether an extra bedroom is required due to a child having 
for example autism, ADHD, Asperger’s, sensory processing difficulties, and other 
mental or physical health problems.  
 
An applicant or member of their household who considers themselves to have a 
disability will only be given housing priority banding (based on the disability), if the 
property is assessed as no longer suitable for their needs. If the assessment 
indicates that a move to a different type of property would be more beneficial to the 
household’s health and wellbeing, then priority will be awarded. For example, an 
applicant with a disability who finds it difficult to walk up steps would be awarded 
priority if their current property had stairs (and no adaptation to help), they would not 

76



 

 35 

be awarded any priority if their current housing was level access or contained 
adaptations to make the property suitable.  
 
9: Need for an Adapted Property 
 
An applicant with an assessed need for specific adaptations will not normally be 
offered a property where these adaptations are not already fitted, this excludes minor 
adaptations such as handrails.  Exceptions to this can be considered only after a full 
assessment has been carried out by the Occupational Therapists, and this includes 
options for adapting the applicant’s current property.  
 
If an applicant has been awarded additional priority as they (or a member of their 
household) have a medical need, accommodation will only be given for a housing 
type that will resolve the housing need as determined in the medical assessment. 
The applicant will not be offered an unsuitable property.   
 
If an applicant with a need for adaptations moves into a property and has neglected 
to inform the Council of their disability needs, the Council will not automatically carry 
out these adaptations, or will consider charging the applicant for the cost of the 
works. For more details the applicant can ask for a copy of the Welfare Adaptations 
Policy.  
 
10: When the Council has provided adaptations to the current home 
 
If a person has an adaptation fitted to their current home to meet their needs, 
(regardless of whether this is a Council property) and the person has signed an 
undertaking to remain in that home for a period of time, the applicant will not be 
considered for rehousing until a period of 3 years after the fitting of the adaptation, or 
other period determined by any grant conditions. If there has been a significant 
change in circumstances, as assessed by the Housing Needs Officers, this 
timeframe may be waived and the decision will be recorded 
 
Exemptions to this provision are Council properties where the adaptations are no 
longer needed by any member of the household. 
 
11: Allocations to bungalows and adapted properties 
 
Particular care needs to be taken in allocating bungalows and sheltered housing.  
Such properties can only be allocated to people who have a need for the facilities 
provided. An incorrect allocation could have an impact on the: 
 

• Concessionary Television Licences to other residents 

• Contract requirements which provides support for some residents, and 

• Perceived danger and insecurity felt by current vulnerable residents and their 
families. 

• Sheltered accommodation is currently excluded from the Right to Buy.   
 
Inappropriate allocation may lead to this being questioned and some properties 
could be lost to the Right to Buy legislation.  
 

77



 

 36 

To make the best use of housing stock and to reduce voids, where homes have a 
minimum age limit and every attempt has been made to offer the property to 
someone above that age, we may consider allocation to younger applicants.  This 
can be for individual properties or a group of properties, for example:- upper floor 
flats that are normally allocated to applicants over the age of 60 may allow applicants 
over the age of 50 to be considered. If this is the case it will be made clear on the 
property advert.    
 
In all cases homes with aids and adaptations will be restricted to applicants with 
mobility needs in the first instance. 
 
Where allocations to bungalows and adapted properties are made where there are 
other family members (with the exception of any partner or joint tenant), the tenant 
will be informed that should a succession occur due to any unforeseen 
circumstances, or the tenant needs to move out of the property with no foreseeable 
return and there is no other household member with the need for the facilities in that 
property, the Council will seek to move the remaining family into alternative suitable 
accommodation. 

 
12: ‘Move On’ Accommodation 
 
This covers applicants from Bolsover District or who have a local connection who are 
currently living in temporary supported accommodation and are requesting to move 
as part of a planned support process. 
 
People leaving temporary supported accommodation is defined within the Derbyshire 
Move On Plans Protocol (MOPP), more information on the MOPP can be found on 
Derbyshire County Council website at www.derbyshire.gov.uk.    
 
Where the applicant is leaving temporary or ‘move on’ accommodation, referrals will 
be considered using the Derbyshire ‘Move on Protocol.’ 
 
Note where a person who is assessed as ready to leave supported accommodation 
does not meet the residency requirement there is an exception for applicants to 
whom the Council has accepted the main homelessness duty under section 193 (2) 
of the Housing Act 1996.   

 
13: Local Lettings Policies 
 
Local lettings initiatives may be applied to meet the particular needs of a local ward or 
area or to address sustainability and community issues to ensure that the housing 
allocation scheme is able to contribute to building sustainable communities. Note all 
new developments will be subject to a local lettings plan.  
 
Local lettings plans will be tailored to fit local situations in well-defined communities 
(such as a particular block of flats, an individual street, or new housing development, 
or may be applied to a parish or a village in a rural area). Each local lettings policy will 
be based on a detailed analysis of relevant information gathered from a variety of 
sources and may include, for example, evidence from internal departments, partner 
Housing Associations, local Councillors, and the community itself. (Evidence may 

78



 

 37 

include information such as tenant profiling, the incidence of anti-social behaviour, and 
stock turnover in a particular block, street or area, a neighbourhood plan or the need 
to provide housing for local people in rural villages and parishes). 
 
See appendix 4 for full details of how local lettings policies will be agreed and applied.  
 
15: Assessing overcrowding and the bedroom size that will be allocated to 
applicants 
 
For the purpose of assessing overcrowding and the bedroom size to be allocated to a 
household for rehousing purposes the following criteria will be used: 
 
1 bedroom will be allowed for: 
 
a) Each single adult   
b) Each couple  
c) 2 children of the same gender under 21  
d) 2 children under 10 (regardless of gender) 
e) Any additional children under 10 can share the same bedroom where that room is 

110 square feet or more (10.2 square metres) and this would not result in sex 
overcrowding (except foster children who can have their own room).   

 
Notes re the above criteria:  

 
1) All foster children (also applies when no foster children live there as long as the 

room isn’t empty for more than 20 weeks) 
2) Each adult child in the Armed Forces or each reservist would be allowed their own 

bedroom where the evidence is they have no other accommodation when ‘home’ 
on leave 

3) Adult children over the age of 18 should only be regarded as part of the household 
if they have always lived with the applicant, otherwise the non-dependent criteria 
may apply. 

4) Children are not considered as part of the household of the applicant if the children 
have a main permanent residence elsewhere.  

5) Families headed by a single parent will be treated in the same way as a family 
headed by a couple. 

6) Two people living together will be treated as a couple regardless of their marital 
status or sexual orientation. 

7) Couples should have always have their own bedrooms and not share with children.  
8) Couples can be treated as needing two bedrooms only if there is a medical need 

and the Council’s medical assessment agrees with this need.  
9) A child up to the age of 1 will be disregarded when measuring overcrowding but 

counted for the purposes of the size of accommodation an applicant would be 
entitled to.  

10) Children over the age of 18 should only be regarded as part of the household if 
they have always lived with the applicant. If they have moved away and then moved 
back with the applicant, for example after a relationship breakdown they will be 
treated as a non-dependent (excluding members of the Armed Forces  who 
continue to live with their parents but are away on operational duty and Students 
who are away on a temporary basis i.e. at university or college). 

79



 

 38 

11) Non-dependent children will only be considered as a member of the household if 
they have been living with the applicant as their permanent full-time residence for 
a period of over 12 months. This may be waivered for non-dependents who give 
or receive care from the applicant. 

12) Other non-dependents who have lived with the applicants for less than 12 months 
will be disregarded. 

13) Commercial lodgers are never considered as non-dependents. (In this context 
commercial Lodgers are non-family members who are receiving board and/or 
lodgings in return for payment, or payment in kind). 

14) Any property with 2 reception rooms will have one counted as a bedroom 
15) Applicants may be permitted to bid for properties with one fewer bedrooms than 

their assessed bedroom need.  
16) A severely disabled adult or child who needs their own room but would be 

expected to share under the criteria above if the Council assess that there is an 
essential need for an extra bedroom (see appendix 3 for more details as to how a 
claim for an extra bedroom will be assessed).  

17) Carers who provide regular overnight care. Note: other dependent family members 
or ‘live in’ carers in receipt of carers allowance will be taken into account when 
deciding the size of accommodation that the household is entitled to. The fact that 
there is overnight care will not necessarily mean an extra bedroom will be allowed. 
The decision will be based on the facts of the case including: 
➢ the number of days overnight care is provided.  
➢ whether there is a requirement for the carer to remain awake and  
➢ what other facilities are available in the home. 
 

16: Data protection 
 
Bolsover Council will ensure personal information of all applicants (new, existing, 
and deleted) is: 
 

a) stored lawfully; 
b) processed in a fair and transparent manner; 
c) collected for a specific, explicit and legitimate purpose; 
d) kept up to date and held until it is no longer required; and 
e) shared only with other organisations for legitimate processing. 

 
The Council’s privacy notice, which sets out when and why it collects personal 
information about people who access its services, how it uses it, how it keeps it 
secure, and individuals’ rights, can be found on its website:  
https://www.bolsover.gov.uk/data-protection-cctv-and-foi/251-privacy-statements 
 
The UK-GDPR and the Data Protection Act 2018 provide individuals with a right to 
request access to any of their personal data held by the Council and a right to know 
where the data came from, how it is used, and why it is held. Such a request is 
called a “subject access request” and applies to personal data in housing files. 
Information about making a subject access request is available on the Council’s 
website: 
https://www.bolsover.gov.uk/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=101 

80

https://www.bolsover.gov.uk/data-protection-cctv-and-foi/251-privacy-statements
https://www.bolsover.gov.uk/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=101


 

 39 

Applicants must state their name and provide proof of their identity, such as a copy 
of a passport, driving license, or recent utility bill. The Council will not usually charge 
a fee to deal with a subject access request.  
 
Once the Council has received the information and proof of ID, it must provide the 
requested information within one month. There is a limited range of exemptions from 
the right of subject access.  
 
17: Right to information 
 
Anyone has the right to request access to recorded information held by the council 
under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOIA). 
 
Requests under the FOIA must be made in writing using a form that can be 
downloaded from our website. 
https://www.bolsover.gov.uk/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=101 
 
Once a valid request has been reviewed the council must usually respond within 20 
working days.  
 
Requests made by individuals for their own personal data will be treated as “subject 
access requests” under the UK-GDPR and Data Protection Act 2018 (see section 
above for information).  
 
18: Equality, accessibility, and monitoring 
 
Bolsover Council is committed to ensuring that the Scheme, and the implementation 
of all associated guidance and procedures, are non-discriminatory, taking into 
account the needs of groups protected by the Equality Act 2010, the Human Rights 
Act 1998, and for children, Section 11 of the Children Act.  
 
To help the council identify the needs of applicants, the application form contains 
specific questions relating to vulnerability, ethnic origin, sexual orientation, disability, 
and other relevant criteria. The information obtained will be used to monitor the 
impact of the Scheme to enable a better understanding of people’s housing needs 
and ensure no one is discriminated against as a result of the way this Scheme has 
been framed or during the administration of it. 
 
Under the Equality Act 2010, and in particular Section 149 of the Public Sector 
Equality Duty, a council is required to give due regard to eliminate discrimination, 
advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations between those who share 
a protected characteristic and those who do not, when exercising a public function 
such as implementing their legal ‘Housing Allocation Policy’. 
 
The Council will ensure this Scheme complies with current equality legislation. It will 
be subject to a full Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) before it is adopted. The EIA 
will be regularly reviewed as information regarding the impact of the Scheme is 
obtained. A copy can be requested directly from the council.   
 
 

81

https://www.bolsover.gov.uk/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=101


 

 40 

19: Complaints 
 
Complaints are separate to the circumstances in which an applicant is entitled to 
seek a review of a decision made on their housing application. A request for a review 
of a decision made on an application should be made under the review procedure 
(set out in the section below) and not through the council’s complaints process.  
 
Where an applicant wishes to make a complaint about poor service, or the way they 
have been treated, this should be made using the self-service portal on the Council’s 
website. Access to the portal and information about how to make a complaint and 
how the Council will deal with it can be found at https://www.bolsover.gov.uk/c/177-
compliments-comments-and-
complaints#:~:text=You%20can%20make%20a%20compliment,one%20of%20our%
20Contact%20Centres 
 
Where a complaint relates to how an applicant has been dealt with under this policy 
an applicant has the right to continue with their complaint to the Local Government 
Ombudsman Service if they are unhappy with the response to their complaint. 
 
The Local Government Ombudsman is an independent service run by Central 
Government to make sure that Councils provide the required standard of service to 
their customers. 
 
The Ombudsman can investigate complaints about how the Council has done 
something, but they cannot question what has been done simply because someone 
did not agree with it. 
 
Website: www.lgo.org.uk 
 
20: When an applicant has a right to request a statutory review  
 
Under the housing legislation an applicant has a legal right to request a review of 
any of the following decisions reached by the council: 
 

a) a decision that an applicant is ineligible, or not a qualifying person to join the 
Housing Register 

b) a decision regarding which band an applicant has been awarded  
c) the priority date granted for the band awarded 
d) to remove an applicant from the Housing Register 
e) any decision about the facts of the case that has been used to assess their 

application including the decision the council has made regarding who can be 
included in the application 

f) where an applicant considers that a decision has been reached based on 
incorrect information. 

 
21: How a request for a review will be dealt with   
 
Applicants who are unhappy with a decision (listed above) made under the Allocation 
Scheme should in the first instance contact the Housing Allocations Team and 
explain why they think the decision is not correct or not reasonable. An initial 

82

https://www.bolsover.gov.uk/c/177-compliments-comments-and-complaints#:~:text=You%20can%20make%20a%20compliment,one%20of%20our%20Contact%20Centres
https://www.bolsover.gov.uk/c/177-compliments-comments-and-complaints#:~:text=You%20can%20make%20a%20compliment,one%20of%20our%20Contact%20Centres
https://www.bolsover.gov.uk/c/177-compliments-comments-and-complaints#:~:text=You%20can%20make%20a%20compliment,one%20of%20our%20Contact%20Centres
https://www.bolsover.gov.uk/c/177-compliments-comments-and-complaints#:~:text=You%20can%20make%20a%20compliment,one%20of%20our%20Contact%20Centres
http://www.lgo.org.uk/


 

 41 

informal review will then be undertaken by either the housing officer who dealt with 
their case or an equivalent officer.  
 
The applicant will be notified whether the decision still stands and the reasons for 
this usually within two working days via a telephone call, text, email, or letter.  
 
If an applicant wishes to take the matter further, they can make a request for a 
formal review of the decision which must be made within 21 days of receiving the 
decision. The request can be made verbally or in writing by letter or email. In these 
cases, the applicant will then be invited to make a written submission stating the 
reasons for their request for a review. Formal reviews will be conducted by a 
Housing Manager who will notify the applicant of the outcome of the review in 
writing, including the reasons for their decision. The council aims to notify the 
applicant within 56 days; however, this is a target timescale and may be longer 
depending on operational pressures.  
 
There is no right to request a review of a review decision. 
 
22: The Role of the HARP Panel 
 
Most decisions will be made by the assessing officer or the manager for the service 
where a decision is considered to need further scrutiny. However, there are a 
number of decisions where a case will be referred to the Housing Application Review 
Panel (HARP) due to the complexity of the decision to be made. There are no set 
criteria for when a decision will be referred to the HARP Panel. The Assistant 
Director for Housing Management or manager for the applications and allocations 
team will make a decision based on the facts and circumstances as to whether a 
decision needs to be considered by HARP or not.   
 
The HARP panel is made up of 2 members: 

• Housing Services Manager  

• Community Safety & Enforcement manager 

• Or an appropriate substitute of an appropriate seniority 
 
Either the Housing Services manager or Community Safety and Enforcement 
Manager must be in attendance.  
 
The panel will meet monthly, or as needed to consider urgent cases.  The panel will 
consider for example:  
 

➢ Decisions on whether to award Band A for medical, welfare or exceptional 
circumstances where the manager for the applications and allocations 
function is of the view that the case is not straightforward and would benefit 
from being considered by the Panel.  

➢ Complicated cases where on the facts and circumstances a decision is 
needed as to whether to exercise discretion, for example should discretion be 
applied where an applicant does not meet a qualification rule but has made a 
case for discretion to be applied and the facts presented are not 
straightforward.  

 

83



 

 42 

Minutes will be kept of each meeting and decisions noted. Applicants will be 
informed of their case within 10 working days of each meeting.  
 
  

84



 

 43 

 
Section 5: How an applicant’s housing needs and circumstances are 
assessed 
 

 
 
1: The Banding system that has been adopted by the Council  
 
The demand for social housing exceeds supply in Bolsover and therefore this policy 
prioritises the housing of applicants assessed as being in the greatest need. Once 
registered many applicants will still unfortunately, not have sufficient housing need to 
be offered a property.  
 
The banding system set out in this section will normally be used to decide when to 
make an offer of accommodation and to whom.  
 
The council has chosen to adopt a simple and transparent system creating four 
‘queues’ where people will normally be ranked by date order in each queue as long 
as they qualify to join the housing register. The housing bands are summarised 
below, and full details are then set out.  
 
Band A – Urgent priority statutory housing need to move: these are applicants 
that are owed a statutory award of ‘reasonable preference’ but whom the Council also 
believes should also be awarded ‘additional preference’ based on their very urgent 
housing need. 
 
Band B – High priority statutory housing need to move:  
 
This band consists of applicants that are owed a statutory award of ‘reasonable 
preference’ under the policy and have been awarded band B priority based on their 
assessed high housing need.  
 
Band C – Lower priority statutory housing need to move:  
 
This band consists of: 
 

a) applicants with a statutory need but that need is assessed as being lower than 
Band B  

b) Applicants over the age of 60 without a statutory housing need and who are not 
homeowners and are willing to consider accepting a tenancy for older person 
housing only in the district.  

 
The date a band will be allocated 
 
The band start date is the date the assessment of the applicant’s Housing Register 
application has been completed and not the date the application was received. If 
following being banded, an applicant’s housing need and/or circumstances change 
and a reassessment results in the applicant being placed in a higher band then in 
these circumstances, they will not retain the date they were awarded the lower band 
as the new higher band reflects a higher level of housing need. Therefore their date 

85



 

 44 

for the higher band will be the date they were awarded that band for that higher 
assessed housing need.  
 
Note: for eligible homeless applicants who meet the qualification rules to join the 
Housing Register the following will apply with regard to their band start date:  
 

a) owed a Section 195(2) Prevention of homelessness duty – Band date is the 
date the duty was owed and not the date of the homelessness application. 
 

b) owed a Section 189B (2) Relief of homelessness duty – If an applicant has 
not been owed a prevention duty then the band date is the date the relief duty 
is owed and not the date of the homelessness application. If the applicant was 
owed a prevention duty which ended because they became homeless and 
they are then owed a relief duty, the effective date is the date the prevention 
duty was owed.  

 
c) owed the Main Section 193(2) duty – Band date is the date the Relief of 

homelessness duty was owed and not the date the Main duty was owed. This 
is because to start the date at the date the Main duty was owed would 
disadvantage an applicant by 56 days who has been found to be in priority 
need and unintentionally homeless. 

 
d) circumstances where the relief duty has ended, and the applicant is assessed 

at this point as not being in priority need - Band date is the date the Relief of 
homelessness duty is owed (or the date the prevention duty was owed if the 
applicant had been owed a prevention duty before being owed the relief duty) 
and not the date that the Relief duty is brought to an end.  

 
e) circumstances where the relief duty has ended, and the applicant is assessed 

at that point as not being owed a main duty due to being intentionally 
homeless - Band date is the date the Relief of homelessness duty is owed (or 
the date the prevention duty was owed if the applicant had been owed a 
prevention duty before being owed the relief duty) and not the date that the 
Relief duty is brought to an end. 

 
f) where the applicant becomes homeless unintentionally within 2 years of 

accepting a private rented sector offer, offered to bring the main Section 193 
homelessness duty to an end, the effective date will be the date of the new 
application. 

 
  

86



 

 45 

THE BANDING SYSTEM AND THE ADOPTED HOUSING NEED CRITERIA TO 
QUALIFY FOR EACH OF THE 3 BANDS  
 

The following section provides details for how the policy defines and assesses housing 
need for an award of a band is described below. Where there are further details, 
beyond the details set out below for how the housing need criteria will be assessed, 
these are set out in appendices. For example, the detail for how the Council will assess 
applications where it is claimed there is a housing need based on the impact of an 
applicant’s current housing on a medical condition including physical or mental health, 
or a disability is detailed in appendix 2.  

It is important to note that applicants will be placed in the appropriate band following 
an assessment that their housing need meets the threshold for that band. An applicant 
who qualifies under more than one of the housing need criteria will be awarded the 
highest priority they are entitled to under the criteria. They will not be awarded a higher 
band just because they meet more than one housing need criteria. For example, an 
applicant who meets 2 housing need criteria for Band B will still only be awarded band 
B and not Band A.  
 
BAND A: URGENT PRIORITY, STATUTORY HOUSING NEED TO MOVE 
 
This band includes applicants with the highest need for rehousing.   
 
1: Homeless applicants who are owed one of the following duties by Bolsover 
Council only 
 

• the Main Housing Duty under Section 193 of the Housing Act 1996, or 

• a relief duty under Section 189B (2) where the applicant is, at the point of that 
189B duty being accepted, considered likely to be in priority need and 
unintentionally homeless, whether a decision to that effect has been made or 
not, and the applicant is accommodated in interim temporary accommodation. 

 
2: Significant impact of an unfit private sector property   
 

• Private sector tenants and residents of dwellings where the council’s Private 
Sector Housing Team has determined the property poses a Category 1 hazard 
under the Housing Health and Safety Rating System (e.g. crowding and space, 
excessive cold or risk of falls) and  

• Following assessment, the applicants property is subject to a prohibition order, 
emergency action, demolition order or clearance under the Housing Health and 
Safety Rating System of the Housing Act 2004, and 

• The council is satisfied that the problem cannot be resolved by the landlord 
within six months and as a result continuing to occupy the accommodation will 
pose a considerable risk to the applicant’s health. This includes a property that 
has severe damp, major structural defects including subsidence, flooding, 
collapse of roof, or living conditions that are a statutory nuisance, and there is 
no prospect of the problems being remedied within a six-month time period.  

 

87



 

 46 

3: Urgent need to move status due to exceptional circumstances where the only 
way an exceptional housing need can be resolved is through a Band A award.  
 
These decisions may be made by the Allocations Manager , in conjunction with the 
Housing Services Manager.  
 
In the interests of fairness to all these applicants these circumstances are kept to a 
minimum. Examples of exceptional circumstances include, but are not limited to: 
 

• a severe threat to life 

• emergency cases whose homes are damaged by fire, flood, or other disaster may 

be provided with another tenancy if it is not possible to repair the existing home, or 

if any work to repair is to take such a long period of time that there will be serious 

disruption to family life 

• households which, on police advice, must be moved immediately due to serious 

threats to one or more members of the household, or whose continuing 

occupation would pose a threat to the community 

• cases nominated under the Police Witness Protection Scheme or other similar 

schemes that the council has agreed to be part of 

• an applicant who has an exceptional need that is not covered in the Allocation 

Scheme. For example, where child or public protection issues require rehousing or 

for domestic abuse where all other options to remain in the home have been 

considered 

• a care leaver assessed as ready to move to independent settled housing with a 

profound disability or assessed as having a significant vulnerability over and 

above the fact that they have been in care, who is assessed as needing to be 

housed urgently to significantly improve the impact their current circumstances are 

having on their disability or vulnerability 

• other exceptional circumstances as authorised by the Head of the Housing 

Service or equivalent.  

 

For any Private Registered Provider tenant, the expectation is that, where it is safe to 
do so, the RP would arrange for a like for like management transfer would be 
granted or an emergency decant provided whilst a suitable transfer can be arranged. 
 
4: Succession – Bolsover District Council tenant who has succeeded to the tenancy 
of a property and is willing to move to a smaller property – 
  
5: Existing Bolsover District Council tenants who:  
 

a) Will release a property which was specially built or substantially adapted for a 
person with a disability and the accommodation is no longer needed 

 

88



 

 47 

b) Has succeeded to the tenancy of a property which was specially built or 
substantially adapted for a person with a disability and they do not need this 
accommodation (see the succession policy for further information).   

 
c) Has an identified need for adaptions to their current property and there is 

another property with these adaptations already fitted.  This will only apply when 
the applicant has been assessed by an Occupational Therapist and excludes 
minor adaptations i.e. grab rail. 

 
6: Emergency medical or disability need:  
 
A Band A award is for applicants who are suffering sudden or severe progressive 
life-threatening medical conditions or disability and need an immediate move (e.g., to 
facilitate hospital discharge) because their current home is unsuitable (as it does not 
meet their medical needs and/or cannot be adapted) and poses an immediate and 
serious danger to the individual. 
 
The following Band A examples are intended to guide the applicant on the threshold 
set for a Band A award.  
 

• where an applicant’s condition is expected to be terminal within a period of twelve 

months and rehousing is required to provide a basis for the provision of suitable 

care  

• the condition is life threatening and the applicant’s existing accommodation is a 

major contributory factor  

• the applicant’s health is so severely affected by the accommodation that it is likely 

to become life threatening  

• the applicant has severe mobility issues, is housebound and is unable to leave 

their accommodation save with assistance that will result in high risk to 

themselves or their carer. They have an assessed need to move to 

accommodation that meets their needs  

• the applicant is a wheelchair user who is unable to use their wheelchair within 

their current accommodation and has an assessed need to move to wheelchair 

suitable accommodation  

• the applicant’s accommodation is directly contributing to the deterioration of the 

applicant’s health such as severe chest condition requiring intermittent 

hospitalisation as a result of chronic dampness in the accommodation and the 

condition of the property cannot be resolved within a reasonable period of time – 

usually 6 months  

• where overcrowding in the property leaves the applicant at risk of life-threatening 

infection.  

 

 

89



 

 48 

7: Armed Forces who meet the following criteria  
 
Applicants with urgent housing need and have access to no other accommodation 
who: 
 
a) Are serving (and will soon leave) the regular forces and are suffering from serious 

injury, illness, mental ill health, or disability which is attributable to the person’s 
service 

b) Has recently ceased, or will cease to be entitled, to reside in accommodation 
provided by the MOD following the death of that person’s spouse or civil partner 
who has served in the regular forces and whose death was attributable (wholly or 
partly) to that service or 

c) Is serving or has served in the reserve forces and is suffering from a serious 
injury, illness or disability which is attributable (wholly or partly) to the person’s 
service 

 
For this purpose "the regular forces" and "the reserve forces" have the meanings given 
by section 374 of the Armed Forces Act 2006. 
 
BAND B – HIGH PRIORITY, STATUTORY HOUSING NEED TO MOVE:  
 
These are applicants that are owed a statutory award of ‘reasonable preference’ 
under the policy and have been awarded band B priority based on their assessed 
high housing need.  
 
1: Severe medical or disability impact:  

• Where an applicant (or a member of their household) is living in accommodation 

with a severe, long term, medical conditions (chronic or progressive) or severe 

disability that means they urgently need to move because their home is assessed 

as being highly unsuitable and is directly detrimental to the applicants’ physical or 

mental health. 

 

• Where an applicant’s (or a member of their household) housing is unsuitable 

because of severe medical reasons or because of their disability. The applicant (or 

member of their household) is not housebound, but their current housing is 

exacerbating their health conditions.  

 
2: Existing Bolsover District Council tenants who 
 

• will move into a smaller property releasing a high demand property 

• occupy a house and wish to move to a general needs flat 

• occupy a two-bedroom bungalow or elderly persons flat and wish to move to a 
one bedroomed bungalow or into sheltered accommodation 

 
 
 
 

90



 

 49 

3: Care Leavers 
 

• A Derbyshire County Council care leaver who is ready to move to 
independent settled housing and is genuinely prepared for a move to 
independent living; and  

• They possess the life skills to manage a tenancy including managing a rent 
account; and  

• The care leaver is in need of either a long term or medium-term tenancy 
support; and   

• That support package has been assessed and is in place.  
 
4: Applicants owed one of the following homelessness duties 
 
Applicants owed any of the following homelessness duties by Bolsover Council as 
set out below: 
 
a) Applicants where the Section 189(B) Relief duty has been brought to an end and 

an applicant has been assessed at that point as being intentionally homeless 
(and hasn’t been disqualified under the unacceptable behaviour disqualification 
rule).  

b) Applicants owed the Section 193 C (4) Main duty where the Prevention or Relief 
duty was ended by the council due to their deliberate non-cooperation. 

c) Applicants owed a Section 189B (2) Relief duty by the Council and not 
considered likely to be in priority need. 

d) Applicants owed a Section 195 (2) Prevention of homelessness duty by the 
Council and not considered likely to be in priority need.  

e) Applicants where the Section 189(B) Relief of homelessness duty has been 
brought to an end and the applicant is determined to be homeless but not in 
priority need and therefore not owed a Main homeless duty.  

 
Note: Applicants owed a main homeless duty by any other council will not be allowed 
to qualify for the Housing Register unless there are exceptional circumstances.  
 
5: Former Regular Armed Forces Applicants  
 
Note armed forces that meet the legal requirement for additional preference have been 
added to band A as legally required. Band B armed forces below cover former 
members who have left the service in the last 5 years or are due to leave. 
 
Members of the Armed Forces persons who meet the following criteria:  
 
a) They are serving in the regular forces and will be discharged within 6 months and 

have served for 5 years or more, or   
b) They were serving in the regular forces and they apply to join the housing register 

within 1 year of discharge, and 
c) Had been previously living in the SMP district immediately before joining the armed 

forces or since leaving  
 
 
 

91



 

 50 

And d and e below must also apply 
 
d) They did not leave the armed forces as a result of a dishonorable discharge, and  
e) They do not own or have a legal interest in any other property 
 
For this purpose "the regular forces" and "the reserve forces" have the meanings given 
by section 374 of the Armed Forces Act 2006. 
6: Overcrowded by 2 bedrooms as defined by the bedroom standard set out in 
this policy  
 
This group is defined as applicants overcrowded by 2 or more bedrooms who are 
living in the Bolsover District as defined under this Policy’s overcrowding standard.  
 
7: Ready to move on from Council accredited supported housing schemes  
 

• An applicant is in a Council accredited supported housing scheme in the 
Bolsover district, and 

• Is ready to move to independent settled housing on the recommendation of 
the support worker or equivalent; and 

• The applicant is in need of medium to long term rather than short term 
ongoing tenancy support; and  

• That support package has been assessed and is in place. 
 
These cases will normally be approved by the Allocations Manager  in conjunction 
with the Housing Services Manager, or in more complicated cases by the HARP 
Panel.  
 
8: Insecurity that risks homelessness  
 
A pregnant woman or applicant with a child or children who are sharing a home with 
family who are not part of their household and where:  
 
a) They have no ownership or tenancy rights, and the arrangement is short term and 
very insecure and only available whilst the applicant is actively seeking an offer of 
social housing or alternative accommodation with friends or in the private rented 
sector, and 
 
b) They were owed a prevention of homelessness duty as they were assessed as 
likely to become homeless within 56 days, and that duty has ended because they have 
been allowed to remain at home whilst they bid for social housing with their Band B 
priority and it is likely that they can remain for at least a year, and 
 
c) The family member with the interest in the home has agreed to allow the applicant 
to remain for at least a year. 
 
BAND C – LOWER PRIORITY, STATUTORY HOUSING NEED TO MOVE: 
 
1: Applicants over 60 without a statutory housing need and who are not 
homeowners and are willing to consider accepting a tenancy for older person 
housing only in the district. 

92



 

 51 

Note applicants who wish to sub-let their property and move into older person 
housing will not qualify for this band. 
 
2: Overcrowding by 1 bedroom in Bolsover district as per the definition of 
overcrowding adopted under this policy.   
 
3: Hardship: Applicants who need to move to a particular locality in the district of the 
authority, where failure to meet that need would cause hardship (to themselves or to 
others). (This includes the Allocation of Housing (Qualification Criteria for Right to 
Move) (England) Regulations 2015). See appendix 2 for further guidance 
 
4: Move on from supported housing from people not living in Bolsover 
 
People leaving move on accommodation outside of the Bolsover District area and 
without a local connection but with a local connection in Derbyshire who are currently 
living in temporary supported accommodation and are requesting to move as part of 
a planned support process.   
 
Advertising Properties 
 
All properties available for bidding will be advertised through the Bolsover Homes 
website which can be accessed via www.bolsover.gov.uk and newsletters will be 
available each week from our Contact Centres, in Clowne, Shirebrook, South 
Normanton and Bolsover.  We can arrange to post newsletters but we will make a 
charge to cover the cost of this.   
 
Adverts will clearly indicate any restrictions on bidding (e.g., where properties have 
been adapted and/or are specifically for people with disabilities) and will detail any 
particular criteria that apply (e.g., any affordability criteria).   
 
Available properties will normally be advertised on a regular basis and applicants given 
a restricted timeframes to place a bid. The bidding rules and deadlines will be available 
to applicants.  We will not accept any bids received after the deadline. 
 
3: The bidding and selection process  

 
Properties are advertised on a weekly cycle from Thursday to Tuesday and  will be 
uploaded to the Bolsover District Council website. Each listed property will have a 
closing date within which the customers will need to register their bid. 
 
Applicants should note that they should only place bids for properties that they wish to 
accept. A bid that is valid at the end of the bidding cycle will amount to an offer if the 
applicant is invited to view the property. The refusal of 2 reasonable offers will mean 
that an applicant is suspended from bidding for a period of 12 months.  
 
All properties advertised will be advertised for a minimum of 5 days including 
weekends and bank holidays. An applicant may express an interest through bidding 
on any advertised property that meets their needs.   
 

• Bids will only be registered if the applicant is on the housing register 

93

http://www.bolsover.gov.uk/


 

 52 

• Applicants will not be contacted individually if their bid is unsuccessful, however 
the results of the bids will be advertised on a regular basis. 

• Applicants can express an interest on a maximum of 3 properties in any single 
bidding cycle. 

• Bids can be withdrawn at any time prior to the closing date. 

• Bids will be accepted from nominated representatives of the applicant.  To 
make a bid on behalf of an applicant the representative will be required to give 
the Housing Application Reference Number and date of birth for the first 
applicant. 

• Bids received after the advertised closing date and time will not be accepted  

• Applicants are encouraged to check the ‘My Bids’ section of the Bolsover 
Homes website to ensure the bids they have placed are recorded and the order 
of priority reflects their preferences. 

 
Note: where applicants are being shortlisted for a 4-bedroom property and there are 
more than one household who have bid from the same band, any household with 3 or 
more children under 16 will be shortlisted before a family where there are children over 
the age of 16 or where there are adult children over 18 unless a child over 16 or adult 
child has an assessed disability which is impacted by their current housing. The reason 
for this policy is that the demand for 4-bedroom properties is far higher than the 
number that become available to let and families with younger children are more likely 
to require and larger property for longer than a family with older children where it is 
more likely that 1 or more of those children will move out.  

4: Offers of accommodation  
 
This section sets out the procedure that will apply to making an offer of accommodation 
once an applicant has been selected from a shortlist of successful applicants bidding 
for that property.  
 
Once selected and, prior to an offer being made a further verification of the applicant’s 
eligibility and the circumstances that had resulted in the band award priority will be 
normally carried out. In certain situations, the offer will not be made, or if made may 
be withdrawn if: 
 
➢ Since joining the scheme an applicant has become ineligible. 
 
➢ On verification of the applicants’ details, the priority band has been incorrectly 

awarded due to the information received by the applicant, or due to mistakes in the 
assessment of the application itself.  

 
➢ The applicants’ circumstances have changed since the priority band was awarded 

and the applicant is no longer entitled to the same level of priority. 
 
➢ The Council or the Housing Association landlord for the property being advertised 

has evidenced housing management reason not to offer the property to the person 
selected.  

 

94



 

 53 

As part of the pre allocation verification checks applicants will be expected to provide 
evidence of their identify and the identity of anyone to be rehoused with them, as well 
as their current address before any tenancy can be agreed. 
   
Wherever practical applicants will be visited prior to making an offer of 
accommodation.  The purpose of the visit is twofold: 
 

• Firstly, to check household details 

• Secondly, to check requirements have not changed. 
 
If the visiting officer discovers the details are incorrect, no offer of accommodation 
should be made, and the applicant informed of the reasons in writing.  
 
If the applicant is a current tenant of the Council, the visit should also look at the 
condition of the property.  If there is a breach of tenancy such as damage to the 
property, unauthorised alterations or rent arrears, the tenant should be informed that 
they will not be offered alternative accommodation until the breach is resolved.   
Applicants will be considered for an offer of any property which they have placed a 
successful bid. 
 
Applicants will only be offered one property at a time. Once an offer has been made 
to the applicant they will not be able to bid or be considered for other offers of 
accommodation until the current offer is refused. 
 
The successful bidder will normally be contacted within 48 hours of the close of bids.  
Applicants should ensure that at the time of bid that current up to date contact details 
are available.  If contact cannot be made with the successful bidder within 48 hours 
this could result in the bid being withdrawn and the property being offered to the next 
suitable bidder. 
 
As part of the offer we will provide details of the property and make arrangements to 
view it as quickly as possible.  Applicants are expected to decide whether to accept or 
refuse the offer at the viewing and will also be offered the opportunity to sign for the 
tenancy at the viewing. If applicants do not inform Bolsover District Council of their 
decision within 48 hours of the viewing  the offer may be withdrawn and the property 
allocated to the next suitable bidder. 
 
If an applicant does not reply to an invitation in writing, by letter or email or text, to 
view a property within 2 working days the offer will be deemed to have been refused 
and the property will be offered to the next applicant on the shortlist who qualifies for 
that offer.  This will then count as one of the applicant’s 2 reasonable offers unless a 
satisfactory explanation for the applicant’s failure to respond is accepted by the 
Council.   
 
Where the offer is to an applicant owed a statutory homeless duty a property will not 
be reoffered until the Council have been informed of the applicant’s refusal or failure 
to attend the appointment to view and have made a decision whether or not to enforce 
the offer to end the homeless duty owed.  
 

95



 

 54 

A suitable and reasonable offer of accommodation is defined in appendix 1 of the 
policy. 
 
There may, unfortunately, be exceptional circumstances where, following a viewing or 
notification of offer an offer may still be withdrawn. This can be done up to the point 
before a tenancy is signed.  Examples of reasons when a property offer may be 
withdrawn are:  
 

• The property is not suitable for the households needs 

• The property fails to become available 

• There is an issue and concern for community safety 

• It comes to light that information has been withheld 

• It comes to light that that the household or member of the household has a property 
related debt 

• The offer has been made in error 

• The household’s circumstances changed 

• The property is required for an emergency  

• It transpires that the rent would not be affordable  
 
There must be clear grounds for refusing or bypassing applicants who are top of any 
shortlist that are recorded by the Council, or a partner Housing Association where the 
property advertised is owned by them.  
 
 
  

96



 

 55 

Appendices 
 
Appendix 1 – Definition of a suitable offer  
Appendix 2 – Right to Move qualification criteria 
Appendix 3 – Local Lettings policy criteria 
Appendix 4 – Eligibility of Propwerty Type Table  
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

97



 

 56 

APPENDIX 1: DEFINITION OF A SUITABLE OFFER 
 
Where accommodation is offered an applicant will normally be expected to accept an 
offer of a property that meets their specified needs. Reasonable offers are those that 
are deemed as suitable and appropriate to meet the housing and medical needs of 
the household concerned and are affordable to the applicant and his or her 
household.  
 
The suitability criteria used to determine whether an offer to end a main homeless 
duty owed under Section 193(2) of the Housing Act 1996) or a relief of 
homelessness duty owed under Section 189b, will be the criteria set down in the 
Suitability of Accommodation Order England 2012, as amended by Section 12 of the 
Homelessness Reduction Act 2017, relevant case law and statutory guidance.  
 
These criteria only apply to an offer of social housing or private rented housing made 
with the intention of ending a full homeless duty. Where an offer is made to any other 
banded applicant who is not owed a full homeless duty it is for the council to decide 
on the facts of the case whether the offer is suitable using the guidance in this 
appendix to help the officer make the decision.   
 
The council will consider that a property is suitable if all of the following criteria are 
met:  
 

• it is located in an area that the council considers to be suitable for the 
applicant and their household. This could include accommodation located 
outside of the Bolsover area; 

• if it is affordable for the applicant and his or her household based on his or her 
financial circumstances at the time of offer;  

• it is sized in accordance with the criteria in this Scheme;  

• it complies with any recommendation made by a medical or other relevant 
advisor.  

 
In determining the suitability of accommodation, the council will consider the 
following:  
 

a) the significance of any disruption to the employment, education or caring 
responsibilities of the applicant or a member of the household;  

b) the accessibility of medical or other support facilities that are currently used by 
the applicant or a member of the household;  

c) the accessibility of local services, including places of worship, amenities, and 
transport;  

d) its duty to safeguard children under Section 11 Children Act 2004; 
e) its public sector equality duty under Section 149 Equality Act 2010;  
f) if a suitable property is located outside of the borough’s boundary then the 

council has to take into consideration the distance from the applicant’s 
existing accommodation in the borough.  

 
The above are matters for the council to determine based on the facts of the case.  
 

98



 

 57 

Guidance for assessing officers on how the council will assess reasonable 
and unreasonable refusals: 
 
1) Property size 
 
The property must be the appropriate size for the household's needs at the time of 
making the offer. Where the family composition has changed, so that the property 
offered is too small or large for the applicant's needs, the refusal will be recorded as 
reasonable. 
 
It is the applicant’s responsibility to ensure that they register any change in their 
circumstances that will affect the number of bedrooms to which they are entitled. 
 
Where the applicant refuses a property because it is too small on grounds of the 
need for an additional or larger bedroom(s) due to medical/mobility factors, but it 
meets the lettings standard, this will normally be considered to be an unreasonable 
refusal unless the applicant provides new medical information at the offer stage that 
is accepted by the council.   
 
2) Property type 
 
It will not be considered to be a reasonable refusal due to a dislike of the property 
type. Therefore, an applicant cannot reasonably refuse an offer because for 
example, it is in a tower block, it does not have a garden or a particular heating 
system, it is on a wrong floor, or does not have a lift. If the applicant states medical 
grounds for refusing the property, these should already have been disclosed and 
considered as part of the assessment of their application, unless new information is 
submitted that is accepted by the council.    
 
Where specialist accommodation is offered to a household inappropriately, this is 
considered to be a reasonable refusal. This may be for example: 
 

a) offers of wheelchair standard housing to households which do not have 
wheelchair users; 

b) offers made to disabled applicants which are unsuitable for their needs, for 
example where they are unable to open a door entry system because the 
doors are too heavy; 

c) offers of sheltered housing where the applicant is not of the appropriate age. 
 
3) Property condition 
 
Where a property is refused on grounds of repair/decoration, this will be considered 
an unreasonable refusal unless the voids team decides to withdraw the property 
from letting for further works to be carried out. 
 
4) Area of choice 
 
An offer will still be considered reasonable even if it is not within an applicant’s area 
of choice. 
 

99



 

 58 

5) Racial harassment  
 
Where an applicant from an ethnic minority household refuses the property prior to 
viewing because the previous tenant was rehoused as a result of racial harassment, 
or there is a known problem of racial harassment in the vicinity of the property, the 
refusal is considered reasonable. 
 
6) Choice of landlord 
 
An applicant cannot choose whether they are rehoused by a specific Private 
Registered Provider. Therefore, any refusal for example by an applicant of a property 
because it is a Private Registered Provider property with no ‘Right to Buy’, or ‘Right 
to Acquire’, or the rent is higher than another social landlord will not be considered to 
be reasonable (unless in the example of the rent level the assessment is that the 
offer is unaffordable for the applicant in question). 
 
7) Pets 
 
One of the conditions of the tenancy agreement is that a tenant must obtain the 
written consent of the landlord before keeping domestic pets.  
 
Any intention to keep a pet must comply with the council or Private Registered 
Provider tenancy terms and conditions, which means that permission must be sought 
and agreed prior to signing the tenancy agreement for the property. Therefore, any 
refusal on the basis that permission has not been granted to keep a pet is not 
reasonable. 
  

100



 

 59 

APPENDIX 2: RIGHT TO MOVE QUALIFYING CRITERIA 
 
Right to Move – Statutory guidance on social housing allocations for local housing 
authorities in England 
 
An existing social housing tenant (living outside of the Bolsover area) will not be 
disqualified on the grounds of no residential connection if they have reasonable 
preference under s166(3)(e) because of a need to move to the Bolsover area 
because the tenant works in the Bolsover district or needs to move to take up an 
offer of work. 
 
Whether or not the applicant meets the above criteria isn’t solely determined by the 
need to move for work, but that it would cause them hardship if they were able to do 
so. 
 
Definition of Work 
 

• Work should be a permanent contract or one with a minimum term of 12 
months. 

 

• Work should be of 16 or more hours a week (unless it can be demonstrated 
that the earnings are substantial). 

 

• Work should not be voluntary. 
 

• Work can include apprenticeships. 
 

• The relevant district should be the main place of work. 
 

• In the case of self-employed tenants, work should be regular as opposed to 
intermittent. 

 
Distance, time and travel costs 
 
When determining hardship, the time taken to travel to work and the cost of the 
travel should be taken into account. The council considers the following criteria may 
suggest hardship: 
 

• Travel time to get to work is in excess of two hours each way (personal or 
public transport depending on circumstances).  

• Travel costs are more than £30 per day or 25% of net income from the 
employment or there is no transport available at all.  

 
Other factors 
 
These factors are all considered on a case-by-case basis as to whether hardship 
would be faced by the applicant if they could not move: 
 

101



 

 60 

• Would failure to move mean the applicant would lose an opportunity to gain a 
better job/promotion, an apprenticeship, increase hours/pay or move from 
unemployment to employment. 

 

• If the nature of work likely to be available closer to the applicant’s home. 
 

• Personal factors including care responsibilities and medical conditions 
affected by the tenant not being able to move closer to work. 

 

• Any other situation where hardship would be demonstrable if the tenant could 
not move. 

 
Discretion 
 
Every application will be dealt with on a case-by-case basis allowing all 
circumstances and variables to be considered. 
 
Proof of Work 
 
A combination of the following can used as to prove that work or a job offer is 
genuine: 
 

• Contract of employment (particularly if stating main place of work). 
 

• Wage slips showing hours worked (particularly if zero hours contract) but they 
are unlikely to evidence the location of work. 

 

• A letter offering employment (it is likely that the employer will be contacted to 
confirm acceptance). 

 

• A letter from an employer to prove the work and location. 
 
Right to Move Quota 
 
No more than 1% of all lettings will be prioritised for Right to Move applicants based 
on the total of the previous year’s lettings by the council.  
 
  

102



 

 61 

APPENDIX 3: HOW ANY LOCAL LETTINGS POLICY WILL BE APPLIED AND 
REVIEWED 
 
Local lettings initiatives may be applied to meet the particular needs of a local ward or 
area or to address sustainability and community issues to ensure that the housing 
allocation scheme is able to contribute to building sustainable communities.  
 
They will be tailored to fit local situations in well-defined communities (such as a 
particular block of flats, an individual street, or new housing development, or may be 
applied to a parish or a village in a rural area). Each local lettings policy will be based 
on a detailed analysis of relevant information gathered from a variety of sources and 
may include, for example, evidence from internal departments, partner Housing 
Associations, local Councillors, and the community itself. (Evidence may include 
information such as tenant profiling, the incidence of anti-social behaviour, and stock 
turnover in a particular block, street or area, a neighbourhood plan or the need to 
provide housing for local people in rural villages and parishes). 
 
The following are examples of local lettings policies that may be deployed under this 
policy. The list is for illustrative purposes and is not exhaustive. 
 
1) Age restrictions. 
2) Prioritising applicants who are key workers, as defined by the Council.    
3) Restrictions on lettings to vulnerable households where there are already a 

concentration of supported tenants/residents in a street or block. 
4) Lettings to childless households where there are high concentrations of children 

and young people living on a specific estate, street or block. 
5) Disregarding household type or property matching rules to allow, for example, 

under-occupation to reduce child density or to account for future family growth. 
6) Ensuring that there is a balance of working and non-working households allocated 

to a scheme. 
 
New developments will normally have local lettings policies (usually only applies to 
first lettings) regardless of whether the new development is subject to a Section 106 
agreement or affordable housing statement. Where a new development is subject to 
a Section 106 planning agreement the criteria set will be followed. 
 
In order to ensure a reasonable mix of household sizes and types, and families with 
children of different ages, a local lettings policy will normally be used for new 
developments larger than four properties. This may set restrictions on the number of 
lettings, which can be made to families with young children, for example, or the number 
of families who are not working. 
 
How will a local lettings policy be assessed and agreed? 
 
The Council will decide when a local lettings policy may be appropriate and why. 
 
There must be a clear evidence base for adopting a local lettings policy. The following 
framework will be used by the Council to decide whether a local lettings policy is 
appropriate:   
 

103



 

 62 

1) That there is a clear definition of the objective to be achieved by that particular local 
lettings policy. 

2) That there is a clear evidence base to back up the need for a local lettings policy. 
3) That any potential equality impact has been considered.  
4) How long the local lettings policy is intended to operate. 
5) When the local lettings policy should be reviewed. 
  
A written record of each policy adopted or rejected should be kept.  
 
It is the intention that local lettings policies will be fluid with new policies being added 
as are required and existing policies being deleted once the objective for that policy 
has been met.  
 
Any property advert will state whether there are any local lettings restrictions or criteria.  
 
  

104



 

 63 

Appendix 4 
 

 
 
NOTE – The table refers to 2 bed + houses.  These are 3 bedroomed houses in areas with very limited 2 bedroomed accommodation.  
              
If analysis of the allocation system suggests that the needs of these communities can be better met with flexibility, HARP can consider designating 
a proportion of properties as + (plus) properties in specific areas.            
All adult households refers to 2 or more people living together but not in a relationship.         
* To be approved by HARP     
** To be approved by the Welfare Adaptation Panel 

                  

1 BED 2 BED 1 BED 2 BED 2 BED + 3 BED 4 BED 1 BED 2 BED 2 BED 1 AND 2 BEDS

GENERAL NEEDS

Single Applicants and Couples Y Y y N N N N N N N N

Single Applicants and Couples who are pregnant N Y N N N N N N N N N

Households with 1 child N Y N Y Y N N N N N N

Households with 2 children of the same gender

Both under 21 N Y N Y Y Y N N N N N

Both over 21 N N N N Y Y N N N N N

One under 21 and one over N N N N Y Y N N N N N

Households with 2 children of different gender

Both under 10 N Y N Y Y Y N N N N N

One under 10 and one over N N N N Y Y N N N N N

Household with 3 N N N N Y Y Y N N N N

Household with 4 N N N N Y Y Y N N N N

Household with 5 N N N N N N Y N N N N

All adult 2 person N Y N N N N N N N N N

All adult 3 person plus * * * * * * * N N N N

Household with a need for adapted accommodation ** ** ** ** ** ** ** ** ** ** **

OLDER PERSONS

Single applicants and couples over 50 Y Y Y N N N N Y N N N

Single applicants and couples over 60 N N N N N N N Y Y Y Y

Applicants with a need for adapted accommodation ** ** ** ** ** ** ** ** ** ** **

OLDER PERSONS ACCOMMODATION

HOUSEHOLD CATEGORY FLATS HOUSES BUNGALOWS OLDER PERSONS FLATS INDEPENDENT LIVING SCHEME

GENERAL NEEDS ACCOMMODATION

105



 

 64 

       
  

 

106



 

Summary of Changes to the Proposed Allocations Policy  

 

Theme 
 

Proposed Allocation Policy 
 

Reason for change 

Relevant section  

Local 
Connection  

Non qualification 
rule 1 – page 5  

We have increased the local connection to 2 
years continuous residency and tightened up 
the requirement for those in permanent 
employment in the area and removed the key 
worker status connection to the area.  
 

Prioritise established local families who have a 
strong connection for residence of 2 years or 
more. There are a number of exceptions to the 
2-year residency rule found on page 7-8; for 
instance, those fleeing domestic abuse or 
extreme threats of violence from another area 
or have close family who they need to provide 
or receive essential support; or, have 
employment where it is extremely difficult to 
commute.  
 

Assessment of 
Need – out of 
area or very 
low need.  

Section 5 
Assessment of 
need and 
circumstances 
page 43-51 

Removed Band D – this is applicants who live 
out of area or who have a very low need. This 
would also include those who live in the 
district, who are registered to move but have 
no housing need.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Amendment to Band C – currently those who 
live in private rented, social housing or lodge 
within the district are placed in Band C even 
when there is no housing need. We propose to 
remove this.  
 

The demand on the register is 
unprecedented and these changes mean 
that those with a legitimate housing need are 
awarded a band on the housing register, 
Approx 30% of those on the housing register 
have no housing need or live out of area. 
Removing band D removes these people who 
are unlikely to ever be allocated a BDC 
property from the register. This change will 
also remove those who wish to move within the 
district but have no housing need. This choice 
to move could be resolved by way of mutual 
exchange.  
 
This change is to reflect that Bands are 
awarded based on a housing need.  
 

107

A
ppendix 2



 

Assessment of 
needs 

Section 5 
Assessment of 
need and 
circumstances 
page 43-51 

We intend to expand the criteria to address 
when an applicant will qualify for statutory 
housing need bands A, B and C. 
 

The revised policy is clearer aboutwhen a band 
will be awarded for each housing criteria within 
each band. This will mean assessments are 
always consistently applied. 

Suspension – 
rent arrears  
 

Non qualification 
rule 4 – page 11-
14 

Amended the suspension for rent arrears 
section to reflect different amount/categories 
of debt but to allow people on the register if 
they have maintained repayment agreements 
and reduced arrears to within an acceptable 
threshold.  
 

We acknowledge that people may have 
arrears and former tenancy arrears but if 
they can demonstrate a commitment to 
maintain repayment agreements they will no 
longer be suspended from the register. 

Suspension 
for refusal of 
suitable offers  
 
 

Penalty for 
refusing 2 
suitable offers – 
page 31 and 
appendix 1 (Page 
55)  

We will suspend an applicant who refuses 2 
suitable offers within a 12-month period.  
Suitable offers are defined within the policy,  
 
 

To address where applicants bidding for 
properties, later changing their mind after the 
bidding cycle had ended. This builds in extra 
work and delays in letting properties which 
affects void times. 
 

Overcrowding  
 

Assessment of 
bedroom size  - 
Page 37-38 

Tightened up the rules around overcrowding, 
this is now more reflective of the statutory 
rules.  
 

The previous policy was overly complicated in 
this area and is now reflective of the statutory 
overcrowding rules  

 
Transfers 
 

Non qualification 
rule 7 – page 17  

We do not allow someone to move to 
another Council property within 3 years. This 
applied to both new tenancies and those who 
have terminated a Council or Housing 
Association property within the timescales.  

The time scale remains the same but 
ensures everyone is treated the same 
regardless of tenure.  

Review of 
decisions 
 

Right of review – 
page 40-42 

Simplified the review process. The legislation 
sets out when an applicant can request a 
review. In the first instance there will be an 
informal review carried out. If the applicant is 
unhappy then they can escalate this to a 
formal review. Whilst there is legal right to 
request a review of a review decision, the 
informal element of this allows for a 2-stage 
process.  

To make the process quicker and easier for 
applicants and officers alike.   

108



 

  
Home 
ownership  

Non qualification 
rule 5 – page 16  

Any owner occupier is to be excluded from the 
register unless  

• If as a result of a divorce settlement a 
Court has ordered that an applicant may 
not reside in the former matrimonial or 
civil partnership home in which they still 
have a legal interest for a period which 
is likely to exceed 5 years and that 
restriction is not due to being a 
perpetrator of domestic abuse, or 

• Where someone is a homeowner and 
homeless due to domestic abuse and 
whose property has not yet been sold. 
In these circumstances a decision will 
be made as to whether to treat this as 
an exemption based on the facts and 
circumstances of the case, or  

• The applicant has a substantial 
disability, and their current home is not 
suitable for their specific needs and 
cannot be adapted in a reasonable 
period of time and they cannot find an 
alternative property suitable for their 
disability on the open market.  

 

Demand on the register is unprecedented 
and many owner occupiers have the means 
to secure suitable accommodation without 
the need for assistance from the local 
authority. There are some circumstances 
which will give rise to being accepted on the 
register, but these are limited.  

Over 60 and 
no housing 
need  

Band C page 50  Applicants over 60 (who are not homeowners) 
without a statutory housing need but would be 
willing to move to an older person property will 
be awarded a band C.  
 

This reflects that approximately 45% of the 
Councils housing stock is older persons 
accommodation and ensures we do not have 
significant empty properties of this type.  

General 
terminology  

Throughout  In addition, we have identified some areas 
where the policy was inconsistent and have 
remedied this as well as updating the 
terminology and job roles.  
 

 

109



 

 
Bolsover District Council 

 
Meeting of the Executive on 6th November 2023 

 
Award three-year mobile phone and data contract, procured via NHS London 

Procurement Partnership framework agreement 
 

Report of the Portfolio Holder for Resources 
 

Classification 
 

This report is Public 
 

Contact Officer  Nicola Astle,  
Assistant Director ICT 
 

 
PURPOSE/SUMMARY OF REPORT 
 
To seek approval to award a three-year contract for mobile phone and data services 
to EE/BT procured via the NHS London procurement partnership agreement.  
___________________________________________________________________ 

 
REPORT DETAILS 
 
1. Background  
 
1.1  The current mobile telephone and data contract has expired. 

 
1.2 A procurement exercise was completed to secure a three-year mobile data 

contract with the existing mobile data supplier via the NHS London procurement 
partnership agreement framework. 
 

1.3 BT have issued a notice that the 3G network will be switched off in January 2024, 
these mobiles will likely need replacement before the deadline.   
 

2. Details of Proposal or Information 
 
2.1 This is a three-year contract with a total cost of £121,122 
 
2.2 A technical fund of £47,975 over the three years to procure mobile phone upgrades 

and replacements is included.  
 
2.3 A monthly tariff of £6.50 per device for data only and £8.50 for voice and data. 
 
2.4 Includes 1gb data per device per month (aggregated across the estate). 
 
2.5 The cost of this contract includes all the Council’s devices, including those used 

by Dragonfly. There will be a recharge to Dragonfly for their relative share of the 
cost. 

 
 
 

110

Agenda Item 7



 

3. Reasons for Recommendation  
 
3.1 The procurement was completed using the NHS London Procurement 

partnership agreement Framework. 
 
3.2 EE/BT are the existing supplier which will avoid the need to port existing number 

to another network or to replace the SIM cards / devices or APN. 
 
4 Alternative Options and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 Do nothing: 

 
4.1.1 Will cost the Council more money as currently we spend approximately 

£54,000per year or £162,000 over 3 years on the existing mobile contract, this 
may continue to increase whilst out of contract. 
 

4.1.2 The aggregated data tariff will not increase from 250mb to 1Gb per device, likely 
resulting in increased cost by exceeding the data allowance. 
 

4.1.3 The Council will need to provide additional funds to replace devices as there will 
be no technical fund (£47,975) available on the existing contract. 

 
4.2 Invite alternative suppliers to submit bids under the framework, this would: 

 
4.2.1 Incur porting (transferring) all 417 existing numbers to the new supplier, with 

potential disruption to service. 
 

4.2.2 May necessitate the replacement of all or some SIM cards and mobile 
phones, this would be a significant workload. 
 

4.2.3 Would not guarantee a better quality of service, signal coverage or cost. 
 

4.2.4 Result in increased costs to the Council during the procurement process. 
 

4.2.5 The frameworks complete comparisons to provide value for money and 
competitively priced tariffs from all suppliers. 

___________________________________________________________________ 
 
RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
That Executive approve awarding the three-year contract for mobile phone and data 
services to EE/BT. 
 

Approved by Councillor Clive Moesby Portfolio Holder for Resources  
 

IMPLICATIONS. 
 

Finance and Risk:   Yes☐          No ☒  

Details: 
The new contract can be afforded from within existing budgets. 
 

On behalf of the Section 151 Officer 

111



 

Legal (including Data Protection):          Yes☐   No ☒  

Details: 

On behalf of the Solicitor to the Council 

 

Environment:          Yes☐   No ☒ 

Please identify (if applicable) how this proposal/report will help the Authority meet its 
carbon neutral target or enhance the environment.   
Details: 

 

Staffing:  Yes☐  No ☒   

Details: 
 

On behalf of the Head of Paid Service 

 
DECISION INFORMATION 
 

Is the decision a Key Decision? 
A Key Decision is an executive decision which has a significant impact 
on two or more District wards, or which results in income or expenditure 
to the Council above the following thresholds:  
 

Revenue - £75,000   ☒  Capital - £150,000  ☐ 

☒ Please indicate which threshold applies 

 

Yes 

Is the decision subject to Call-In? 
(Only Key Decisions are subject to Call-In)  

Yes 
 

 

District Wards Significantly Affected 
 

N/A 
 
 

Consultation: 

Leader / Deputy Leader ☐   Executive ☐ 

SLT ☒ Relevant Service Manager ☒ 

Members ☐   Public ☐ Other ☐ 

 

Details: 
 
 

 

Links to Council Ambition: Customers, Economy, and Environment. 
 

Making the Best of our assets. 
 
Ensuring financial sustainability. 

 

DOCUMENT INFORMATION 
 

Appendix 
No 
 

Title 

  

  

112



 

Background Papers 

(These are unpublished works which have been relied on to a material extent when 
preparing the report.  They must be listed in the section below.  If the report is going 
to Executive, you must provide copies of the background papers). 

 
 
 

 

113



 

 
 

Bolsover District Council 
 

Meeting of the Executive on 6th November 2023 
 

Management of Corporate Debt – Write-Off of Outstanding Amounts 
 

Report of the Portfolio Holder for Resources  
 

Classification 
 

This report is Open. 
 

Contact Officer  Theresa Fletcher 
Director of Finance and Section 151 Officer 
 

 
PURPOSE/SUMMARY OF REPORT 
 
For Executive to agree to the proposed write-off of debts in respect of Business Rates, 
Council Tax, Housing Rents and Overpaid Housing Benefits as detailed in Appendix 1 
to this report. 
___________________________________________________________________ 

 
REPORT DETAILS 
 
1. Background 

 
1.1 The main sources of income for the Council’s General Fund are business rates, 

council tax, a small number of government grants and service-related income.  
The greatest source of income for the Council’s Housing Revenue Account is 
dwelling rent, often referred to as ‘housing rents’. 

 
1.2 We request the income due to us on the relevant system by raising bills for 

business rates, council tax and housing rents.  There is legislation in place for 
each of these sources which determines the rules of collecting this income. 

 
1.3 For service-related income, invoices are raised on the sundry debtor system 

which is a module of our Civica Financial Management System.  Examples of 
types of income include housing benefit overpayment, trade refuse, industrial unit 
rent, garage site rent, wardens service and alarms, and leisure - hire of facilities.  
This income is reported in two amounts with housing benefits overpayments 
identified separately from the rest. 

 
1.4 Debtors of a Local Authority are very sensitive to change.  If a tenant/tax payer’s 

circumstances change it can become difficult for them to keep paying their rent or 
council tax.  Informing us of a change in personal circumstances late can mean 
more benefit is paid to them than they are entitled to which can mean they 
become benefit overpayment debtors. 

 
1.5 Circumstances can change quickly and mean debtors fall into arrears.  It is very 

common for Local Authority’s to have arrears balances due to the vulnerable 

114

Agenda Item 8



 

nature of some of its debtors.  Debt management is how the Council manages its 
arrears and debtors. 

 
1.6 When an amount of arrears becomes uncollectable it is described as a bad debt.  

Writing-off amounts which are no longer collectable is an essential part of the 
debt management process.  It ensures that a focus is maintained on those 
amounts which are collectable, thus maximising overall levels of collection. 
 

1.7 The Council’s Constitution allows the Director of Finance and Section 151 
Officer, ‘after consultation with the relevant Portfolio Holder, to authorise the 
write-off of bad debts up to an approval limit of £2,500.’ 

 
2. Details of Proposal or Information 
 
2.1 This report recommends the write-off of a number of individual debts which are 

above the limit of £2,500.  The table below gives a summary of each class of 
write-off.  This shows the amounts to be written off in 2023/24 as part of this 
report, and amounts written off in previous years, as a comparison. 

 

  
 
2.2 The table shows we have had to write-off similar amounts in previous years.  

Comparing our write-offs against other authorities is proving impossible to do as 
this information is not available to be shared. 

 
2.3 Billing authorities like Bolsover District Council act as agents, collecting council 

tax and business rates on behalf of the major preceptors (including government 
for business rates) and as principals, collecting council tax and business rates for 
themselves.  Accordingly only a proportion of the above write-off for council tax 
(16% - £8,060) and business rates (40% - £28,866) is a loss to this council. 

 
2.4 In all cases, every attempt has been made by the Council and agencies working 

with the Council, to collect the outstanding debt before write-off is proposed: 
 

• Where the debtor is bankrupt or in liquidation the amounts for write-off are 
proposed only where there is no realistic prospect of recovery. 

17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24

£ £ £ £ £ £ £

Business 

Rates
24,366 50,398 64,988 16,870 62,841 39,545 72,166

Council 

Tax
5,838 21,579 75,565 58,361 44,815 52,901 50,376

Housing 

Rents
3,217 64,279 34,343 32,447 31,432 0 22,890

Overpaid 

Housing 

Benefit

25,231 23,166 47,143 43,432 40,769 34,078 12,084

Sundry 

Debtors
9,045 0 0 0 22,084 2,610 0

Total 67,698 159,423 222,040 151,110 201,942 129,133 157,515

115



 

• Where companies have ceased to trade, there is no further recovery of 
outstanding amounts possible. 

• Where the debtor is deceased, the amounts are proposed for write-off where 
there is no estate and therefore, further recovery is not possible. 

• Where debtors leave properties without a forwarding address, extensive 
efforts are made to trace them.  In addition to departmental checks, statutory 
undertakers (utilities companies) and other agencies are contacted, enquiries 
made of neighbours and family members, where known.  Where it is known 
that a person has moved to another area, contact is made with the relevant 
Local Authority to alert them and request reciprocal information. These are 
classed as no trace. 

• Where the debtor’s location is known but all efforts to recover the outstanding 
debt have been exhausted and further recovery is not possible, they have 
been classed as not recoverable. 

 
3. Reasons for Recommendation  
 
3.1 Given that all available options to recover this debt have been explored, it is 

important that the Council recognises the position and approves the write-off of 
the uncollectable debt. 

 
4 Alternative Options and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 These are outlined in the main body of the report. 
_________________________________________________________________  
 
RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
That Executive agrees to write-off the amounts included at 2.1 (£157,515.25) and 
individually detailed in Appendix 1.  
 

Approved by Councillor Clive Moesby, Portfolio Holder for Resources 
 

IMPLICATIONS. 
 

Finance and Risk:   Yes☒          No ☐  

Details: 
The financial issues are covered throughout the report. 
International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 9 – Financial Instruments, 
requires the Council to write-off debt as soon as it is deemed uncollectable.  This is 
to ensure the correct value of arrears is included on the Council’s balance sheet at 
31st March each year. 

On behalf of the Section 151 Officer 
 

Legal (including Data Protection):          Yes☐   No ☒  

Details: 
There are no legal or data protection issues arising directly from this report. 
 

On behalf of the Solicitor to the Council 

 

 

116



 

Environment: 

Please identify (if applicable) how this proposal/report will help the Authority meet its 
carbon neutral target or enhance the environment. 
Details: 
Not applicable for this report. 

 

Staffing:  Yes☐  No ☒   

Details: 
There are no human resource issues arising directly out of this report. 

On behalf of the Head of Paid Service 

 
DECISION INFORMATION 
 

Is the decision a Key Decision? 
A Key Decision is an executive decision which has a significant impact 
on two or more District wards or which results in income or expenditure 
to the Council above the following thresholds:  
 

Revenue - £75,000   ☐  Capital - £150,000  ☐ 

☒ Please indicate which threshold applies 

 

Yes 

Is the decision subject to Call-In? 
(Only Key Decisions are subject to Call-In)  

Yes 
 

 

District Wards Significantly Affected 
 

None 
 

Consultation: 

Leader / Deputy Leader ☐   Executive ☐ 

SLT ☐ Relevant Service Manager ☐ 

Members ☐   Public ☐ Other ☐ 

 

Details: 
 
Portfolio Holder for Finance 

 

Links to Council Ambition: Customers, Economy and Environment. 
 

  

 

DOCUMENT INFORMATION 
 

Appendix 
No 
 

Title 

1 Detail of recommended write-offs over £2,500. 

 

Background Papers 

(These are unpublished works which have been relied on to a material extent when 
preparing the report.  They must be listed in the section below.  If the report is going 
to Executive you must provide copies of the background papers). 

None 

 

117



Appendix 1

Detail of recommended write-offs over £2,500

Business Rates £

Langwith No Trace 9,006.94

South Normanton Bankrupt 14,139.62

Barlborough Bankrupt 13,363.13

Barlborough Bankrupt 5,370.25

Pinxton Bankrupt 9,970.51

Barlborough Ceased to Trade 8,377.40

Barlborough Ceased to Trade 4,191.60

Barlborough Ceased to Trade 1,743.09

Tibshelf Ceased to Trade 3,084.07

Shirebrook Not recoverable 2,919.09

Business Rates Total 72,165.70

Council Tax £

Creswell Deceased 2,750.97

Clowne Not recoverable 10,150.31

Carr Vale Not recoverable 4,485.13

Shirebrook Not recoverable 2,762.91

Bramley Vale Bankrupt 2,521.26

Pinxton Bankrupt 2,982.10

Langwith Bankrupt 4,250.49

Bolsover No Trace 3,469.51

Creswell No Trace 7,003.93

Creswell No Trace 4,066.10

Pinxton No Trace 3,009.39

Langwith Junction No Trace 2,924.01

Council Tax Total 50,376.11

Housing Rents £

Creswell Not recoverable 2,976.19

Whitwell Not recoverable 3,000.56

Tibshelf Not recoverable 3,046.46

Pinxton Not recoverable 3,145.03

Shirebrook Not recoverable 3,181.58

Pinxton Not recoverable 3,357.22

Shirebrook Not recoverable 4,182.89

Housing Rents Total 22,889.93

Overpaid Housing Benefits £

Shirebrook Deceased 5,148.65

Pinxton Deceased 6,934.86

Overpaid Housing Benefits Total 12,083.51

Total write-offs across all classes of debt 157,515.25

Copy of Appendix1 13/10/23

118

Appendix 1


	Agenda
	2a Appointment of Contractor to Deliver Hyper-Local Net Zero Innovation Programme
	4 Minutes
	5 Budget Monitoring
	Appendix 1 GF Summary Q2
	Appendix 2 GF detail Q2
	Appendix 3 HRA summary Q2
	Appendix 4 HRA detail Q2
	Appendix 5 Capital Q2
	Appendix 6.1 TM 2023 Q2
	Appendix 6.2 TM 2023 Q2

	6 Revised BDC Housing Allocations Policy
	Bolsover AG Allocation Policy Draft V4 - post exec meeting
	summary of main summary Oct 2023

	7 Award three-year mobile phone and data contract, procured via NHS London Procurement Partnership framework agreement
	8 Management of Corporate Debt - Write Off of Outstanding Amounts
	Copy of Appendix1


